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Foreword
This last year has been a rather

to form a single, strategic

momentous year for our clinical

CCG. We felt that we had a

commissioning group (CCG). A

duty to set the right conditions

year of firsts and lasts. A year

to develop integrated care

of change. A year of challenge.

partnerships (ICPs) across

The NHS never stands still, but

Cheshire. We feel this can only

this last year has proved this
again and again.

Health and Local Authority)

The CCG has, on your behalf,

delegate more control and

used the tax payer money it is

accountability to groups of

entrusted with to transform and

providers willing to work

secure new services and has

together to meet the needs

made investments that will pave

of the population they serve.

the way for more joined up,

Taking a more strategic view will

locally accessible care. Above

allow us as Commissioners to

all, everything we have bought,

set the outcomes and budgets,

planned, reviewed or prioritised
has been with your health, your
safety and your outcomes in

but give the local providers of

Dr Paul Bowen
CCG Retiring Clinical Chair

care (GPs, Hospitals, community
and mental health services

The year was dominated by our

and public health/social care)

consultation on Adults’ and

the freedom to design and

Older People’s Specialist Mental

implement services that best

Health services. This was a true

suit your needs. The first step in

conversation with the public.

our approach to redesigning

this momentous decision was

The CCG had to weigh up

and reviewing the services

to appoint a single accountable

the stories we heard through

we purchase through the lens

officer across all four CCGs,

numerous engagement events

that you provide us through

and to merge our leadership

and messages from the public,

your engagement and your

team. Clare Watson therefore

with analysis of outcomes and

voice. The benefits of clinical

took over the leadership of all

activity, with national strategy

commissioning is that the stories

four Cheshire CCGs on the 1st

and policy, and a need to use

we hear, day in , day out, as

January 2019, and I wish her

the money available to try to

your GPs, shapes the services

all the best in this role. I’d also

achieve the best outcomes

we have the opportunity to

like to thank Jerry Hawker, who

possible. We had to take

change.

has led the CCG as accountable

account of people’s views on

In April 2018, the membership

officer from its birth until

safety, experience, accessibility,

and the Governing Body of

September last year, for his

crisis care, travel and their

the CCG agreed that the CCG

legacy and leadership, and wish

outcomes. I am really proud of

should seek to merge with the

him all the best in his new role

the way we had this honest,

other three CCGs in Cheshire

at NHS Morecambe Bay CCG.

and at times, challenging

mind. Our focus on the best
evidence available has shaped
our approach, and whilst we
have been steered by national
strategy, we have maintained
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happen if Commissioners (both

debate with the public,

rehabilitation service to allow

my intention to step down as

our professionals and local

people to get home earlier after

CCG Chair this year. I have

politicians, and how the CCG

a stroke with increased support

led the CCG as Chair since

maintained its focus throughout

and home based therapies. We

its announcement to form in

on outcomes, safety, and

have also seen each area within

2011, and am very proud of our

transparency.

our CCG successfully pilot an

achievements and of the team

initiative where local GPs take

and patients I have worked

over the care from hospital

with. Leading an NHS body can

doctors by placing people not

be challenging, frustrating, and

yet ready for home in local care

at times, painstakingly difficult,

homes with intermediate care

but despite this, it has been

nurses and therapists.

incredibly rewarding and I know

In July 2018 I was honoured
to join the NHS 70th Birthday
celebrations at Westminster
Abbey, a truly inspirational
event. I have immense pride in
the commitment and passion of
the front line professionals that

The CCG continues to punch

make our NHS the international

above its weight in terms of

success story it is, and this

outcomes and experience,

birthday was a reminder of what

with outstanding ratings in

a national institution the NHS

Dementia care, maternity and

not just is, but what it means to

cancer services and some of the

people both giving and receiving

best results for General Practice

care.

satisfaction in the country. Also,

The CCG has struggled to
spend within its limits, but has
demonstrated that we get as
much value as possible from all
its contracts and it continues
to work with NHS England
and its local health and care
partners to try to re-balance the
books. We have continued to
reduce duplication, increased
collaboration with a multitude
of partners and continued
to invest in the health of our

our main provider of hospital
based care - East Cheshire
NHS Trust - received a `Good’
rating from the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) for its
services in the community and
at Macclesfield Hospital, and our
main provider of mental health
services - Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust – also received an overall
‘Good’ rating from the CQC as
well as ‘outstanding’ for care.

public. Despite these pressures,

As the CCG prepares to work

we have continued to invest

more closely with our GP

more into mental health and

colleagues across Cheshire,

primary care services. We have

and we look to the ICPs to

also successfully completed

take significant leadership

a process of appointing a

roles locally, it is with a degree

community based stroke

of sadness that I announced

that we have made a difference.
As a working GP, and a partner,
I feel now is the time to commit
more of my energies to my own
practice and patients, and let
others pave the way to a new
commissioning arrangement
across Cheshire. I’d therefore
like to take this opportunity
to thank the numerous
professionals, staff, patients
and carers who have made
my experience as Chair of this
wonderful NHS organisation
so much easier and more
rewarding than it could have
been. I remain proud of, and
committed to, the NHS, and
all it stands for, and leave an
organisation in a ready and
fit state to face the continued
challenges and opportunities of
the day.
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Member Practices’ Introduction
In the Year of NHS 70 we

will continue to improve with

improved access during the

continue to see constant

the establishment of Care

weekends. This work is being

innovation and change in NHS

Communities.

led by Vernova Community

services. The member practices
of the CCG remain a strong
and resilient stakeholder in
these developments and are
also in a period of adaptation.
All of our practices are

in the wider Cheshire and
Merseyside prevention
work to try and improve
detection and treatment of

Interest Company, for the
benefit of the local people.
Vernova is owned by the
22 GP practices in the
Eastern Cheshire area.

modifiable conditions such

Looking to the future, we

as blood pressure and the

are excited by the changes

associated issues (smoking) and

proposed by the NHS England

consequences (strokes and heart

Long Term Plan. This will help to

attacks). This work also supports

stabilise, expand and diversify

Following on from the work

empowerment of patients to

the primary care workforce,

of previous years with The

‘Know Your Numbers’1 through

bringing additional skills within

National Association of Primary

local promotion of this national

our Care Community teams.

Care and ongoing support

campaign. We have also been

This will support the work to

for practice networking and

working with colleagues in

bring care closer to patients and

transformation we are now

Greater Manchester to screen

further increase the offer from

seeing practices work more

more patients for Atrial

the NHS. We continue to expect

collaboratively together and

Fibrillation (heart irregularity

further challenge but look

with other stakeholders. The

that increase the risk of a

forward embracing our ongoing

most significant change is

stroke).

commitment to working with

working collaboratively as Care
Communities and several of our
members are in the process of a
merger.

our commitment to work
with colleagues across our
communities to establish five

Last year we focused on the

our patients and public.

work undertaken to increase

GP Streaming (for emergency

General Practice
Locality Peer Group
Leads

appointments), which continues,

Dr Mike Clark, Macclesfield

but in addition we have seen

Dr Jennifer Lawn, Knutsford

Patients continue to rate

all local practices engage with

practices as significantly better

a national scheme to improve

than the average nationally with

access to GPs outside of normal

Dr Farhat Ahmed,
Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth and Wilmslow Group

88% rating their experience as

working hours. All patients

good or very good and 84%

are now able to access routine

saying they had enough support

appointments from 8am-8pm

from local services to manage

Monday to Friday and also

Care Communities with a focus
on the needs of each of the
populations within these five
communities.

their ongoing conditions, and
the expectation is that this
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Practices are also involved

the GP workforce in our local
A&E at Macclesfield through

1 http://www.bloodpressureuk.org/microsites/kyn/Home

Dr Robert Thorburn,
Congleton and Holmes Chapel
Laura Beresford, Bollington,
Disley and Poynton

Performance Report
Performance Overview
The accounts in this report have
been prepared under a direction
issued by NHS England (formerly
NHS Commissioning Board)
under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The main factors likely to
affect the future development,
performance and position of our
business are set out throughout
this report.

education programme for type 2
diabetics. Further improvements
will also be seen through
ensuring robust mechanisms
are in place within primary
care for collating and recording
outcome data on clinical records
so that the improved uptake of
structured education is reflected
in the National Diabetes Audit
data.

Performance
summary

The CCG has largely delivered
against the NHS Constitutional
targets across a number of
indicators, however there
has been some exceptions
particularly in respect of
particularly in respect of referral
to treatment targets, diagnostic
targets and four hour waits
in A&E. Further detail on our
performance against NHS
Constitution targets is provided
within the Performance Analysis
section of this report.

Together with the NHS
Constitution, for CCGs the
Improvement & Assessment
Framework (IAF) is the clearest
publicly available reference of
how well CCGs are performing
and considers performance
through four domains.
• Better Health
• Better Care
• Leadership
• Sustainability.
Focusing on high quality, safe
and effective care remains
central to everything we do.
The CCG can be rightly proud
of its ratings against the six
clinical priority areas and the
Improvement and Assessment
Framework (IAF) where our
performance is consistently
amongst the best in Cheshire
& Merseyside across many
indicators. Our most up to date
ratings identify that we have
been rated as Outstanding
for Dementia, Maternity and
Cancer, Good for Mental Health
and Learning Disabilities and
Requires Improvement for
Diabetes. Work is underway
across the CCG which will
help to improve the CCGs
diabetes rating, including the
introduction within our General
Practices of ‘DESMOND’, a
nationally accredited structured

From a leadership perspective
we continue to invest in our
clinical and management time in
supporting our ambitions for a
new approach to integrated care
in Eastern Cheshire and across
Cheshire. Throughout 20182019 we have been working on
a whole county transformation
programme – Working Together
across Cheshire – bringing
together the work of NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG with
our neighbouring CCGs in
South Cheshire, Vale Royal, and
West Cheshire and supporting
the development of two
‘Place’ (Local Authority) based
Integrated Care Organisations
in Cheshire East and Cheshire
West & Chester. We are looking
to drive out inefficiencies and
duplication, and move resources
into our local Care Communities
to support a more integrated
way of working.
In October 2018 I was
appointed as the single

Clare Watson
Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
Accountable Officer across
all four CCGs in Cheshire,
formally taking up the post
on 1st January 2018. This has
meant a new way of working
for me, travelling between
the four CCGs, meeting new
stakeholders and working
with new Memberships
and Governing Bodies. My
appointment is part of the four
CCGs’ plans to work more
closely, and has been an exciting
and rewarding time for me,
and an opportunity to share
good practice and take the
‘best of the best’ from the four
organisations.
We celebrated the 70th Birthday
of the NHS’s on 5th July with
great pride, remembering that
working for the NHS is an
enormous privilege and the best
job in the world. A number of
staff from the CCG and from
our General Practices were
lucky enough to represent us at
nationally organised celebration
services in Leeds and London.
Overall we have continued to
deliver improved outcomes
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for our population and meet
our statutory financial targets
and we recognise that more
needs to be done and these will
become the areas of renewed
focus during the period 20192020.
All of our hard work in 2018
- 2019 mean that we are
achieving improved care for
Eastern Cheshire residents.

The NHS doesn’t deliver on its
own, so many thanks to all our
partners and stakeholders who
have worked with us over the
past 12 months. It has been a
successful year overall, with the
foundations having been laid
for ever more joined up and
integrated commissioning and
delivery in 2019 -2020. I am
extremely proud of what we
have achieved.

Who we are
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is a
membership organisation made
up of 23 Eastern Cheshirebased GP practices, working
within five localities, as shown
in Figure One and managerial
and clinical staff based at New
Alderley House in Macclesfield.

Figure One: NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG geography and member practices

Our five localities, known as General Practice Locality Peer Groups, are:
• Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth and Wilmslow

• Bollington, Disley
and Poynton
• Congleton and
Holmes Chapel
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• Knutsford
• Macclesfield.

Our purpose
The main purpose of the CCG
is to commission (buy) the
highest quality of health care
services within available funds,
and monitor the quality of these
services. We are responsible for
commissioning health services
to meet all the reasonable
requirements of our local
population, with the exception
of certain services commissioned
directly by NHS England,
health improvement services
commissioned by Cheshire East
Council, and health protection
and promotion services provided
by Public Health England.
Our main commissioning
responsibilities include:
• planned hospital care
• rehabilitation care
• urgent and emergency
care, including GP Out of
Hours and NHS 111
• most community
health services
• mental health and learning
disability services
• prescribing and medicines
optimisation
• emergency and patient
transport ambulance
services
• NHS continuing healthcare
and NHS funded
nursing care.

The main responsibilities
include:

• achieving financial
balance.

• upholding the NHS
Constitution, CCG
Constitution and
governance standards

Vision, values
and ambitions

• safeguarding children and
vulnerable adults

During 2018 we revisited
our stated vision, values and
ambitions to see if they were
still relevant for future years as
they were at our inception in
2013. Going forward we have
adopted the following vision for
the CCG, leading improvement
in health and wellbeing.

• reducing health
inequalities

The CCG has also adopted the
following value statements:

• Public Sector Equality Duty

As a CCG, we strive:

• public involvement in CCG
and promotion of choice

• to continually seek to
improve the quality and
safety of, and outcomes
delivered by, the services
we commission.

• quality assurance and
quality improvement of
commissioned services
• quality improvement of
GP services in partnership
with NHS England

• training, innovation and
research
• environmental
sustainability
• delivering on relevant
areas of the Governments
mandate to NHS England3
and the NHS England
planning guidance
‘Everyone Counts’4
3 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/council-and-democracy/health-and-wellbeingboard/health-wellbeing-strategy-2018-published-summer- 2018.pdf
4 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid.pdf

• to create the conditions
to effectively innovate,
collaborate and integrate.
• to demonstrate integrity,
fairness, equality and
robust governance through
openness, honesty, bravery
and transparency
• to invest responsibly
in services and achieve
the best value for our
population

We also have the responsibility
for commissioning emergency
and urgent care services for
the population within our
boundaries as well as for
commissioning services for
any unregistered patients who
live in our area. On the 1 April
2016 the CCG also undertook
delegated arrangements
from NHS England for the
commissioning of Primary (GP)
care medical services.
The CCGs full statutory
responsibilities are detailed
within its NHS Constitution2.
2 http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/
Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Pages/
Overview.aspx
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• to respect and engage
with patients, staff
and carers to create an
empowering, listening
culture.

• Increase the proportion
of older people living
independently at home
who feel supported to
manage their condition

We believe that the ambitions
that we set out in 2013
remain relevant for the CCG
today and the future, and are
complementary to the ambitions
of the Cheshire East Partnership
and Cheshire East Joint
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2018-21.3

• Improve the health-related
quality of life of people
with one or more long
term conditions, including
mental health conditions

Our ambitions are to:

• Enable the people of
Eastern Cheshire to
live well for longer,
independently, and enjoy
the place where they live.

• Increase the number of
people having a positive
experience of care

Our Priorities
2018-2020

• Reduce the inequalities
in health and social care
across Eastern Cheshire

Our priorities form the basis for
engagement with the public and
the framework for Governing
Body assurance. The priorities
have been developed following
the review of key documents
and the CCG’s performance
against nationally mandated,
and locally agreed, measures.
The CCG’s priorities have been
grouped into three categories as
outlined within Figure Two.

• Ensure our citizens access
care to the highest
standards within available
resources and are
protected from avoidable
harm
• Ensure all those living
in Eastern Cheshire are
supported by new, greater
integrated community
services

Our structure
The CCG currently employs
68 staff and governing body
members who work alongside
the clinicians and staff of the
23 practices to commission,
plan and monitor health
services. At the end of March
2019 NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG had 48 female employees
which equates to 70% of the
workforce. There were also 20
male employees which equates
to 30% of the workforce. The
ethnicity workforce profile was
5.35%.
To enable the CCG to undertake
its statutory responsibilities and
to ensure that it operates in
line with required governance
and reporting standards, the
CCG operates a number of key
committees and operational
groups (Figure Three). The roles
and responsibilities of the key
statutory and decision making
committees of the CCG are
outlined within its Constitution.
The CCG, and representatives
of, are also members of key
partnership Committees and/
or Boards whose remit and
responsibilities impact on
and inform key decisions and
responsibilities of the CCG.
These include such bodies as
the Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board, Cheshire East

Figure Two: NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG Priorities 2018-2020
				
Category
Priority
Description
CCG led/owned 1
			
			

To ensure the CCG commissions services, that meet the needs of our
population, within its agreed financial control total moving to a
balanced financial position by March 2022

CCG co-led		 2
			
			
		

To deliver on the ambitions of the Transforming Care (Learning
Disabilities), General Practice and Mental Health NHS Forward Views,
ensuring our population have access to the best care as close to home
as possible

		
3
Deliver the NHSE national priorities as set out in the “refresh of NHS
			
plans 2018/19” including a focus on improving local delivery of the
			
NHS Constitution standards for Cancer and Emergency Care
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“Place” based		 4
			
		

To ensure the CCG commissions services, that meet the needs of our
population, within its agreed financial control total moving to a
balanced financial position by March 2022

		 5
			
			

Work closely with our Cheshire CCG partners and the two Cheshire
local authorities to progress the establishment of a single CCG in Cheshire
together, with new integrated commissioning arrangements

Figure Three: demonstrates the operational and governance structure of the CCG

Place Board, and the Cheshire
and Merseyside Collaborative
Commissioning Forum.

Figure Four: If Eastern Cheshire was a village of 100…

Our population
Eastern Cheshire is located in
the North West of England
and includes towns such
as Macclesfield, Knutsford,
Wilmslow, Poynton and
Congleton as well as many
villages and rural areas. It has
a registered population of
209,352 and most local people
are classed as ‘white British’.
However census data indicates
that within Eastern Cheshire
there are over 110 different
black and minority ethnicities.
The CCG area has 53% of the
population of Cheshire East
Local Authority Council. With
NHS South Cheshire CCG, the
two CCGs are coterminous with
the boundaries of the Council.
A snapshot of the health our
population can be seen in
Figure Four.
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Healthcare
spending
For the 2018-19 financial year,
our recurrent allocation (income)
was circa £287.6 million and
represented 2.7% uplift on our
recurrent allocation for 201718. In addition we received non
recurrent allocations of £15.8m.
Against these allocations of
£303m, we spent circa
£303m on a wide range of
services that cover the health
needs of our population. Figure
Five summarises the healthcare
areas in which we spent this
money.

services by Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust. Children’s, families and
adult social care services and
public health services are
commissioned by Cheshire East
Council.
The proximity of Eastern
Cheshire to Greater Manchester
and Staffordshire provides the
Eastern Cheshire population
with significant access and
choice of general acute services
and access to a range of
specialist care providers. There
is already an innovative model
of providing specialist services
locally with larger, specialist
hospitals like The Christie

for both revenue and capital
individually. Additionally, the
CCG is required not to exceed
the maximum cash drawdown
agreed with NHS England,
which restricts the amount of
cash drawings that the CCG
can make in the financial year.
The CCG must also comply with
the Better Payment Practice
Code which requires all CCGs
to aim to pay all valid invoices
by the due date, or within 30
days of receipt. Figure Six
demonstrates how the CCG
has performed against these
requirements.

Figure Five: CCG healthcare spend by area and amount 2017-18
			
£000
% of Total
Hospital Service

145,398

48%

695

Prescribing

31,493

10%

151

Continuing Healthcare/Funded Nursing Care

26,162

9%

125

Primary Care (GP Practices)

35,693

12%

171

Mental Health

22,345

7%

107

Community Services

16,362

6%

79

Better Care Fund

12,469

4%

60

Other

2,392

1%

11

Ambulance

6,411

2%

31

Running Costs

4,307

1%

21

Annual Spend

303,032

100%

1,451

Access to services
In Eastern Cheshire there are
46 Pharmacies, 38 Dentists,
29 Opticians, 60 care homes
with nursing or residential
beds and over 50 voluntary
sector community groups.
There is one District General
Hospital in Macclesfield and
two community hospitals
(Congleton and Knutsford).
In the main, general acute
hospital and community health
services including some public
health improvement services
are delivered within Eastern
Cheshire by East Cheshire
NHS Trust and mental health
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Cost per Head
of Population £

Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
enabling chemotherapy to be
administered at East Cheshire
NHS Trust.

Meeting our
financial duties
As well as complying with
relevant accounting standards,
the CCG has a series of
statutory financial duties it
must meet each year. Section
223H of the Health and Social
Care Act 2012 sets out the
duty for CCGs to break even
on their commissioning budget
(programme and administrative)

The CCG delivered a surplus
of £0.1M after receipt of
Commissioner Support Funding
(CSF) of £15m its spending
allocation, an improvement
against the previous year’s
deficit of £18.5m. Our funding
was uplifted by 2.7% on a like
for like basis with the CCGs
actual allocation of £1,232 per
head of population remaining
at circa 3% below the target
allocation based on the national
funding formula. However,
the overall task of delivering
financial sustainability for
the Eastern Cheshire health
economy as a whole remains
challenging.

Figure Six:
CCG Performance against
Financial Duties 2018-19
Expenditure not to
exceed income
Delivering a balanced
financial position against
agreed revenue resource
limit (programme spend)
Revenue administration
spending not to exceed the
resources made available
Cash drawdown not to
exceed the cash resources
available
Ensure that suppliers
are paid promptly in
accordance with the better
payment code of practice

Achieved
Not achieved
The 2019/20 financial year is
set to be a challenging year
for the CCG; the Financial
Plan predicts a forecast annual
deficit of circa £10.8m which
includes the need to reduce
its forecast expenditure by a
Quality Innovation, Productivity
and Prevention (QIPP) savings
of £11.2m. Throughout the
2019/20 financial planning
submission process, NHS
England has been actively
engaged with the CCG in
setting its Plan at the current
deficit of £10.8m. Whilst
this is an indicative plan,
there are significant risks that
the in-year position could
deteriorate because of the size
of the savings that need to be
delivered.
It is a requirement for all
of the health economy to
achieve financial sustainability
and to deliver services within
the funding available. As a
result, our commissioning

intentions for 2019/20 include
the requirement for us to
reduce the overspend in a
challenging timeframe as well as
continuing with the longer term
transformation of health service,
through our local programmes
and by working collaboratively
with our partners in Cheshire.
One of the key aims of our
programmes are to ensure
that Eastern Cheshire has high
quality health and social care
services for its population which
are financially sustainable for
the future.
The CCG has strived to be open
and transparent with regards
informing members of the
public and key stakeholders of
the financial challenges faced
by the CCG and the local health
economy. Each month the CCG
publishes and presents a Finance
Performance Report at its
Governing Body meetings held
in public and which outlines the
CCGs financial position.

Going concern
basis
As set out in note 1.1 to the
financial statements the CCG
has entered into 2019/20 with
a planned overspend (deficit) of
£10.8m against its fixed income
of circa £302m. The planned
deficit is an improvement
compared to 2018-19
underlying deficit of £15m
but still exceeds the available
resources. NHS England has
created the Commissioner
Sustainability Fund (CSF) for
specific CCGs which provided
£15m in 2018-19 and allowed
the CCG to arrive at a break
even position. The CCG has
an agreed position with NHS
England with respect to the CSF
where the CCG could receive
non-recurrent funding (one
off) of £10.8m providing our
financial performance remains
within its planned deficit, and

which would enable the CCG
to return to financial balance by
end of 2019/20.

Capped
Expenditure
Programme
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
has not been placed under
formal directions as per the
NHS England guidelines for
2018-19, although given the
financial deficit, has adopted
an approach that is similar
to those CCGs under formal
directions. This has included
being an active participant with
East Cheshire NHS Trust and
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust within
the nationally directed and
supported Capped Expenditure
Programme (CEP).
The CEP overall objective was to
bring together the local health
system with the objective of
improving efficiency, identifying
system wide cost improvement
programmes with the specific
aim of improving the combined
financial deficit across the three
organisations. The outcome
of the CEP supported closer
working across the economy
combined with a detailed
understanding of the overall
financial challenge.
The CEP approach continues
with all partners into 201920 and is supporting both the
identification and delivery of
cost savings and supporting
the development of integrated
community hubs.
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Performance & Quality
Key Performance Measures
Figure Seven provides a summary of progress by the CCG in achieving its commissioning intentions for
2018/19, as outlined within its measures of success for the Operational Plan 2018/19.
Figure Seven: Operational Plan 2018/19 Progress in achieving measures of success
Measure of Success

Period of Reporting

Target

Actual

Balancing the Books (No fixed target)			
Achieved
GP Patient Survey - % of patients say they had				
a good experience of making an appointment
July 2018
80.8%
74%
at their GP surgery
Anti-Microbial resistance: appropriate
prescribing of antibiotics in primary care

Feb 2019			
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
<=0.965
0.947

Anti-microbial resistance: appropriate prescribing				
of broad spectrum antibiotics in primary care
Feb 2019
<=10.0%
7.27%
Number of Trimethoprim items prescribed to
patients aged 70 years or greater

Feb 2019			
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
=>30%
68.5%

Increasing the number of people with a learning				
disability receiving an annual health check
TBC
75%
TBC
95% of people referred with a mental illness				
are seen within 18 weeks
Mar 2019		
98.05%
(Adult Community & Older People)
Apr 18 – Mar 19		
96.48%
95% of people referred with a mental illness				
are seen within 18 weeks
Mar 2019
95%
96.26%
(CAMHS T2, T3, 16-19, LD)
Apr 18 – Mar 19		
95.00%
75% of people needing psychological services				
are seen and provided with treatment
Mar 2019
75%
94.2%
within 6 weeks
Apr 18 – Mar 19		
91.08%
95% of people needing psychological services				
are seen and provided with treatment
Mar 2019
95%
99.00%
within 18 weeks
Apr 18 – Mar 19		
97.83%
Achieving NHS Constitution Targets		

See Figure Eight		

No more than 2% of acute hospital bed stock				
is occupied by people who are ready to be
Mar 2019		
5.36%
discharged
Apr 18 – Mar 19
<=2%
5.19%
Estimated diagnosis rate for people				
with Dementia
Mar 2019
66.70%
79.20%
The % of people experiencing a first episode				
of psychosis with a NICE approved care package
Jan 2019
50%
100%
within 2 weeks of referral
				
Balancing the books: The
CCG achieved its target deficit
of £15m, and delivered against
the financial plan for the year.
The CCG has therefore secured
an additional £15m from the
Commissioner Sustainability
Fund (CSF) leading to a net
deficit of £Nil.
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Good experience in making
an appointment at a GP
surgery: Overall patient
experience of Eastern Cheshire
GP practices remains high at
88% compared to a national
average of 84%. Overall
experience of making an
appointment showed a decrease
to 74% however satisfaction

in local appointment capacity
continues to exceed the national
average of 69%. Our target
to achieve a 3% improvement
on the previous years’ patient
survey for a good experience
in making an appointment
at a GP surgery has not been
met. To help address this,
from October 2018, General

Practice appointment capacity
has increased with the
commissioning of additional
appointments across Eastern
Cheshire on weekday evening
and at weekends.
Reducing the number of
antibiotics prescribed in
primary care: The CCG have
achieved both the prescribing
targets in the last month of
the 2018/19 year, although
the ‘appropriate prescribing of
antibiotics in primary care’ was
not achieved for the whole year.
The CCG continues to make
ongoing improvements through
development of local policies
and training for our local clinical
community.
Increasing the number of
people with a learning
disability receiving an annual
health check: NHS England
has set a target of 75%. The
CCG has been working closely
with GPs to strive towards all
practices achieving this target
in order to reduce practice
level variation. We have
received positive engagement
from primary care and seen
an increase in the number of
checks and benchmarking
shows the CCG as having one
of the highest rates nationally.
95% of people referred with
a mental illness are seen
within 18 weeks: the CCG
has achieved this target during
the year to date, for both
Adults & Older people, and
CAMHS. The CCG maintains
collaboration with our Mental
Health Providers to continually
make improvements to access
to services.
75% of people needing
psychological services are
seen and complete treatment
within 6 weeks and 95% are
seen and complete treatment
within 18 weeks: the CCG has
continued to meet both of these
targets and continue to work
with providers to continually
improve.

Achieving NHS Constitution
targets: the CCG have met
some of the targets set out
in the NHS Constitution;
however there have been
some exceptions, particularly in
respect of referral to treatment
targets, diagnostic targets and
four hour waits in A&E.
No more than 2% of hospital
bed stock is occupied by
people who are ready to
be discharged: this target
continues to prove challenging.
Formal procedures for assessing
the flow of patients and
escalating these with partners
have been put in place and a
number of specific challenges
contribute to this position,
including delays in people,
and their family, finding /
accessing suitable home based
or care, home packages and
the increasing levels of delays
from people living outside of
Eastern Cheshire. The Eastern
Cheshire A&E Delivery Board
is supporting an improvement
programme to address these
challenges.
Estimated diagnosis rate for
people with Dementia: As
a result of a highly engaged
primary care team, the CCG
have consistently performed
well against this measure.
The % of people
experiencing a first episode
of psychosis with a NICE
approved care package
within 2 weeks of referral:
The CCG have achieved this
measure for each month of the
year to date.

Delivery against
the NHS
Constitution
targets
The CCG remains focused on
the need for both short term
continuous improvement in the
quality and access to care whilst
leading substantial long term
transformation programmes.

The CCG recognises that more
needs to be done to address
those areas where it has yet
to achieve the improvement
it has set itself or where there
has been deterioration in
performance.
These will become the areas
of additional focus during the
period 2019-20.
The CCG has delivered the
NHS Constitutional targets
across a number of indicators
(Figure Eight). However, there
are areas of non-achievement
which include:
• Referral to Treatment (RTT)
Waiting Times - patients on
incomplete non-emergency
pathways (yet to start
treatment) should have been
waiting no more than 18
weeks from referral. During
2018/19, the CCG has fallen
below the required 92%
standard, achieving 87.01%.
This is a reduction from the
2017/18 position (91.2%).
There are a number of local
providers that contribute to
the failure of the standard
for the CCG, and these are
East Cheshire NHS Trust,
Manchester University NHS
Foundation Trust, Stockport
NHS Foundation Trust and
University Hospitals of North
Midlands NHS Trust. The CCG
closely monitors performance
with all providers, through
attendance at contract &
performance meetings and
consistently challenges failing
performance. East Cheshire
NHS Trust provide the CCG
with weekly progress reports
at specialty level which
highlight actions taken, risks
& issues, and also provide a
forecast on recovery. Other
local providers continue to
update the CCG on progress
in achieving the RTT standard
and have provided deep
dive reports and recovery
trajectories.
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• Diagnostic Waiting times
– patients waiting for a
diagnostic test should have
been waiting less than 6
weeks from referral. The CCG
have been unable to achieve
this standard, achieving
an average of 90.20% in
2018/19. Underperformance
at East Cheshire NHS Trust
is the main reason for CCG
failure against the standard.
The Trust have provided the
CCG with a recovery plan
and trajectory, and forecast
to achieve this standard in
June 2019. The issues have
predominately been due to
demand outstripping capacity,
with specific increased
demand for urgent and 2
week wait patients, which
in turn take precedence
over backlog reduction.
There was a significant
improvement in performance
between December 2018
and March 2019 following
a number of actions put in
place by the Trust. Additional
Waiting List initiatives have
been agreed to improve the
situation further and the
trust continue to work with
NHS Improvement to gain
additional support.
• A&E Waits – patients should
be admitted, transferred or
discharged within 4 hours
of their arrival at an A&E
department. During the year
the CCG has worked closely
with our main provider
of services, East Cheshire
NHS Trust, to ensure that
improved performance was
achieved in this standard.
In common with nearly all
areas of England, there
has been unprecedented
levels of winter demand
across all parts of the care
economy, but most visibly in
hospitals resulting in the A&E
performance failing to meet
the 95%, with a 2018/19
average of 82.26% (a slight
increase on the 2017/18
year end figure of 81.8%).
Achieving A&E performance
has been affected by high
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levels of reported Delayed
Transfer of Care (DTOC).
The CCG together with
East Cheshire NHS Trust
has invested significant
resources in identifying ways
to improve DTOC whilst still
maintaining patient’s dignity
and good experience of
care. Hospital staffing levels
remain a challenge because
of vacancies and sickness.
• Cancer 2 Week Waits
– maximum two-week
wait for first outpatient
appointment for patients
referred urgently with breast
symptoms (where cancer
was not initially suspected).
There have been a number
of pressures during the year,
particularly capacity issues
and the closure of the service
at neighbouring providers,
resulting in an increase in
out of area referrals. As a
result, performance against
this standard has been
disappointing. Some months
have been excellent with the
standard being achieved,
but performance has not
consistently been good. For
the 2018/19 year to date, the
CCG has achieved 77.52%
against the 93% standard.
East Cheshire NHS Trust
have put in place a number
of actions to review the
position, and is making steady
progress in improving the
performance.
• Cancer 62 day Waits
– maximum two month
(62-day) wait from urgent
GP referral to first definitive
treatment for cancer. For the
2018/19 year to date, the
CCG has achieved 80.99%
against the 85% standard.
As with the 2 week waits,
performance during most
months of the year to date
has been achieved. In the
months where performance
has declined, there have
only been a small number
of patients across numerous
providers and tumour groups.

• Mixed Sex Accommodation
breaches – across the year
to date, there have been 314
Mixed Sex Accommodation
(MSA) breaches, the majority
of which have been at East
Cheshire NHS Trust. MSA
breaches at East Cheshire
NHS Trust have occurred as a
result of winter pressures and/
or bed capacity issues.
• Mental Health - care
Programme Approach (CPA):
The proportion of people
under adult mental illness
specialties on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of
discharge from psychiatric
in-patient care during the
period. During the 2018/19
year, the CCG has achieved
the required target, reaching
95.41%.
• Number of all Incomplete
RTT Pathways within 18
weeks – during 2018/19,
guidance indicated that
commissioners should not
plan for the waiting lists to
be any higher in March 2019
than in March 2018. The
CCG developed a month by
month plan to achieve this,
and have been successful
in each month of the year,
therefore meeting this target.
• Referral to Treatment
– number of incomplete
pathways waiting >52 weeks
– 2018/19 guidance indicated
that the number of patients
waiting more than 52 weeks
for treatment should be
halved from the figure in the
previous year. The CCG have
had a number of 52 week
waiters during the course
of the year, the majority
of which have occurred at
Manchester University NHS
Foundation Trust (MUFT).
MUFT have experienced issues
with Plastic Surgery waits
throughout the year – they
are one of only four providers
in the country to offer a
specific surgery, and as such
there have been patients
waiting from a number of
CCGs.

Figure Eight: 2018/19 CCG Performance against NHS Constitutional targets
Measure of Success

Period of Reporting

Target

Actual

Referral to Treatment Waiting Times				
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways
Mar 2019		
85.03%
(yet to start treatment) should have been
Apr 18 – Mar 19
92%
87.01%
waiting no more than 18 weeks from referral
Diagnostic Waiting Times				
Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should
Mar 2019		
96.62%
have been waiting less than 6 weeks from referral
Apr 18 – Mar 19
99%
90.20%
A & E Waits				
Patients should be admitted, transferred or
Mar 2019		
79.57%
discharged within 4 hours of their arrival at
Apr 18 – Mar 19
95%
82.26%
an A&E department
Cancer Waits – 2 Week Wait				
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient
Feb 2019		
91.40%
appointment for patients referred urgently
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
93%
93.75%
with suspected cancer by a GP
Cancer Waits – 2 Week Wait (Breast Symptomatic)				
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient
appointment for patients referred urgently
Feb 2019		
87.67%
with breast symptoms
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
93%
77.52%
(where cancer was not initially suspected)
Cancer Waiting – 31 days				
Maximum one month (31-day) wait from
Feb 2019		
98.89%
diagnosis to first definitive treatment
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
96%
98.50%
for all cancers
Cancer Waiting – 31 days (Surgery)				
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent
Feb 2019		
100%
treatment where that treatment is surgery
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
94%
100%
Cancer Waiting – 31 days (Drug regimen)				
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent
Feb 2019		
100%
treatment where that treatment is an
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
98%
100%
anti-cancer drug regimen
Cancer Waiting – 31 days (Radiotherapy)				
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment
Feb 2019		
100%
where the treatment is a course of radiotherapy
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
94%
99.7%
Cancer Waiting – 62 days				
Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent
Feb 2019		
76.19%
GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
85%
80.99%
Cancer Waiting – 62 days (screening)				
Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an
Feb 2019		
100%
NHS screening service to first definitive
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
90%
91.23%
treatment for all cancers
Cancer Waiting – 62 days (priority upgrade)				
Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive
Feb 2019
No set
43.8%
treatment following a consultant’s decision to
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19 standard 84.46%
upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers)
Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches				
Minimise Breaches
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
0
314
				

17

Figure Eight: 2018/19 CCG Performance against NHS Constitutional targets (continued)
Measure of Success

Period of Reporting

Target

Actual

Cancelled Operations				
All patients who have operations cancelled, on or
after the day of admission (including the day of
surgery), for non-clinical reasons to be offered
YTD Apr 18 - Feb 19
0
0
another binding date within 28 days, or the
patient’s treatment to be funded at the time
and hospital of the patient’s choice.				
Mental Health				
Care Programme Approach (CPA): The proportion
of people under adult mental illness specialties on
Mar 2019		
92.38%
CPA who were followed up within 7 days of
Apr 18 – Mar 19
95%
95.41%
discharge from psychiatric in-patient care during
the period
Number of all Incomplete RTT Pathways				
Waiting lists should not be any higher in
Mar 2019
11,521
10,174
March 2019 than in March 2018
NHS e-Referral Service Utilisation Coverage				
Utilisation of the NHS e-referral service to enable
choice at first routine elective referral. Highlights
YTD Apr 18 – Jan 19
80%
94.67%
the percentage via the e-Referral service
Referral to Treatment RTT – No of Incomplete pathways				
waiting >52 weeks
Mar 2019 		
3
The number of patients waiting at period end for		
0
incomplete pathways in excess of 52 weeks
Apr 18 – Mar 19 		 35
				

Urgent and
Emergency Care
System Resilience
Waiting times in an A&E
Department are a key measure
of how the NHS is performing.
A&E waiting times are often
used as a barometer for overall
performance of the NHS and
social care system. This is
because A&E waiting times can
be affected by changing activity
and pressures in other services
such as the ambulance service,
primary care, community-based
care and social services. For
example, patients cannot be
admitted quickly from A&E to
a hospital ward if hospitals are
full due to delays in transferring
patients to other NHS services or
in arranging social care.
The most high-profile measure
of A&E performance in England
is the four-hour standard. This
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refers to the pledge set out
in the NHS Mandate that at
least 95 per cent of patients
attending A&E should be
admitted to hospital, transferred
to another provider or
discharged within four hours.
The four-hour standard
measures the total time patients
spend in A&E rather than the
time patients spend ‘waiting’
for treatment to begin. The
waiting time clock ‘starts’ from
the time that the patient arrives
in A&E and stops when they
leave the department to be
admitted, transferred to another
provider (for example, where
more specialist clinical care
is needed) or discharged. For
patients arriving by ambulance,
the clock starts when the
patient is handed over from
the ambulance staff to hospital
staff or 15 minutes after the
ambulance arrives at A&E
(whichever is earlier).

The safety and quality of care,
as well as patient experience,
are as important as how rapidly
care is provided.
Macclesfield District General
A&E Department is classed
as Type 1 major emergency
department. The definition for
Type 1 is a consultant-led 24hour service with full facilities
for resuscitating patients, for
example patients in cardiac
arrest. Congleton War Memorial
Hospital has a Type 3 minor
injury department, treatment
for minor injuries and illnesses,
such as stomach aches, cuts
and bruises, some fractures and
lacerations, and infections or
rashes. Urgent Care requirement
is to deliver the four hour A&E
standard with the expectation
of achieving 90% by September
2018 and 95% by March
2019. East Cheshire NHS Trust
is consistently not meeting
the A&E four hour standard
demonstrated in Figure Nine.

Figure Nine: Average A&E 4HR Performance
ECT- Average A&E 4HR Performance 2018/19
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Macclesfield District General A&E Department is a small unit (6th smallest in England) and as
such, is vulnerable to unpredicted surges in demand.

Patient Experience

• Develop and adopt a
‘home first’ approach

It should be noted that contrary
to the ‘poor’ picture presented
by the performance metrics,
patients’ experience of care
when receiving treatment in
A&E at Macclesfield District
General,) has not been a
common theme amongst the
complaints received.

• Model for Frailty.

Eastern Cheshire A&E Delivery
Board and the Operational
Resilience Group continue to
focus on the following areas of
improvement.
Partners across the health and
social care system are working
together on the following
initiatives to improve the
national 4-hour A&E Standard
and reduce the time that people
are delayed in hospital.
• Assessment prior to
admission
• Embed the SAFER
patient flow bundle and
Red2Green - Implementing
the Improving Patient Flow
guidance. (Doing todays
work today)

The A&E Delivery Board is
chaired by the Chief Executive
Officer of East Cheshire NHS
Trust, along with executive level
managers from organisations
within the local health and
social care system. This includes
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group, East
Cheshire NHS Trust (Macclesfield
District General Hospital),
Cheshire East Council (Social
Care), Cheshire & Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust (Mental Health) and
North West Ambulance
Service (Emergency Paramedic
Transport & NHS 111). Primary
Care (GPs), NHS England and
NHS Improvement are also
represented.

patient flow bundle is being
developed at East Cheshire NHS
Trust along with a focus on the
Red2Green days approach.
A project team from Eastern
Cheshire took part in the Action
on A&E Programme for the
North Region to promote system
working. The focus for Eastern
Cheshire this year was “In
Hospital Flow Processes”. The
programme ran from May to
November 2018 and as a result
Eastern Cheshire produced
two videos one for the general
public and one for staff which
included the key message “help
us keep hospital beds free for
those who really need them”,
#helpingflo.
#HelpingFlo

Sometimes patients spend
days in hospital that do not
directly contribute towards their
discharge. These are referred to
as ‘Red Days’. Working better
together can reduce the number
of red days in favour of valueadding ‘green days’. The SAFER
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North West
Ambulance
Performance
Although North West NHS111
and 999 performance was
challenged during 2017- 2018 it
has improved through to March
2019, as detailed in Figure Ten.
This is a really great achievement

and the North West Ambulance
Service (NWAS) are to be
congratulated for the scale of
the improvement.
Although further improvements
in performance are required to
achieve all national standards,
NWAS management and
staff have worked hard to
deliver significantly improved
performance during the

year. This demonstrates
improvements from the actions
taken within the NHS 111 and
999 performance improvement
plans by NWAS and the wider
urgent and emergency care
system to reduce ambulance
conveyances and improve
hospital handover
and turnaround
(See Figure Eleven).

Figure Ten: NHS 111 Performance
Measure

Mar 2018

Mar 2019

Comment

Answered in 60 seconds (target 95%)

67.03%

86.45%

19.43% improvement in performance

% Abandoned calls (target 5%)

11.77%

2.61%

9.16% improvement in performance

Total calls offered

198,354

163,536

34,818 fewer calls offered

Total calls answered

144,328

142,861

1,467 fewer calls answered

				
Figure Eleven: 999 Performance
Measure

Mar 2018

Mar 2019

Comment

C1 best response average (hh:mm:ss)
Target 7 mins

00:09.17

00:09.32

0 mins 15 seconds slower response

C1 90th centile (hh:mm:ss)
Target 15 mins

00:16.56

00:16.27

0 mins 29 seconds quicker response

C2 best response average (hh:mm:ss)
Target 18 mins

00:30.09

00:21.50

8 mins 19 seconds quicker response

C2 90th centile (hh:mm:ss)
Target 40 mins

01:05:00

00:44:27

20 mins 23 seconds quicker response

C3 90th centile (hh:mm:ss)
Target 120 mins

02:23.10

02:08:38

14 mins 22 seconds quicker response

C4 90th centile (hh:mm:ss)
Target 180 mins

02:26:50

02:36:18

9 min 28 seconds slower response

A&E total ambulance hospital arrivals

20,710

20,505

205 fewer ambulance A&E arrivals

Average hospital handover and				
turnaround – overall arrival to clear –
00:40:21
00:33.16
7 mins 5 seconds quicker turnaround
Target average 30 mins
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Notification to handover >30 mins –
number of patients

3,372 of
all patients

1,605 of		
all patients 1,767 fewer patients

Notification of handover >60 mins –
number of patients

1,182 of
all patients

379 of		
all patients 803 fewer patients

Handover to clear >30 mins –
number of patients

213 of
all patients

289 of		
all patients 76 more patients

Handover to clear >60 mins –
number of patients

30 of
all patients

19 of all		
all patients 11 fewer patients

				

Quality Premium
The Quality Premium (QP)
scheme is about rewarding
CCG’s for improvements in
the quality of the services
they commission. The scheme
includes five national measures
(early cancer diagnosis, GP
access/experience, Continuing
Healthcare, Mental Health and
bloodstream infections) and
a local measure that focuses
on atrial fibrillation reporting.
The scheme incentivises CCG’s
to improve patient health
outcomes, reduce inequalities in
health outcomes and improve
access to services. Figure
Twelve on page 22 illustrates
the CCG’s progress through
the year to date in achieving
the measures that make up the
CCG’s Quality Premium position.
Locally we are making good
progress against the national
indicators this particularly
includes Continuing Healthcare,
reducing gram negative
bloodstream infections and the
mental health indicator. We are
also continuing to work closely
with our providers to address
challenges within the following
areas:
• emergency demand
management indicators
• NHS constitutional
indicators.

Improving quality
The CCG delivers its
responsibility for Quality
Assurance by holding providers
to account in order to assure the
Governing Body that the care
we provide in Eastern Cheshire
is safe, effective and good
quality. We have continued to
take a comprehensive approach
to quality improvement in
2018/19, working in partnership
with our commissioned provider
services and other stakeholders.
Locally the quality requirements
are systematically monitored as

laid out in the Quality Schedule
and assurance is provided
and challenged by the Clinical
Quality and Performance
committee (CQ&P). The CCG
continues to work in partnership
to support and to achieve the
development of a culture of
quality improvement across the
whole healthcare economy e.g.
E.coli sepsis reduction.
The CCG’s ability to gain
feedback from patients and
clinicians is captured through
the CCG’s Complaints,
Concerns and Compliments
team. The Clinical Quality
Performance Committee, and
Governing Body, oversees
the quality assurance and
improvement programmes
ensuring that this feedback is
utilised to continuously improve
services and to ensure that any
risks are escalated appropriately.
However, responsibility for
quality lies in all parts of the
Health and Social care system
and we collectively work to
prevent systemic failure and
maximise the quality services
and experience of patients and
their families.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
is fully active within the
Cheshire and Merseyside
Quality Surveillance Group
(QSG) and Manchester Quality
Board. NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG values the importance
of quality surveillance
groups as an effective way
of assuring that sharing of
soft intelligence between
local clinical commissioning
groups and regulators (Care
Quality Commission and NHS
Improvement) is reviewed on
a regular basis on a consistent
platform.

CCG Quality
Improvement
highlight examples
for 2018/19
• IAF - Robust quality
improvement plan
developed for diabetes

• IAF - Maintained current
position and continue
to reduce variation
across practices Learning
Disability Health Checks
• Quality assured a number
of providers including an
independent provider, two
units within the Hospital
trust and working with the
local authority supported
the quality assurance of
65% of Nursing Homes
based within the CCG
boundaries
• Working with Stockport FT
we have seen a consistent
decrease in the length of
stay for patients admitted
following a stroke
• Achieved a 10% reduction
in gram negative
bloodstream infections
• Seen a positive reduction
in the SEND waiting lists
• Revamped the care home
newsletter
• Held an Eastern Cheshire
Care Home Carer of the
Year (2018)
• Continued to support the
implementation of the care
home bed portal
• Supported local Blood
pressure campaign ‘Know
your numbers’
• Captured patients stories.
They include the following:
		 		
		
		

Joined up working case
study (Oct 18)
Joined up Care –
A Patient’s Story5

		 		
		
		
		
		

Cardiac Rehabilitation
Programme case study
(Mar 19) Eastern
Cheshire Cardiac Rehab
Programme: At the
heart of your recovery.6

5 https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=vDf3BrrwDCE
6 https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=sShgnGXXs_c
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DOMAIN

NATIONAL QP INDICATORS

RightCare

EMERGENCY DEMAND MANAGEMENT INDICATORS
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NHS CONSTITUTION
GATEWAY

RTT Incomplete
Pathways

Cancer 62d

-50%

Non elective admissions
with length of stay of 1
day or more

Non elective admissions
with zero length of stay

10,435

85.00%

Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP
referral to first definitive treatment for cancer

1,435

456

The number of patients on an incomplete pathway
not to be higher in March 2019 than in March 2018

B. Actual number of non-elective admissions with
LOS of =>1 day to be no greater than the planned
number of non-elective admissions with LOS of =>1:
CUMULATIVE ADMISSIONS SHOWN IN YEAR

A2. Actual number of non-elective admissions with
LOS=0 to be no greater than the planned number of
non-elective admissions with LOS=0: CUMULATIVE
ADMISSIONS SHOWN IN YEAR

53,561

A1. Actual number of Type 1 A&E attendances to be
no greater than the planned number of Type 1 A&E
attendances: CUMULATIVE ATTENDS SHOWN IN YEAR

Type 1 A&E attendances

<=0.965

c. Sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in
primary care (STAR-PU)

=>3%

=>30%

b. Number of Trimethoprim items prescribed to
patients aged 70 years or greater

Step 1 =>2.65% (Mar 18) and Step 2 =>3.00% national
estimate by Mar 19.

<=10%

=>32%

<15%

a. Reducing gram negative BSI across whole
health economy

=>14% increase in CYP aged <18 access in Year 1 (v
16/17 baseline) OR ensure =>32% access for CYP aged
<18 in Year 1

b. CCG to ensure <15% of all CHC assessments must
take place in an acute hospital setting

6. CVD - Atrial
Fibrillation: Reported
prevalence (%)

5. BLOODSTREAM
INFECTIONS

4. Mental Health:
Improve Access to CYP
MH Services

-50%

50%

50%

15.00%

1.70%

7.65%

7.65%

17.00%

8.50%

<28 days

17.00%

3. CONTINUING
HEALTHCARE

GP Survey July 19 - respondents who
77%
“had a good experience of making a GP appointment” (+3% v Jul 18)

2. GP ACCESS AND
EXPERIENCE

a. >80% of cases with a positive CHC checklist,
the eligibility decision is made <28d from receipt
of checklist

=>4%

4% improvement re proportion of cancers diagnosed
@ S1 & S2 for 2018 v 2017

1. EARLY CANCER
DIAGNOSIS
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Overall Target
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INDICATOR (click on to
go to further detail)
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34.59%
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10,287
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7.12%
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81.17%

11,947

11,505

4,028
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2.811%
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68.2%

7.24%

40.22%

Jan-19

80.81%

12,344

12,598

4,411

44,348

2.824%

68.4%

7.27%

Feb-19

Qtr 4

2.826%

Mar-19
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Figure Twelve: CCG Progress Year to Date, in achieving measures that make up the CCG’s
quality Premium Position

Cheshire Wide
Quality examples
for 2018/19
• NHS England applauded
the collaborative approach
the CCGs have taken across
Cheshire to infection
control. This has led to a
10% reduction in gram
negative bloodstream
infections, with the
ambition to reduce by
50% by 2020.They have
suggested the CCGs write
an article for the Health
Service Journal.
• Developed a Cheshire wide
CCG approach to setting
shared provider CQUINs
(Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation incentive
payments) for Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership.

Assuring Quality
Quality Assurance visits are part
of our regular activities and in
2018/19 were targeted to care
homes, acute and independent
providers to support good
quality, safe, effective care for
the population served by NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG.

Delivering
Quality through
Partnerships
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
has effectively worked through
Partnerships to improve
outcomes for the population
and during 2018/19 we formed
a collaborative to actively work
on the national ambition to
reduce gram-negative blood
stream infections by 50% by
2021. The collaborative was
formed alongside NHS South
Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal
CCG and NHS West Cheshire
CCG as well as stakeholders
from Healthwatch and social
care. An improvement plan was

developed with a multiagency
approach targeting the
following:
• Self-Care and Hydration
Campaign
• Urinary catheter
management including
adapting a Catheter
Passport
• Management of recurrent
urinary tract infection
both in hospital and in
community
• Compliance with local
antimicrobial formulary
for first-line treatment of
urinary tract infection.
Our local infection prevention
and control network has been
driving the delivery of this plan
as well as support from out
Medicine Management team to
reduce the usage of antibiotics.

Commissioning
Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN)
CQUIN is a method of
incentivising our providers
of NHS services to secure
continuous improvement to
services and is a key element
of the CCG’s quality strategy.
This is done through national,
regional and local CQUIN
schemes which are used to drive
through quality improvements.
CQUIN schemes are identified
and developed in partnership
with providers, ensuring they
are challenging yet realistic
and that, where possible,
they address local quality
improvement priorities. An
established process is also in
place for reviewing quarterly
CQUIN evidence to ensure
progress against agreed
milestones. The CQUIN scheme
reports are then reported
through the Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee
and Governing Body on a
quarterly basis. Eastern Cheshire

has worked in 2018/19 in a
collaborative way to improve
outcomes for patients across
the Cheshire and Wirral
footprint. This has meant
that improvement has been
consistent and more robust for
the population.

Improvement
Assessment
Framework (IAF)
The CCG IAF was introduced
in 2016 and remained a focus
for Eastern Cheshire CCG for
2018/19. It continues to provide
clarity, simplicity and balance to
the conversation between NHS
England and CCGs about what
matters to patients. The IAF was
designed to supply indicators for
adoption in CCGs as markers
of success. In turn those plans
have provided vision and local
actions that have populated and
enriched the local use of the
CCG IAF.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has
the IAF high in our focus on
how we are performing in six
mandated clinical areas:
• maternity
• dementia
• mental health
• cancer
• learning disabilities
• diabetes.
As well as these six clinical
areas, the IAF also report
CCG performance against 58
measures. The IAF is central
to our improvement strategy
and local plans. It is regularly
monitored across all levels
of the CCG to ensure we
are continually learning and
improving.
Both improving and declining
areas of the IAF are detailed in
Figure Thirteen on page 24
The Governing Body of the CCG
receives regular updates on
CCG performance against the
IAF.
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Figure Thirteen: Improving and Declining Areas of the Improvement Assessment Framework (IAF)

Performance on
other matters
Working in
partnership to
improve health
and wellbeing, and
reduce inequalities
The CCG is a partner with
Cheshire East Council and
neighbouring CCGs (including
NHS South Cheshire CCG) in
local (and sub-regional) work
to improve both the health
of and the care provided to
the population of Eastern
Cheshire. Throughout this
report there are a number of
examples where the CCG has
worked in partnership with
local people, partner agencies,
staff and member practices to
help improve the health and
wellbeing of our population.

• Know Your Numbers Week
– 10-16th September
• Stay Well This Winter
• Dry January.
The joint approach has
strengthened the range of
activities provided and the
reach of the campaigns. All
campaigns have targeted the
general public and staff of
partner organisations and,
where appropriate, worked
with the developing Care
Communities (the NHS-led
work bringing together NHS
and Social Care services at a
local community level) and
Connected Communities
(the Cheshire East Council-

led work building community
cohesion and engagement at a
neighbourhood level).
The CCG has undertaken a
number of partnership projects
aimed at improving health
and wellbeing, and reduce
inequalities, these include:
• a Health Optimisation
project through which the
CCG worked with Cheshire
East Council, OneYou
service, and secondary
care consultants from
East Cheshire NHS Trust
to develop a joint health
optimisation policy

One of the CCG’s key
programmes of work in
2017-19 is “Implementing
Approaches to Wellbeing” and
we have continued to lead and
strengthen the Cheshire East
Wellbeing Network which is
jointly sponsored by the CCG
and Cheshire East Council.
The following organisations
are members of the Network:
NHS South Cheshire CCG, East
Cheshire NHS Trust; Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust, Cheshire
East Council; Cheshire Fire and
Rescue Service, Department
of Work and Pensions, Peaks
& Plains Housing Trust; Plus
Dane Housing; Everybody Sport
and Recreation, Healthwatch
Cheshire East and the Council
for Voluntary Services.
During 2018-19 the Wellbeing
Network has agreed and
delivered four joint health
promotion campaigns:
• Mental Health Week –
14-20th May with focus on
workplace health
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• a neurodevelopment
project through which
the CCG worked with
East Cheshire NHS Trust,
the Neuro Vanguard, the
Medicines Management
Team, and Salford Royal
Neuro Surgeons to move
the consultants from
Salford to Eastern Cheshire
meaning patients are now
seen and treated closer to
home. Alongside this the
project has ensured that
best practice pathways
are in place for patients
experiencing Adult Seizure
or Epilepsy and Headaches/
Migraines
• a Cardio Vascular Disease
(CVD) project through
which the CCG has
worked with Primary
Care colleagues and
East Cheshire NHS Trust
to develop a series of
measures which will
reduce the variation
and prevalence of Atrial
Fibrillation (AF) and
Hypertension. This work
is ongoing and will see
the introduction of case
finding of Atrial Fibrillation
(AF) and Hypertension
through blood pressure
monitoring and will also
increase health checks. In
addition, General Practices
can monitor patients for
AF through the use of an
ALIVECOR tool which is
linked though via a mobile
app. This should increase
the identification of AF
and if this is treated will
reduce the incidence of
stroke
• a Musculoskeletal (MSK)
project through which
the CCG has worked
with Primary Care
colleagues, the Medicines
Management Team and
East Cheshire NHS Trust
to reduce variation and
prevalence of: nonelective spinal procedures;
orthopaedic referrals; and
prescribing of Opioids.
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Throughout 2018-19 the CCG
has continued to be an active
member of the Cheshire East
Health and Wellbeing Board,
influencing and contributing
in its day-to-day operation
and strategic delivery to the
priorities of the Board. The Chief
Officer and a GP Representative
have been members of the
Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board, and a CCG
representative has been at all
meetings held in 2018-19. The
CCG regularly raises issues that
relate specifically to Eastern
Cheshire residents.
The CCG was actively involved
in developing the Joint Health
and Wellbeing Board Strategy
for the Population of Cheshire
East 2018-217 which was
published in May 2018 and
has confirmed its commitment
to commission and monitor
services that meet the three
priority areas of:
• Outcome One –
Create a place that
supports health and wellbeing
for everyone living in
Cheshire East
• Outcome Two –
Improve the mental health
and wellbeing of people living
and working in Cheshire East
• Outcome Three –
Enable more people to live
well for longer.
The Chief Officer report to the
Governing Body meetings of the
CCG includes an overview of
discussions and decisions made
at any Health and Wellbeing
Board meetings within that
period of time. Through its
membership of the Cheshire
East Health and Wellbeing
Board, the CCG is jointly
responsible for the production
and use of the Cheshire
East Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA).
7 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/council-and-democracy/health-and-wellbeingboard/health-wellbeing-strategy-2018-published-summer-2018.pdf

The CCG believes that using
different types of evidence
supports the development
of a constructive JSNA
on which to base sound
strategy development and
commissioning decisions.
The JSNA is considered when
developing project mandates
and business cases.
The CCG also believes that the
Voluntary, Community and Faith
sector (VCFS) organisations
operating within Eastern
Cheshire hold unique evidence
about local community assets
and needs and that VCFS
knowledge can be combined
with data collected by statutory
bodies such as CCGs and local
authorities to offer a richer,
more accurate picture of its
communities. As such, the CCG
has continued to part fund the
Cheshire East VCFS Community
JSNA programme of work.8
In year, the Community JSNA
was commissioned to and has
produced a project report on
Military Veterans Health.9
The NHS Act 200610 (Section
242) explains that CCGs have
a legal duty to involve current
and potential service users or
their representatives in planning,
and changes to the provision
and delivery of NHS services.
Similarly, the Health and Social
Care Act 2012 outlines that
CCGs must show how the
views of patients, carers, public,
communities of interest and
geography, health and wellbeing
boards, local authorities, and
practice populations “… are
translated into commissioning
intelligence and shared decisionmaking.” As a CCG we consider
that we meet this legal duty.
The CCG continues to work in

8 https://www.cvsce.org.uk/joint-strategicneeds-assessment-jsna
9 https://www.cvsce.org.uk/sites/cvsce.org.
uk/files/Veteran%20Pages%20Sept%20
Draft%20v7%20FINAL%20Access_0.pdf
10 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/pdfs/ukpga_20060041_en.pdf

partnership with a variety of
organisations and partners in
supporting or delivering health
and wellbeing messages and
health service access awareness
initiatives so as to help ‘inspire
better health and wellbeing’ in
line with the CCG’s Vision, and
reduce inequalities between
and within our communities.
Throughout 2018-19 the CCG
has, for example:
• delivered a multi-media
Stay Well campaign to
promote self-care and raise
awareness of appropriate
access to health services
in order to help manage
demand effectively,
especially over the winter
period.
• published weekly
Health Matters columns
in the Congleton
Chronicle, Knutsford
Guardian, Macclesfield
Express and Wilmslow
Guardian to promote
healthy lifestyles and
informed use of services
while demonstrating
accountability by
reporting progress against
commissioning intentions.
• Canalside radio station has
interviewed employees
of the CCG monthly, since
January 2018, to promote
current campaigns and
consultations.
The CCG believes that it
works well with its member
practices, local partners and
the public and actively invests
time and resources to ensuring
that its engagement and
communication around its
priorities and decision making is
inclusive, open and transparent.
The CCG receives feedback
about how it is doing in meeting
its statutory duties and stated
strategic intentions from its
partners and public via a variety
of means, including directly via
Eastern Cheshire HealthVoice
and Healthwatch Cheshire.

Another key feedback route
is through the effective
management of complaints and
concerns raised by patients,
which play an important role
in ensuring that the CCG
continues to improve the quality
of care services provided to
patients.
Another route is via the CCG
360° Stakeholder Survey10
conducted on behalf of NHS
England by Ipsos MORI. The
latest survey covering the period
2018-19 indicated the following
from those stakeholders who
took part in the survey:
• 100% of stakeholder rated
their working relationship
with the CCG as very good/
fairly good
• 82% rated the CCGs
effectiveness as a local
system leader as very
effective/fairly effective
• 97% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
considers the benefits to
the whole health and care
system when taking a
decision
• 87% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
actively avoids passing
on problems to another
system partner
• 97% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
works collaboratively with
other system partners
on the vision to improve
the future health of the
population
• 92% of stakeholders
rated the CCG as being
very effective/fairly
effective in improving
health outcomes for its
population
• 74% of stakeholders rated
the CCG as being very
effective/fairly effective
in reducing health
inequalities

• 79% of stakeholders rated
the CCG as being very
effective/fairly effective in
improving the quality of
local health services
• 79% of stakeholders rated
the CCG as being very
effective/fairly effective in
delivering value for money
• 84% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/
tended to agree that
the CCG involves
the right individuals
and organisations
when commissioning/
decommissioning services
• 82% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
asks the right questions
at the right time
when commissioning/
decommissioning services
• 68% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
engages effectively with
patients and the public
• 68% of stakeholders
strongly agreed/tended
to agree that the CCG
demonstrates that it has
considered the views of
patients and the public.
In 2018-19 the CCG received
68 complaints from members
of the public and 46 items of
correspondence from Members
of Parliament acting on behalf
of constituents, as well as
managing 240 Patient Advice
and Liaison (PALs) enquiries and
concerns from members of the
public. Further details about the
feedback received and learning
implemented as a result are
provided in the Accountability
section later in the report. 11

11 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
About-Us/stakeholder-feedback.htm
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Cancer and
End of Life
Better Cancer Care
Eastern Cheshire is now 18
months into the implementation
of the Eastern Cheshire Cancer
Strategy 2017 - 2021.12 Local
cancer outcomes have remained
excellent over the year being
rated as Outstanding for cancer
within the Improvement and
Assessment Framework.
Cancer performance has been
challenged for some of the
months over the last year.

now having straight to test.
Diagnostic capacity has been
a significant cause of delay
for cancer diagnosis and
with some support from the
Cancer Alliance, including
pathway navigators; this is now
beginning to improve.

The CCG in 2018-19 was
among the 20 most improved
CCG s in England in relation
to 1-year survival from cancer.
Much work is underway to
improve cancer outcomes and
patient experiences further.
Programmes of work include:

In partnership with Greater
Manchester Cancer Network
the Gynaecology and Upper
GI pathways have changed to
ensure compliance against NICE
guidance with single service
delivery models strengthening
clinical scrutiny to improve
outcomes. The Urology cancer
pathway will be transitioning in

• diagnose cancer early
– Collaborative work
with Greater Manchester
Cancer, Cheshire and
Merseyside Cancer
Alliance, Macmillan Cancer
Support and Cancer
Research UK to engage,
educate and work with our
local population and local
professionals to recognise
and act on earlier signs
and symptoms of cancer,
and engage with cancer
screening programmes
• brief intervention to
“make every contact
count” in secondary care
engaging, educating
and signposting people
referred with suspected
cancer that have cancer
ruled out

East Cheshire NHS Trust have
agreed with the CCG a cancer
improvement plan. This includes
appointing a new cancer clinical
lead who is now in post and
working very closely with each
cancer lead to take strong
leadership around improving
performance and putting in
place a robust process for
analysing all breaches and
also transfers across cancer
pathways. Optimal pathways
are being implemented for
colorectal, lung and prostate
cancers to speed up diagnosis
and also many pathways
12 https://www.easterncheshireccg.
nhs.uk/Downloads/Governing-Body/
Meetings/2019%20-%2001%20-%20
30/3.3a%20Appendix%20A%20-%20
EC%20Cancer%20Strategy%20FINAL%20
v7.pdf
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this same way over the next 1218 months. Breast performance
has been inconsistent. This is
in the main due to a significant
increase in referral activity from
Stockport and North Derbyshire.
The local Cancer Strategy for
Eastern Cheshire provides an
ambitious plan across partners
to improve cancer outcomes
and experiences of people with
cancer. Cancer will affect 1 in
2 people born after 1960 and
is the biggest cause of death in
adults in Eastern Cheshire with
mortality higher in men than
in women. All ambitions and
programmes of work for cancer
are in line to meet the ambitious
targets set out in the NHS Long
Term Plan.

• working with Primary
and Secondary Care to
develop a vague symptoms
multi diagnostic one stop
pathway for people with
significant but non-specific
symptoms
• redesigning diagnostic
pathways for colorectal,
lung and urology cancers
with many people going
straight to a test to
ensure that a cancer can
be diagnosed quicker.
Cancer navigators are
now in post to help the
patient through the faster
pathway and to be a point
of contact for information
and support. Our local
people can also access a
chest x-ray for possible
early signs of lung cancer
through a pharmacist if
they have a cough for
3 weeks or more and are
over 50.

• risk stratifying end of
treatment follow up
and developing selfmanagement / remote
monitoring support for
breast, colorectal and
urology cancers and
supporting these patients
with Health and Wellbeing
events, Treatment
summaries are provided
to the patient and GP
to set out follow up
requirements and self-help
strategies
• pathway redesign in
urology and Upper GI
cancers to meet NICE
guidance in partnership
with Greater Manchester
Cancer. Implementation
of the new pathways has
commenced
• a new treatment to
help reduce recurrence
of cancer for postmenopausal women with
early staged breast cancer
is in development
• Education to professionals
in Primary and Community
Care on Cancer
• beginning to work with
Macmillan to build a
business case to develop
cancer services around
care communities,
upskilling more community
professionals and
volunteer networks and
introduce cancer nurse
specialist skills into
Primary Care
• The Christie have started a
fund raising campaign to
enable the development of
a Christie outreach cancer
centre in Macclesfield.
The ambition is to bring
more oncology treatments
closer to home for
Eastern Cheshire residents.

Transforming End
of Life Care (EOL)
The CCG has seen a growing
elderly population. It is also
forecast that within the next
10 years the number of Eastern
Cheshire residents aged 60 or
over is set to increase by 50%
and the number of residents
aged 80 or over is forecast to
double. Nationally, it is expected
that 1% of the population
will be in their last year of life,
which equates to an average of
2,200 deaths per year in Eastern
Cheshire. Experts suggest that
around 25% of deaths are
‘sudden’ deaths and 75% of
all deaths can be regarded as
‘predictable’ in that individuals
had health problems prior to
death. In Eastern Cheshire
currently, around 35% of deaths
are managed as expected
deaths through the Palliative
Care register. Locally, 49% of
people die in their usual place
of residence, 41% in hospital,
9% in a hospice and 1%
elsewhere. This places Eastern
Cheshire in the top quartile
across the CCGs in England for
people dying in the Usual Place
of Residence and in the top 3
in the North of England The
local population has also seen
a growing number of people
in their last year of life with
complex needs, with multiple
commissioners and providers
playing a part in the offer of
services available to support
these complex needs during
the last year of a person’s life.
Commissioners and Providers
across Cheshire have worked
together with the End of Life
Partnership collaboratively
driving the partnership
approach. Collectively we have
a collaborative plan in which we
have focused our improvement
programmes over the last year.

This has included:
• Advance Care Planning
• Electronic Palliative Care
Communication Systems
• Care Coordination
• Community Development
(Compassionate
Communities).
In October 2018, East Cheshire
Hospice funded a 6 month
project team that is led by the
EOL Partnership to progress
more coordinated provision of
EOL Care. All partners providing
End of Life Care are actively
engaged in this work. The
project aims to improve patient
outcomes by delivering:
• improved coordinated
access to domiciliary
support for EOL Care,
including Continuing
Healthcare Fast Track
eligible patients
• responsive service that can
meet EOL needs in crisis
across 24hr/7 days a week
• use of East Cheshire
Hospice as a point of
access and co-ordination
• high quality care provided
by a skilled and competent
workforce
• alignment to health, social
care and third sector
systems, particularly
care community and
compassionate community
infrastructures
• shared electronic
information on people’s
needs and choices at end
of life across organisations
and professional groups.
Work is already progressed
within this project towards
a joined up referral form,
assessment form, Care Plan for
EOL, new care pathways and
joined up provider partnerships.
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Special Education
Needs and
Disabilities (SEND)
The Children and Families Act
(201413) set out the need for
a joined up approach across
education, health and social
care to support improved
outcomes for children and
young people with Special
Educational Needs and/or
Disabilities (SEND). This means
that everyone aged 0 to 25 with
SEND and needing extra support
in education will have a single

1. the timeliness, process and
quality of Education Health
and Care (EHC) plans
2. the lack of an effective
Autistic Spectrum Disorder
(ASD) pathway and
unreasonable
waiting times.
The full Written Statement of
Action (WSoA) can be viewed
on the Cheshire East Local
Offer.14 The CCG are working
as an integral part of the
Cheshire East SEND Partnership
to improve services and ensure
there is a focus on improving

• focused work has taken
place on the timeliness of
health advice, which has
improved compliance from
38% at the time of the
inspection to a consistent
monthly position of
between 90-100%
Ongoing work continues
to ensure that health
advice remains timely and
of a consistently
high quality
• a multi-agency executive
group has been established
to ensure increased senior
management oversight
and accountability for
the work of the SEND
Partnership Board. The first
meeting of this group took
place in March 2019
• all SEND workstreams and
governance have been
revised and simplified and
aligned to the priorities in
the WSoA
• an external experienced
and specialist SEN
consultant is supporting
the SEND partnership, with
a specific focus on EHC
Plan timeliness and quality
• the revised SEN pathway
and guidance documents
have been published on
the Local Offer

plan setting out all the help they
will receive from education,
health and social care and who
is responsible for each part of
the plan.
CQC and Ofsted carried out
a joint review of the Cheshire
East local area response
to the Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
reforms, in March 2018. A
written statement of action
was subsequently required to
respond to the significant areas
of weakness identified during
the inspection:
13 https://www.gov.uk/government/
news/landmark-children-and-families-act2014-gains-royal-assent

30

children, young people and
their families’ experiences in the
following ways:
The timeliness, process and
quality of EHC plans:
• a system for electronic
data sharing has been
established across
education, health and
care agencies, resulting in
significant improvement
in efficiency, accuracy and
communication

14 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/
local-offer-for-children-with-sen-anddisabilities/local-offer-for-children-with-senanddisabilities.aspx

• a shared definition of
co-production in Cheshire
East called ‘TOGETHER’
has been developed with
an accompanying suite of
materials
• SEND Workshops have
taken place for over 100
Health Visitors with very
positive feedback
• a new ‘Ignition’ process
is intended to improve
person-centred transition
planning within the EHC
needs assessment process
has been rolled out
• an agreed Cheshire
East Quality Assurance
Framework is being
implemented across the
Partnership for EHC Plans

• further multi-agency
training has taken place
and specific targeted
training has been provided
to relevant health provider
teams
• revised templates for
professional advice are
being used
• multiagency quality
assurance meetings are
taking place monthly and
the Designated Clinical
Officer for SEND has
increased the oversight
and monitoring of the
quality of health advice for
EHC needs assessments

The lack of an
effective ASD
pathway and
unreasonable
waiting times
New Service
Specification:
An integrated Service
Specification describing
the implementation of the
redesigned pathways has been
written (3 commissioning
organisations and 4 separate
statutory providers working
to deliver a consistent model
in partnership with the third
sector).The specification will be
implemented by 01 June 2019
across NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG and NHS South Cheshire
CCG, providing a single model
and improved consistency for
children young people and their
families.

Pathways:
The following Assessment
and Post Diagnostic Support
Pathways have been coproduced:
• Getting Advice – First
Concerns / Identification
• Getting Help – Local Offer/
MDT Assessment

• Getting More Help –
Post Diagnostic Support
Pathway

improvements around SEND,
together with partners in the
local area.

• Getting Risk Support –
Prevention of Crisis.

Learning
Disabilities

1-4 Autism Assessment Pilot:
A pilot project was implemented
in NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
and NHS South Cheshire CCG,
providing a single model and
improved consistency for
children ate statutory providers
working to deliver a consistent
model in part). The funding
to continue the 0-4 years’
assessment service in Eastern
Cheshire has been agreed
to secure this robust early
intervention and assessment
service.

Waiting list initiative:
5-19 years’ service
assessment
A waiting list initiative is being
implemented in parallel with
the work to redesign the
assessment process for this
group of children/young people
to address the unacceptably
long waiting lists. The service
provider has completed an
accelerated recovery plan to
deliver the additional contracted
activity by the end of October
2019 (as per WSoA). This has
resulted in:
- the overall number of
people waiting longer than
12 weeks for assessment
has decreased
- the average wait for
assessment has decreased
- the longest wait has
decreased
- the total number of
assessments completed by
the provider has increased.
Quarterly monitoring of
progress on the WSoA has
taken place since the inspection
and regulators recognise that
good work is taking place, but
the impact is yet to be fully
realised. The CCG is committed
to continue to focus work on

The Transforming care
programme focuses on
improving health and social care
services so that more people
can live in the community,
with the right support, and
close to home. As part of this
process Eastern Cheshire CCG
have been completing Care
(Education) and Treatment
Reviews (C(E)TR) in line with
NHS England’s commitment to
transforming services for people
with learning disabilities, autism
or both. CTRs are used by
commissioners for people living
in learning disability and mental
health hospitals who we wish
to repatriate to the community
safely and effectively.
We have seen an improvement
in our inpatients numbers which
have reduced from 9 patients
to 6 patients with 3 further
patients currently pending
discharge in 2018-2019.
The C(E)TR process is also
designed to be used for people
living in the community to
reduce hospital admissions
where possible. The process is
completed as a collaborative
approach with our neighbouring
Cheshire CCGs, LA and CWP.
The CCG chairs an independent
panel at each C(E)TR to provide
non partial view of the care the
individual is receiving.
The CCG monitors the Learning
Disabilities health checks on a
quarterly and annual basis and
expect to reach the NHS target
of 75% consistently across all
practices by the end of 2019.
The quality assurance of health
checks, which includes blood
pressure, weight, Body Mass
Index (BMI), screening and
immunisations rates, is now
being incorporated into the
primary care dashboard.
STOMP (Stop Over Medicating
People with Learning
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Disabilities) was a successful
project delivered locally as
part of a national approach to
improving patients care with
Learning Disabilities. In 18/19
the Medicines Management
Team (MMT) provided GP
Practices with an audit tool
that identified all patients,
both children and adults, on
the GP Practice list who are
on the Learning Disabilities
register and those with a code
of Autism who are on any of
the five classes of psychotropic
medication; antipsychotic,
antidepressant, antiepileptic,
hypnotic, stimulant. The
programme saw a reduction in
medication prescribed and has
now been expanded to looking
at all drugs that people with
Learning Disabilities may be
prescribed.

Autism
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
and NHS South Cheshire
CCG and the local authority,
Cheshire East Council are
working together to jointly
commission a consistent and
integrated autism assessment
pathway, which is compliant
with NICE guidance and Quality
Standards, and includes access
to evidence-based pre and post
diagnostic support. This will be
commissioned from 01 April
2019 onwards. The aim is to
improve the lives of children,
young people and families by
recognising and identifying
needs as early as possible
and providing appropriate
interventions, assessment,
training and support.
Health, Education and Care
services will work together
to deliver an accessible,
streamlined, consistent
and cost effective autism
assessment pathway, alongside
evidence-based and innovative
interventions and support.
A significant part of this
new model and approach is
designed to connect together
the expertise and skills of
existing service providers and
professionals to provide a
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multi-disciplinary, coherent
and coordinated local offer, to
maximise impact, resources,
value for money and to build
on the local opportunities and
significant expertise that is
available in Cheshire East.
The key changes that will
be delivered are improved
access to a consistent, multidisciplinary autism assessment
and the availability, scope and
coordination of pre and post
diagnostic support, which
enables different organisations
and professionals to work
together to assess need and
to deliver a jointly agreed,
single plan of support. There
will be a transitional phase
from April 2019 onwards
with improvements being
implemented in a phased way,
to move from the existing
approaches to achieving a
consistent, coordinated, multidisciplinary model of assessment
and support. This requires the
redesign of existing services,
investment, clinical leadership,
a commitment to joint working
arrangements, cultural change
and integration.
The focus of this pathway will
be for children and young
people age 0-19 years. The next
phase of the work is to ensure
clear transition arrangements
and support in adult autism and
wider mental health services.

Adults’ and Older
People’s Specialist
Mental Health
The CCG has worked with NHS
South Cheshire CCG and NHS
Vale Royal CCG and Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust to redesign
services for adults and older
peoples specialist mental health
services.
The redesign looked at how
services needed to change
to improve outcomes for
people and ensure that we
commissioned the best possible
care for people within the
resources we had available.

The work, led by clinicians and
shaped by the experience of
service users and their carers,
looked at what needed to be
different for around 7,000
people currently in receipt of
services. They identified a new
improved model of care and
described the new services
required in accordance with
good practice elsewhere,
including out of hospital
24/7 crisis care and dementia
outreach to support GPs and
Community services to enable
people with complex dementia
to remain safely at home during
times of crisis.
The redesign proposals
were taken out for a wider
conversation with the
population of all three CCGs
through a formal 12 week
consultation. The feedback
received showed overwhelming
support for the introduction
of a new model of care but
following careful consideration
of the public feedback an
amended option was developed
which whilst retaining all the
plans for the new model of care
also offered more inpatient care
locally, to respond to concerns
about travelling for inpatient
care as originally proposed. The
plans are moving at pace with a
completion date of September
2019 agreed. Service users will
have greater access to early
help through an expanded
community team, which means
less people will be admitted to
hospital and those who are will
be supported to return home in
a timely manner. The inpatient
facility will provide care in an
environment which supports
recovery but also protects
privacy and dignity.
The CCGs are very grateful
to all the service users, carers
and members of the public
who contributed to the
redesign process and the public
consultation ensuring our plans
support the commissioning
of services which are fit for
purpose.

Safeguarding

Quality Outcomes

The CCG has a statutory
responsibility to safeguard and
promote the welfare of Adults
and children, including looked
after children, who are living in
our communities. Safeguarding
for the CCG is an integral part
of its commissioning processes.

The CCG has continued to focus
on improving the quality of the
health services contribution
to support and protect adults
and children, developing the
commissioning safeguarding
standards which are included in
all NHS provider contracts. The
standards set out requirements
for organisations to have a
well-trained workforce with
robust safeguarding policies
and procedures, including
supervision that enables staff to
take action when they identify
any adult or child who is in
need of support or protection.
Each organisation is required
to complete an annual selfevaluation safeguarding audit.
These are formally monitored for
quality by the CCGs Designated
Nurses and a formal escalation
process initiated when standards
are not met.

The Care Act 201415 provides
a clear framework for how
Clinical Commissioning Groups
work in partnerships with
other public services, to protect
adults and children at risk. As
a statutory partner of the Local
Safeguarding Adults Board,
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has
a corporate commitment to
safeguard its communities.
The CCG has submitted audits
to the Local Safeguarding
Boards outlining how we meet
our safeguarding responsibilities
under the assurance framework
and S.11 of the Children Act
198916. The CCG were fully
compliant in all areas.

Leadership in the
Health Community
As clinical experts and strategic
leaders, the designated
professionals for safeguarding
and looked after children
provide a vital source of advice
to the CCG, NHS England,
the Local Authority, Local
Safeguarding Children Board
and Police and health providers.
The Designated Nurses
and Doctors Safeguarding
Children continue to facilitate
the Cheshire Safeguarding
Professionals Network this year
bringing together named and
designated professionals to
share best practice.
Following work with NHS
England and NHS Digital
the Child Protection – the
Information Sharing (CP-IS)
system has been implemented
by all the NHS providers and
local authorities and is now live.

The designated Nurses work
alongside the contracts
team in the CCG to monitor
the assurance provided for
compliance, and with smaller
providers to improve the quality
of safeguarding policies and
processes.

Multi-agency
working
The CCG is a key partner
in responding to National
Guidance on development of
new Safeguarding arrangements
across the Local Authority
and Pan Cheshire footprint.
Development of these
arrangements is in progress and
shadowing arrangements are
planned to start in April 2019.
The CCG is also working
with other CCGs and Local
Authorities across Cheshire to
develop a strengthened Child
Death Overview Process.

The CCG has worked with
a neighbouring CCGs and
Public Health to commission
a specialist nurse to work
alongside a multi-agency
team in the Local Authority
safeguarding hub. An evaluation
of this post has shown a
positive impact on information
sharing and has been shown
to contribute to more timely
multi agency decision making to
manage safeguarding risks and
children’s safety.

Audit
The designated nurses continue
to promote and support multi
agency audits both within the
CCG and monitor external
audits by providers to ensure
learning is reflected on and
embedded into practice.

How we have
captured the voice
of the child
The quality of safeguarding is
enhanced when children and
young people are kept at the
heart of services provided.
The CCG is committed to
listening to the voice of young
people when commissioning
health care services. We work
closely with youth advisors that
have been drawn together
from Cheshire schools, local
employers and organisations
representing young people.
They engage young people in
describing how services work
for them and how they could
be improved. The CCG has
included ‘the voice and lived
experience of the child’ in its
safeguarding standards and
expects its providers to evidence
that this is being done in the
course of their work.

15 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-andsupport-statutory-guidance
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
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Safeguarding
in GP Practice

Adult
Safeguarding

The safeguarding training
sessions and forums for GP
safeguarding leads and practice
managers have continued
during 2018/19. The Named
GPs have undertaken work with
all GP practices to improve the
quality of information sharing
for GP conferences. Audits
have evidenced significant
improvement over the last year
in both the timely completion
and quality of these reports.

The designated role encourages
an open culture to ensure
clear understanding between
partners at a local level when
other agencies such as the
local authority or the Care
Quality Commission need to
be involved in the safeguarding
of adults and promotes the
health and well-being of
those who are at risk of being
abused or neglected in the
services commissioned whilst
considering the needs of the
wider health and social care
community. This is supported
through the partnership
meeting undertaken on a
monthly basis with Cheshire
East Council, the CCG and the
Care Quality Commission.

Cared for Children
The Designated Nurse for
Looked after Children and Care
Leavers works across the four
Cheshire CCGs and 2 Local
Authority areas. The role is
purely strategic and supports
the CCGs in discharging their
statutory duties for Looked After
Children in line with ‘Promoting
the health and wellbeing of
looked-after children: Statutory
guidance on the planning,
commissioning and delivery of
health services for looked-after
children’.(Published March 2015
by Department for Education
and Department of Health and
Social Care). The Designated
Nurse is supported by a part
time administrator.
The changes in delivery of the
Designate role have led to a
more active presence on the
corporate parenting board and
stronger working relationship
with the Local Authority. This
in turn has led to a significant
reduction in unwarranted
variation of services received by
our children and young people
and an improved compliance
with Responsible Commissioner
Guidance. Commissioning
standards relating to the
Cared for Children Service
are in the process of, along
with a proposal for changes
in reporting mechanisms by
the provider organisations
to achieve greater scrutiny
around quality and outcome
measurement.
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As a commissioning
organisation the CCG is
committed to ensure that all
health providers from whom
it commissions services (both
public and independent sector)
have comprehensive single
and multi-agency policies and
procedures in place to safeguard
and promote the health and
well-being of adults at risk and
that health providers are linked
into the Local Safeguarding
Adult Board and that workers
contribute to multi-agency
working dependent on their
roles and responsibilities,
obtained from face to face
assurance meetings and
detailed patient stories to bring
safeguarding to life.
The designated role promotes
the ‘making safeguarding
personal’ ethos to ensure it is
integral to healthcare delivery
and ensuring the assurance
from providers that they are
achieving good outcomes in
preventing and effectively
responding to harm, neglect
and abuse. The objective is to
put patients first and ensure
their voice is sought and
heard, through patient stories,

and responses to incidents.
The connection and interface
between safeguarding and
quality of service provision is
assured through the completion
of the commissioning standards
for safeguarding that are
annually scrutinised by the
designated nurse for evidential
compliance.
The designated role promotes
empowerment and autonomy
for adults, including those who
lack capacity for a particular
decision as embodied in the
Mental Capacity Act [MCA]
200517, implementing an
approach which appropriately
balances this with safeguarding
and an adults choice to make
‘unwise decisions’. In all
safeguarding activity due regard
must be given to the Mental
Capacity Act 2005, ensuring
decisions made for anyone
where it reasonable to believe
may lack capacity are made in
the person’s best interest.

Antimicrobial
stewardship
Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)
is acknowledge to be a global
challenge, which has led to
pressure on existing antibiotics
and greater challenges in
treating patients. Antibiotics
do not work for everything,
and using them when they
are not needed encourages
bacteria to become resistant to
them. In turn, this means that
infections with resistant bacteria
may become untreatable in
the future, putting lives at
risk. Inappropriate use of
antimicrobials increases the risk
of infection to patients and the
subsequent risk of transmission
to other patients. The aim of
antimicrobial stewardship is to
improve the safety and quality
of patient care and to contribute
significantly to reductions in the
emergence and spread of AMR.
17 https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-toz/m/mental-capacity-act-2005
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Figure Fifteen: Antibacterial BNF 5.1 Items/STAR PU versus %
of Co-amoxiclav, Cephalosporins & Quinolones Items
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Public Health England
monitoring shows that the
CCGs covered by the Central
and Eastern Cheshire Medicines
Management Team (including
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG) are
performing well compared with
other CCGs in Cheshire and
Merseyside (Figure Fourteen,
Figure Fifteen and
Figure Sixteen).
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• Promoting activities
for World Antibiotic
Awareness Week and
European Antibiotic
Awareness Day.
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• Meeting with practices
that remain more than
10% above the target
prescribing volumes
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to review long term
antibiotics
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• Promoting national
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Treating your infection
leaflets

NHS England CCG Target 1.161
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• Providing monthly
benchmarking data to
demonstrate progress
towards achievement of
targets
• Providing guidance on
appropriate prescribing of
antibiotics in the form of
local guidance, review of
formulary medicines and
appropriate prescribing
decision support messages
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The CCG has also worked
with local hospitals to put in
place systems to reduce the
unnecessary use of antibiotics,
and to support GPs to prescribe
the most appropriate antibiotics
when they are needed. The
CCG Medicines Management
Team (MMT) has supported the
project by:

Figure Fourteen: Antibacterial BNF 5.1 Items/STAR PU
Eastern Cheshire CCG compared against
Cheshire and Merseyside STP (CCGs only)

Items/STAR PU

The CCG is working with
member practices to manage
prescribing practice to help slow
the emergence of antimicrobial
resistance and ensure that
antimicrobials remain an
effective treatment for infection.
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Promoting
education and
training
As a CCG, we have a duty
when exercising our functions,
to have regard to the need to
promote education and training
for our employees (Section 14Z
NHS Act 2006). We actively
encourage our employees
to attend organisational
and personal development
opportunities. We have adopted
an annual appraisal system and
development of learning plans
in order to support performance
and development of our

delivered by an organisation
called Healthskills, for Governing
Body members and staff. Two
key development programmes
were commissioned for staff
entitled ‘Preparing for Change’
and ‘Leading Change’, to help
staff during the time of change
amongst the four CCGs of
Cheshire.
The CCG also provides
opportunity for University
students to undertake a yearlong business placement with
the various teams of the CCG.
In its fourth year of student
placements, the CCG has had
three students working closely
with CCG staff on a number

Governance Report identifies
key risks and uncertainties
together with related controls.
The CCGs monthly Governing
Body Assurance Framework
provides the Governing
Body with an up to date
picture of key performance
risks and progress against
key targets. Throughout the
year the Governing Body has
received a number of deep
dive presentations around
key areas on the assurance
framework which provides
the opportunity for greater
scrutiny and explanation of key
issues that can affect the CCGs
performance. Page 60 of the
Annual Governance Report
details further the Deep Dive
topic presentations received
by the Governing Body during
2018-19.

Equality report
Reducing Health
Inequality
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
is committed to promoting
equality and recognising,
addressing and reducing
health inequalities amongst
people who are protected by
the Equality Act 201018 and
for Health Inclusion groups as
defined by the Health and Social
Care Act 2012.
employees, which is further
underpinned by regular 1-1’s
with line managers.
The CCG are members of
regional training/learning
bodies such as the North West
Leadership Academy and
Advancing Quality Alliance
(AQuA). CCG employees
also have access to extensive
catalogue of online training
courses which are hosted
on the online Learning and
Development Academy,
operated by NHS Midlands
and Lancashire Commissioning
Support Unit.
Throughout 2018-19 the CCGs
of Cheshire commissioned
an extensive organisational
development programme,
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of key programmes of work.
Working for the CCG has
helped students understand
the varied roles available in the
NHS and provided them with
valuable experience, skills and
training that they can utilise
when returning to University.
The CCG also benefits from
the enthusiasm and hard work
undertaken by the students.

Risk management
and principles: risk
and uncertainties
The CCG adopts an embedded
risk management framework,
as detailed in the annual
governance statement.
On page 59 the Annual

The Equality Act requires all
CCGs to publish appropriate
information which evidences
how we are meeting the public
sector Equality Duty 2011 (PSED)
(specific duties) and addressing
any significant gaps which may
adversely impact on local people
from protected characteristic
groups. CCG processes support
scrutiny of service delivery and
workforce issues for equality
and inclusive ways of working.
The communication &
engagement team have
developed a new innovative
approach to effective
engagement of the CCG’s
18 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equalityact-2010-guidance

communities by developing
9 engagement channels
embracing people from the
nine protected characteristics
as defined by the Equality Act
2010. Bespoke engagements
mechanisms are described for
each channel, and responsibility
for key actions is assigned to
named volunteers in order to
promote community ownership
of the channel in question.
We continue to work closely
with our provider partner
organisations where CCGs
are the lead commissioner of
health care contracts, looking
at their own transparent
evidence of meeting the PSED
as a provider of local services.
Effective contract monitoring
with evidence of robust legal
and mandated compliance is an
integral part of CCGs fulfilling
their equality and human rights
responsibilities.
The mandated standards from
NHS England are included
within the 2017-19 full national
standard contract (NSC) for
providers (public and private
sectors) working with the
NHS and are therefore closely
monitored by the contracts
team for delivery.

Public Sector
Equality Duty
The CCG has worked to show
‘due regard’ to the aims of the
Public Sector General Equality
Duty19 as set out in the Equality
Act 2010. The three PSED
aims are:
• Aim 1: Eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment
and victimisation
• Aim 2: Advance equality
of opportunity between
different groups
• Aim 3: Foster good
relations between
different groups.
Through the adoption of the
NHS Equality Delivery Standard
19 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
About-Us/equality-act.htm

2 equality performance
framework alongside other NHS
England mandated equality
standards the CCG aims to
demonstrate to its local people
how we are transparently
meeting the three aims of the
Equality Duty.
The PSED (2011) drops down
from the Equality Act 2010 (the
Act) which replaced the previous
anti-discrimination laws with a
single Act. It simplifies the law,
removing inconsistencies and
making it easier for people to
understand and comply with it.
It also strengthens the law in
important ways, to help tackle
discrimination and inequality.
Equality is about creating a
fairer society where everyone
can participate and has the
opportunity to fulfil their
potential. This means treating
individuals in a way that is
appropriate to their needs, with
dignity and worth regardless of
their protected characteristics.
Diversity builds on equality
and focuses on how individual
differences and their strengths
can be valued for the benefit of
both society and the individual.
Equality and diversity are
not interchangeable but are
interdependent. There is no
advancement of equality if
difference is not recognised and
valued.
A key principle of the
NHS Constitution is that:
‘The NHS provides a
comprehensive service,
available to all - irrespective
of gender, race, disability,
age, sexual orientation,
religion or belief. It has
a duty to each and every
individual that it serves and
must respect their human
rights. At the same time, it
has a wider social duty to
promote equality through
the services it provides and
to pay particular attention to
groups or sections of society
where improvements in
health and life expectancy
are not keeping pace with
the rest of the population’.

Equality Delivery
System 2
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
uses the Equality Delivery
System 2 (EDS2) developed
by and for the NHS to assess
performance and demonstrate
compliance against the Public
Sector and General Equality
Duty. It is a system that helps
NHS organisations improve the
services they provide for their
local communities and provide
better working environments,
free of discrimination, for those
who work in the NHS, while
meeting the requirements of the
Equality Act 2010.
At the heart of the EDS2 is a set
of 18 outcomes grouped into
four goals known as the EDS
Outcomes Framework. These
outcomes focus on the issues of
most concern to patients, carers,
communities, NHS staff and
Boards. The four EDS2 goals are:
• Better health outcomes
for all
• Improved patient access
and experience
• Empowered, engaged and
included staff
• Inclusive leadership at all
levels.
The outcomes in full within the
goals (or a selection of them)
are assessed annually and
graded as per the following
categories:
• Undeveloped if there is
no evidence one way
or another for how a
protected group of people
fares, or if evidence shows
that the majority of people
in only two or fewer
protected groups fare well
• Developing if evidence
shows that the majority
of people in three to five
protected groups fare well
• Achieving if evidence
shows that the majority
of people in six to eight
protected groups fare well
• Excelling if evidence shows
that the majority of people
in all nine protected
groups fare well.
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Accessible
Information
Standard (AIS)20
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has
a legal and moral responsibility
under the Equality Act 2010
to provide its documents,
leaflets and electronic resources
in an alternative format if
requested. In June 2015 the
Standardisation Committee
for Care Information (SCCI)
approved a new “accessible
information standard”. All
organisations that provide NHS
or adult social care must follow
the accessible information
standard by law (under Section
250 of the Health and Social
Care Act 2012).

Modern Slavery
Statement
Primarily our requirements
relate to section 54 of the Act
“Transparency in the supply
chain” Under the Act21, any
company with a turnover of
more than £36m must produce
a statement for each financial
year listing the steps it is
taking to ensure that slavery
and human trafficking is not
taking place in any of its supply
chains or in any part of its
business. This statement must
be published on company/
organisational websites and
visible to staff, suppliers,
customers and investors. The
trickle-down effect of the
Act will be felt this year as
businesses begin to ask more
searching questions of their
suppliers to seek assurance that
they are also taking steps to
ensure that their supply chains
are free from slavery.

20 https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/
accessibleinfo/
21 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted
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NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
fully supports the Government’s
objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking.
Our Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement for the
year ending 31 March 2019
is published at: https://www.
easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/Links/
modern_slavery.htm

Equality Impact &
Risk Assessment
scrutiny for
‘due regard’

Communicating
with Our Staff
A range of communication
options are regularly viewed
by our staff via the following
methods:
• Fortnightly staff e-bulletins
• Staff intranet (this is
regularly reviewed and
updated)

“Due regard” means that the
CCGs have given advance
consideration to seldom heard
groups and issues of equality
and discrimination before
making any commissioning
decision or other key changes
that may be affected by them.
That is a legal responsibility
for all CCGs ensuring the
fulfilment of the aims of antidiscrimination legislation set
out in the Equality Act 2010,
the Public Sector Equality
Duty (PSED 2011) the Health
& Social Care Act 2012, the
Homelessness Reduction
Act 201722, Modern Slavery
Act 2015 and the Brown
Principles. Equality Impact & Risk
Assessments (EIRA) scrutiny is a
method for CCGs gathering the
timely ‘due regard’ they have
taken, and from end to end of
this process.

• Social media (Twitter,
Facebook and LinkedIn)

Equality Impact
and Risk
Assessment (EIRA)
Workshop

As an employer, the CCG is
committed to ensuring that
we have a diverse workforce
by providing fair and equal
access to all NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG jobs, including
access to career development
and training opportunities for
staff. In the last year the CCG
has continued to promote a
recruitment pack that provides
in-depth information about
the benefits of working for the
NHS and NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG, and has commissioned
the creation of short film of
our staff outlining why the
enjoy working for NHS Eastern

A training and awareness
workshop took place on 23
August 2018 to ensure all CCG
staff were trained and updated
on the new Equality Impact
and Risk Assessments (EI&RA’s)
Template.
22 https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/briefing_homelessness_reduction_act_2017

• Fortnightly Newsletter for
GP Practice Staff and CCG
staff
• Weekly Team Briefs which
are chaired by the CCG’s
Chief Officer
• All teams at the CCG have
regular team meetings.
Staff wellbeing events were
held in support of national
campaigns including Mental
Health Awareness Week
and Know Your Numbers,
a campaign to reduce the
incidence of high blood
pressure.

Equality and
diversity as an
employer

Cheshire CCG. The organisation
is committed to ensuring the
working environment is inclusive
and appropriate support is
provided to any member of the
organisation that may require it.
The CCG has continued
to ensure that robust
arrangements are in place for
staff to report any occasions
where they or their colleagues
have been subject to any
intentional or unintentional
discrimination in the workplace
or when undertaking their
duties representing the CCG.
All of the CCG’s workforce
policies have been developed
in line with current legislative
requirements, including the
Equality Act 2010. These policies
cover the recruitment, selection
and appointment process and all
aspects of working for the CCG.

Sustainable
Development
As an NHS organisation, and
as a spender of public funds,
we have an obligation to work
in a way that has a positive
effect on the communities
for which we commission
and procure healthcare
services. Sustainability means
spending public money well,
the smart and efficient use of
natural resources and building
healthy, resilient communities.
By making the most of by
making the most of social,
environmental and economic
assets we can improve health
both in the immediate and long
term even in the context of the
rising cost of natural resources.
CCG policies and strategies,
such as flexible working, lease
car polices and our Information
and Communication Technology
strategy contribute towards
meeting our sustainability
obligations.
The CCG has developed a
Local Digital Roadmap23
which details the actions to
deliver the ambition of being
23 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News/Cheshire-Digital-Roadmap.htm

paper-free at the point of care
by 2020 as outlined by NHS
England’s Five Year Forward
View. Local Digital Roadmaps
will generate momentum and
drive transformation across
local health economies, inform
local investment priorities and
support local benefit realisation
strategies.

Throughout the Annual Report
and Accounts 2018-19 we have
highlighted various examples
describing the ways in which
we have informed our public,
encouraged our public to
participate in the work of the
CCG and raised awareness
around important health and
care issues.

The CCG will continue to work
towards ensuring that it meets
its obligations under the Climate
Change Act 2008, including the
Adaptation Reporting power,
and the Public Services (Social
Value) Act 2012.24 This includes
establishing mechanisms to
embed social and environmental
sustainability across policy
development, business planning
and in commissioning.

The CCG’s approach to
communications and
engagement is intended to
achieve three key outcomes:

The CCG recognises that
its biggest impact can be
made with regards to how
it commissions and procures
services. The CCG is committed
to ensuring that within all of its
commissioning and procurement
processes that it will ask all of
its providers to ensure that they
are committed to delivering the
sustainability agenda. The CCG
also believes that small changes
can also make a difference and
constantly reviews how changes
to the operation of its office
can help contribute towards
sustainability.
We lease our office building
from NHS Property Services and
our business address is New
Alderley House, Victoria Road,
Macclesfield. It is based on the
Macclesfield District General
Hospital site which is run by East
Cheshire NHS Trust. We do not
have access to information such
as our utilities usage.

Engaging people
and communities
The CCG has a duty under
Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act
2006 (as amended) to involve
the public in commissioning.
24 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted

• a more informed and
better engaged patient
and carer population
actively involved with
the CCG
• increased ownership of
and involvement in the
CCG by member practices
• enhanced local and
national reputation
and perception of the
CCG, built up through
promotion of positive
news stories.
In pursuit of the first of
the three outcomes, the
Communications and
Engagement team developed
a new, innovative approach to
the effective engagement and
involvement of its communities.
Approved by Governing Body
in June 2018, the approach25 is
founded on nine engagement
channels embracing people
with protected characteristics
as defined by the Equality Act
2010. Bespoke engagement
mechanisms are described for
each channel, and responsibility
for key actions is assigned to
named volunteers in order to
promote community ownership
of the channel in question.
Adoption of the framework has
enabled the CCG to engage
face to face with more than
1,200 people whose needs
25 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/Downloads/Governing-Body/Meetings/2018-06-27/3.4%20%20A%20refreshed%20approach%20
to%20CCG%20Community%20Engagement%20and%20Participation.pdf
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and aspirations for healthcare
would not otherwise have been
understood.
Since June 2018, the approach
has allowed the CCG to:
• achieve more effective
representation of people
from diverse backgrounds
• further embed
engagement and
participation in the
organisation’s culture by
mandating its use by all
teams for service planning
• optimise the effectiveness
of campaigns promoting
self-care and informed use
of the NHS

• close the loop by reporting
back to engagement
channels on the outcomes
of their involvement.
The CCG expects the benefits of
the approach to be reflected in:
• external inspections
and reviews recognising
the extent to which
the organisation hears
the voice of the whole
population, including
seldom-heard groups
and those with protected
characteristics
• the engagement channels’
ability to see their views
reflected in products
including commissioning
decisions, strategies,
projects and reports
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• improvement of the health
indicators for the Cheshire
East local authority
area, helping secure “a
significantly better than
average” across the board.
The framework is expected
to enable the CCG to offer
participation opportunities
to nearly 49 per cent of its
population in 2019-20.
The CCG’s engagement of the
LGBTQ+ community under
the framework has resulted in
the LGBT Foundation inviting
Eastern Cheshire to pilot its
Pride in Practice programme
in 2019. Pride in Practice

is a quality assurance and
social prescribing programme
developed by the Foundation
to promote equitable access to
outstanding primary care for the
lesbian, gay, bi and transgender
communities. The CCG and
Foundation will collaborate
to secure the participation of
all 23 Eastern Cheshire GP
practices. Pride in Practice
began as an LGBT charter
mark and has become a vehicle
for transformation across the

health and social care sector,
influencing change at all levels.
The CCG has continued to
support the development and
operation of the HealthVoice26
patient and carer reference
group as one of its nine
engagement channels and
as an advisory committee to
the Governing Body. In 201819, HealthVoice was a formal
consultee in a 12- week public
consultation on proposals
to redesign specialist mental
health services for adults
and older people in Eastern
Cheshire, South Cheshire
and Vale Royal. HealthVoice
supporters were members of
a project team that developed
the service specification for an
integrated community stroke
rehabilitation service that was
introduced in April 2019.
Moreover, supporters were
among patients, carers, public,
staff and stakeholders engaged
on planned revisions to the
CCG’s commissioning policy
for Continuing Healthcare and
Complex Care.
To maximise attendance of
the quarterly meetings of the
HealthVoice forum, each agenda
includes an item of particular
relevance to the locality in
which the meeting is taking
place. For example, a meeting
in Congleton focused on the
CCG’s adoption of new national
standards for urgent treatment
centres and their implications
for the minor injuries unit
operated by East Cheshire
NHS Trust in Congleton War
Memorial Hospital.
Prior to each meeting, a quarterpage advertisement is taken in
the most popular newspaper
26 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Your-Views/healthvoice.htm

serving the community in
question while posters are
displayed prominently in
community settings. In addition,
the CCG publicises each
meeting in a Health Matters
column published in the four
main paid-for newspapers
circulating in Eastern Cheshire.
In collaboration with NHS South
Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal
CCG and Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust, the CCG ran a 12-week
public consultation from March
to May 2018 on proposals to
redesign specialist mental health
services for adults and older
people across the area. The
consultation invited residents
to #JoinTheConversation by
completing an online survey,
requesting a hard copy and
attending one of seven public
events offering round-table
discussions on a proposed care
model intended to strengthen
community services and crisis
care while establishing a
dementia outreach service and
ensuring excellent inpatient care
for people who needed it.
The consultation approach
was informed by a multimedia communications and
engagement strategy optimising
the use of analogue and digital
channels. Consultation materials
were developed in partnership
with service users and the
CCG’s Readers’ Panel, and were
assured for accessibility by a
supplier with expertise in public
engagement.
The partners produced an
easy-read version of the main
consultation document and
commissioned two animations
that were promoted extensively
online to foster understanding
of the proposed care model and
consultation options. Materials
were available on request in
alternative formats including
audio, large print and braille.
The effectiveness of the
consultation events was
assessed independently by
members of the partners’
patient and carer reference

groups, using criteria established
by the CCG’s communications
and engagement team.
Promotional materials stressed
that consultation findings would
be taken fully into account in
decision making and that any
changes to specialist mental
health services would be made
gradually in 2019.
A further four-week
consultation took place during
November and December 2018
on a proposed variation to
the preferred option on which
comment was invited during
the initial consultation. The
purpose of the amendment was
to maximise the retention of
inpatient beds in Macclesfield,
thus heeding concerns
expressed during the first
consultation on increased
travel distances for some
people visiting loved ones in an
inpatient bed. The additional
consultation included targeted
engagement of people requiring
inpatient rehabilitation,
recognising that this small
cohort of patients, typically
around 12 people, might be
adversely impacted by the
revised proposal depending on
where they lived. Nevertheless,
consultation of rehabilitation
patients found that, while they
would rather have remained
in their existing facility, they
favoured the accommodation in
the revised proposal to the one
in the initial preferred option.
The additional consultation
also offered three drop-in
sessions for members of the
public wishing to have their
say, together with use of digital
media to promote a dedicated
telephone number and email
address for people wishing
to comment. The further
consultation did not elicit
any material issues requiring
reconsideration of the revisions
to the preferred option.
Therefore, the new care model
for specialist mental health
services will be introduced in
2019.

The CCG managed the public
engagement that informed
the development of a new
specification for the competitive
tendering of a contract to
provide non-emergency patient
transport in Eastern Cheshire,
South Cheshire, Vale Royal,
Warrington, West Cheshire
and Wirral. The CCG publicised
the decision to award the
contract to West Midlands
Ambulance Service with effect
from April 2019, and has
subsequently managed the
partner, stakeholder and publicfacing communications needed
to support effective service
mobilisation.
Patient representatives
continued to play a vital role in
2018-19 with regards service
redesign in the CCG. Almost
all directorates in the CCG and
most projects benefitted from
direct patient representative
involvement.
The communications and
engagement team continued
to represent the CCG at various
public events of all descriptions
across Eastern Cheshire. Public
meetings Patient Participation
Group (PPG) meetings and
market places all played host to
a CCG presence and afforded
the organisation an opportunity
to communicate its messages
widely. Working collaboratively
with partners on projects of
mutual interest and benefit
to communities also helped
raise the profile of the CCG
and provided opportunity to
attract wider public interest.
Noteworthy events included
the CCG’s well-attended AGM
in August 2018, when brief
presentations on achievements,
ambitions and challenges were
followed by the screening of
a patient story filmed by the
CCG to illustrate the benefits of
integrated care. The case study
demonstrated the effective
collaboration of emergency
care, general practice and
tertiary care in the treatment
and rehabilitation of a man
who had suffered a heart
attack. Screening of the video
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was followed by a lengthy and
engaging public question time.
The communications and
engagement team achieved
increased involvement of
member practices in various
ways including publication
of the fortnightly CCG News
and provision of digital and
analogue materials with which
to support the CCG’s Stay Well
This Winter campaign and
the award-winning CATCH
app (Common Approach to
Children’s Health) it developed
with NHS South Cheshire CCG
and Cheshire East Council to
reduce avoidable demand on
urgent and emergency care by
advising parents on meeting
the healthcare needs of children
aged 0 -5. The team co-wrote
a submission that resulted in

CATCH winning the category
of “Partnership with the NHS
– Primary Care Award” at the
MediLink North of England
Healthcare Business Awards
in February 2019. Subsequent
promotion of the success
achieved significant local and
regional media coverage.
All 23 GP practices were
provided with pull-up banners
to promote GP Extended
Access offering evening and
weekend routine appointments.
The CCG also promoted the
new provision via its digital
channels plus media releases
and health columns published
by newspapers, both print and
online, plus community websites
and the websites of broadcast
media.
To support general practice
in meeting its recruitment
challenges, the communications
and engagement team
produced videos 27 promoting
new roles to which two
27 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
About-Us/New-Roles-in-GP.htm
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practices had appointed. The
posts in question were physician
associate and advanced nurse
practitioner. The videos were
posted to YouTube and screened
at a Locality Forum meeting
attended by representatives of
all practices. Attendees were
given a written case study
summarising the content of the
videos.
Exchange of learning was
also fostered by the team’s
production of written case
studies describing the benefits
of the participation of various
practices in NHS England’s Time
to Care programme enabling
the release of practitioners
from operational duties to work
collaboratively on business
process improvement, thereby

freeing capacity for increased
patient contact.
The CCG ran three multimedia campaigns in 201819 to promote self-care,
informed use of services and
healthy lifestyles as a means
of reducing avoidable demand
on healthcare. The campaigns
were:
• Help Us Help You – Stay
Well This Winter
• Noble Neighbour
• Dry January.
Noble Neighbour was conceived
exclusively by the CCG and
delivered with health and social
care partners to encourage
residents to offer practical help
to frail, vulnerable and elderly
neighbours in cold weather.
The other campaigns combined
locally-produced materials with
collateral designed nationally by
partners including NHS England.
Materials developed by the
CCG for Stay Well This Winter

included videos28 in which GPs
and pharmacists offered selfcare advice, said what they
would be doing to stay well,
and urged people in at-risk
groups to have their free flu
vaccine.
In addition, the CCG worked
with A&E Delivery Board
partners including East Cheshire
NHS Trust to design and deliver
a #HelpingFlo campaign29,
the purpose of which was to
support timely discharge of
patients ready to go home after
a hospital stay, thereby ensuring
that beds were available during
the winter for the people
who needed them most. The
campaign was underpinned by
public-facing and staff-facing
videos offering audience-specific
top tips on ensuring timely

discharge. The campaign won a
Region’s Got Talent competition
hosted by NHS Improvement
to share innovative ways of
working across the health
system.
Dry January was complemented
by a staff wellbeing campaign
encouraging colleagues to
take regular Drink-Free Days.
The campaign used literature
describing the benefits of lowrisk drinking and included a
drop-in event at which health
and social care workers were
invited to sample a range of
alcohol-free drinks. Drink-Free
Days was one of three staff
wellbeing campaigns designed
and delivered in 2018-19
by a communications and
engagement team comprising

28 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Your-Health/self-care.htm
29 http://www.eastcheshire.nhs.uk/news/
Local-campaign-aimed-at-freeing-up-hospital-beds-wins-regional-award.htm

CCG staff plus counterparts
from Cheshire East Council,
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust, East
Cheshire NHS Trust, Everybody
Sport and Leisure, NHS South
Cheshire CCG and third
sector partners. Of the other
campaigns, one supported
Know Your Numbers week by
encouraging staff to have their
blood pressure tested and to
take remedial action as required
while the other acknowledged
Mental Health Awareness
Week by promoting Five Ways
to Wellbeing, the purpose of
which was to help colleagues
“thrive, not just survive.” Daily
case studies and supportive
emails were complemented by

AGM. The communications and
engagement team published
media releases in which Eastern
Cheshire clinicians explained
why they were proud to serve
the NHS. A lunchtime picnic
was organised for CCG staff to
thank them for their dedication.
The CCG shared a wide range
of collateral developed by NHS
England for social media while
all staff added an NHS 70
banner to their email signature.
The CCG has continued to
publish weekly media releases
and health columns promoting
the organisation’s achievements
and aspirations. Positive news
stories achieving significant
coverage included the following:

The CCG uses media monitoring
software to measure the impact
of its media relations activity in
terms of sentiment, audience
reach and advertising value
equivalency of free editorial.
The communications and
engagement team has
continued to prioritise effective
internal communications as
a means of securing a shared
understanding of corporate
priorities and collective
responsibility for delivery.
Mechanisms have included
monthly staff briefings at which
teams make presentations
on significant achievements;
a weekly middle-of-theroom briefing given by an

#HelpingFlo

activities including lunchtime
walks, wellbeing lectures on
mindfulness, and hot yoga
sessions.
The CCG uses a range of
output and outcome measures
to understand awareness and
impact of its campaigns. Where
applicable, metrics are baselined
against previous comparable
campaigns. Findings are used
to inform future approaches as
required.
The CCG supported the
national celebrations for NHS
70 with activities including a
vox pop in which members of
the public were asked what
the NHS meant to them.
Responses were published to
a commemorative webpage 30
and captured on display boards
that were positioned in the
entrance to the CCG’s office
and then showcased at the
30 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News-Events/nhs-70.htm

• Patient stories illustrating
the early benefits of
five Care Communities
established across Eastern
Cheshire to provide joinedup care
• The launch of an
integrated community
stroke rehabilitation
service
• The area’s GP practices
being rated in the top
eight per cent in England
in the annual GP Patient
Survey
• Cancer care and
maternity services being
rated outstanding in
the Improvement and
Assessment Framework
• A case study supporting
the Clear on Cancer Blood
in Pee campaign by telling
the story of a man whose
life was saved by early
diagnosis and treatment of
bladder cancer.

Executive Committee member
on strategic, tactical and
operational issues of common
relevance, and development
of screensavers setting out
the CCG’s vision, values and
ambitions as expressed in its
refreshed Strategic Plan for
2018-20.
In 2019-20, the CCG will
continue its efforts to ensure
that its population is well
communicated and engaged
with as the CCG considers
the future of health and care
services in Eastern Cheshire and
undertakes consultation on local
health services.
Signed
CLARE WATSON
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

43

Accountability Report
Corporate Governance Report
Members’ Report
This report is prepared by the Governing Body on behalf of the members.

Our Member Profiles
Figure Seventeen includes details of the 23 GP Practices that compromise the membership of
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG. Each Practice has one vote.
Figure Seventeen: CCG member practice profiles
Locality Peer
Group

Member			
Practices
Population
Senior partner

Alderley Edge,

Alderley Edge Medical Practice

8,206

Dr Harry Edwin Thompson

Chelford,

Chelford Surgery,

4,046

Dr Helen Thomas

Handforth,

Handforth Health Centre

9,789

Dr Ruth Newhouse

Wilmslow

Kenmore Medical Centre

12,873

Dr Julia Huddart

Wilmslow Health Centre

12,444

Dr Mark Brennan

Bollington,

Bollington Medical Centre

11,210

Dr Tom Losel

Disley,

Mcllvride Medical Practice

5,921

Dr Paul Bowen

Poynton

Priorslegh Medical Centre

11,637

Dr Clare Stanley

The School House Surgery

4,749

Dr Mary Ann Bainbridge

Congleton,

Holmes Chapel Health Centre

12,321

Dr Stephen Tate

Holmes Chapel

Lawton House Surgery

10,777

Dr David Fray

Meadowside Medical Centre

7,781

Dr Christopher Studds

Readesmoor Group Practice

13,374

Dr Elizabeth Carter

Annandale Medical Centre,

6,121

Dr Timothy J Mallon

Manchester Road Medical Centre

7,019

Dr Philip Coney

Toft Road Surgery

9,821

Dr Jennifer Lawn

Broken Cross Surgery

5,550

Dr Ian Collyer

Cumberland House

15,519

Dr Jeffrey Hodgson

High Street Surgery

7,773

Dr Ingrid Kramer

Park Green Surgery

11,064

Dr Ruth Kenny

Park Lane Surgery

9,154

Dr Louise Hastings

South Park Surgery

12,381

Dr David Cragg

Vernova Healthcare CIC

8

N/A

Knutsford

Macclesfield

Chair and Accountable Officer
For the year 2018-19 the office of Clinical Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Paul Bowen who retired
from that role on 31 March 2019. Dr Andrew Wilson was appointed with effect from 01 April 2019.
Clare Watson was appointed Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) of the CCG from 01 January 2019 having
succeeded Jerry Hawker who previously held this role. Alex Mitchell acted into this role between the departure
of Jerry Hawker on 07 September 2019 and the appointment of Clare Watson on 01 January 2019.
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Composition of the Governing Body
Figure Eighteen indicates the composition of the Governing Body of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG during
the year 2018-19.
Figure Eighteen: CCG Governing Body members
Governing Body Member

Position

Dr Paul Bowen

GP Chair to 31 March 2019

Jerry Hawker

Chief Officer to 07 September 2018

Clare Watson

Chief Officer from 1 January 2019

Alex Mitchell

Chief Finance Officer
(Acted as Chief Officer from September to 31 December)

Dr Farhat Ahmad

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Robert Thorburn

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Mike Clark

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Jennifer Lawn

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Laura Beresford

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Gill Boston

Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement)

Peter Munday

Lay Member (Governance & Audit)

Jane Stephens

Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement)

Sheila Hillhouse

Clinical Member - Registered Nurse

Janet Walls

Clinical Member – Secondary Care Doctor

Fiona Reynolds

Director of Public Health

Members of the Governing Body without a vote in the year were Neil Evans, Commissioning Director and
Fleur Blakeman, Strategy and Transformation Director (left post in November 2018).
A biography of each member of the Governing Body can be seen on page 75.
The remuneration report provides an analysis of the split of the governing body and staff between males
and females. There have been 22 Governing Body meetings (Annual General Meeting included in this
number) during 2018-19, 11 have been held in public and 11 have been in camera.
All meetings, with the exception of the January 2019 meeting have been held with a quorate
membership. (Figure Twenty on page 46).

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Governance and Audit Committee Membership
Figure Nineteen details the composition of the Governance and Audit Committee as at 31 March 2019.
Figure Nineteen: Membership of the Governance and Audit Committee 2018-19
Committee Member (Voting)

Position

Peter Munday

Lay Member for Governance & Audit (Chair)

Jane Stephens

Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement

Dr Robert Thorburn

GP Peer group Locality Representative

		
A biography of each voting member of the Governance and Audit Committee can be seen on page 75.
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Figure Twenty: CCG Governing Body Member meeting attendance record
Member

April

May

June

July

		
Private		Private		Private		Private

Aug

Sept

Private AGM Private

Oct

Nov

Jan

Feb

March

		
Private		Private		Private		 Private		 Private

Paul Bowen
Jerry Hawker
Clare Watson
Alex Mitchell
David Gilburt
Gill Boston
Jane Stephens
Peter Munday
Fiona Reynolds
Jennifer Lawn
Mike Clark
Fahri Ahmad
Laura Beresford
Sheila Hillhouse
Robert Thorburn
Janet Walls
Fleur Blakeman
Neil Evans
In Public

In attendance

In camera

Not in attendance NM No meeting

Member not in post

Clinical Quality and Performance Committee Membership
Figure Twenty-one details the composition of the Clinical Quality and Performance Committee as at 31
March 2019.
Figure Twenty-one: Membership of the Clinical Quality and Performance Committee 2018-19
Committee Member (Voting)

Position

Dr James Milligan

CCG GP Quality Lead

Dr Jennifer Lawn

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead (Chair)

Gill Boston

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Julie Sin

Consultant in Public Health

Sally Rogers

Quality and Safeguarding Director

Sheila Hillhouse

Registered Nurse on the Governing Body

Dr Farhat Ahmad

Clinical Member - GP Peer Group Lead

		
A biography of each voting member of the Clinical Quality and Performance Committee can be seen on
page 75.
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Primary (General Medical) Care Commissioning Committee
Figure Twenty-two details the composition of the Eastern Cheshire (General Medical) Care
Commissioning Committee as at 31 March 2018.
Figure Twenty-two: Membership of the Eastern Cheshire Primary (General Medical) Care
Services Commissioning Committee 2018-19
Committee Member (Voting)

Position*

Gill Boston (Chair)

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Jane Stephens (Vice Chair)

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Jerry Hawker (until September 2018)

Chief Officer

Clare Watson (from January 2019)

Chief Officer

Alex Mitchell

Chief Finance Officer

Neil Evans

Commissioning Director

Fleur Blakeman (until November 2018) Strategy & Transformation Director
Sally Rogers (until March 2019)

Quality and Safeguarding Director

Dr Daniel Harle

General Practice Representative

Dr Jennifer Lawn

General Practice Representative

Dr Victoria Buckley

General Practice Representative

Joanne Morton

General Practice Representative

Laura Beresford

General Practice Representative

Committee Member (Non-Voting)

Position

Carla Sutton

Senior Contract Manager, NHS England

John Adams

Head of Primary Care Finance, NHS England

In attendance

Position

Dean Grice

Primary Care Commissioning Manager, ECCCG

Cllr Liz Wardlaw

Health Portfolio Holder, Cheshire East Council

Louise Barry

Healthwatch Cheshire East Representative

William Greenwood

Cheshire Local Medical Committee Representative

Dr Julie Sin

Consultant in Public Health Medicine

*Governing Body member, staff member or member practice representative of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG unless identified otherwise.

A biography of the CCG voting member of the Eastern Cheshire Primary (General Medical) Care
Commissioning Committee can be seen on page 75.

Remuneration Committee Membership
Details of the composition of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Remuneration Report.
A biography of each voting member of the Remuneration Committee can be seen on page 75.

Political and charitable donations
In 2018-19 the CCG made no political or charitable donations.

Events since the year end
The Governing Body of the CCG are considering proposals from executive management to merge with
NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS West Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG with effect from 1 April
2020. Should the Governing Body agree the proposal, this will then be subject to approval by a vote of the
membership of the CCGs and will need the formal assent of NHS England. The Governing Bodies of the CCGs
have agreed to have one joint executive team. As a result, the CCGs have appointed a joint Chief Officer in
year. The new structure may require some restructuring costs and it was agreed that these costs be shared
between the CCGs. NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has provided £168k as an estimate of its share of the costs.
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Figure Twenty-three details the composition of the Joint Commissioning Committee of the Cheshire CCGs
as at 31 March 2019.
Figure Twenty-three: Membership of the Joint Commissioning Committee of the
Cheshire CCGs 2018-19
Member

CCG

Position

Dr Paul Bowen

Eastern Cheshire

CCG GP Chair

Jerry Hawker (until Sept 2018)

Eastern Cheshire

CCG Accountable Officer

Alex Mitchell (Sept 2018-March 2019)

Eastern Cheshire

CCG Accountable Officer (interim)

Jane Stephens

Eastern Cheshire

CCG Lay Member

Fleur Blakeman (until Nov 2018)

Eastern Cheshire

CCG Executive Member

Neil Evans (from Nov 2018)

Eastern Cheshire

CCG Executive member

Dr Daniel Harle

Eastern Cheshire

CCG GP Member

Dr Andrew Wilson

South Cheshire

CCG GP Chair

Clare Watson

South Cheshire

CCG Accountable Officer

John Clough

South Cheshire

CCG Lay Member

Lynda Risk

South Cheshire

CCG Executive Member

Dr Andrew Spooner

South Cheshire

CCG GP Member

Dr Jonathan Griffiths

Vale Royal

CCG GP Chair

Clare Watson

Vale Royal

CCG Accountable Officer

Ann Gray

Vale Royal

CCG Lay Member

Tracey Cole

Vale Royal

CCG Executive Member

Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith

Vale Royal

CCG GP Member

Dr Chris Ritchieson

West Cheshire

CCG GP Chair

Alison Lee (until Sept 2018)

West Cheshire

CCG Accountable Officer

Gareth James (Sept 2018-March 2019) West Cheshire

CCG Accountable Officer

Pam Smith

West Cheshire

CCG Lay Member

Paula Wedd

West Cheshire

CCG Executive Member

Andrew McAlavey

West Cheshire

CCG GP Member

Sheila Hillhouse

-

Independent Nurse

			
A biography of the NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG voting members of the Cheshire CCGs
Joint Commissioning Committee can be seen on page 75.

Likely future
developments

have commissioned external
organisations to carry out
clinical research on our behalf.

Likely future developments
are set out throughout the
performance report included
within this annual report.

Branches
outside UK

Research and
development
As a commissioning
organisation, we do not carry
out research and development
activities ourselves, but we
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We have no branches outside
the UK.

Pension liabilities
Details of pension liabilities are
set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

External Auditor
The external auditor in the year
was Grant Thornton LLP. Fees
for external audit services are
set out in note 5 to the financial
statements. These fees relate
to the audit of the financial
statements and the provision of
a statutory report on value for
money. There is also provision
for an audit of the CCG’s
spend on mental health. No
further assurance services or
other services were provided by
external auditors.

Cost allocation and
setting of charges
The Governing Body of NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG can
certify that the CCG has
complied with HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation
and setting of charges for
information.

Complaints and
Principles for
Remedy
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
believes that the effective
management of complaints,
concerns and feedback plays a
pivotal role in supporting the
CCG to continually improve the
quality of care and healthcare
services for our patients.
The CCG also considers that
its response to complaints,
concerns and feedback raised
by our patient population is
another example of how it fulfils
the public involvement duty.
This means that NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG endeavours to go
above and beyond our statutory
function of having processes
to manage concerns, feedback
and complaints, by holding
the patient at the centre of
everything we do while seeking
out and listening to what they
are telling us.
The Complaints, Concerns
and Compliments team are
responsible for managing and
coordinating NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG’s response
to concerns, feedback or
complaints made by people
registered with an NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG GP
Practice (or their nominated
representatives).
The Complaints, Concerns and
Compliments team recognise
that raising concerns, feedback
or a complaint can sometimes
be a difficult experience for
patients and their families
or carers. The Complaints,
Concerns and Compliments
team therefore work hard to

ensure that the Patient Advice
and Liaison Service (“PALs”) and
Complaints processes which
respond to concerns, feedback
and complaints are ‘patient
friendly’. This means working
with patients and individuals
in a compassionate, sensitive
and timely manner to resolve
their concerns and identify
what changes or learning can
be implemented to prevent the
situation from recurring.
While NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG is committed to ensuring
that patients have a positive
experience of the services we
commission, we recognise that
things can and do go wrong.
The Complaints, Concerns
and Compliments team work
to ensure that it’s handling
of complaints is in line with
the Local Authority Social
Services and National Health
Service Complaints (England)
Regulations 2009 and the NHS
Constitution. The Complaints,
Concerns and Compliments
team work is also committed to
meeting the Parliamentary and
Health Service Ombudsman’s
principles of good complaint
handling:
• Getting it right: All
complaints receive a
personalised response
from a Senior Executive at
the CCG
• Being customer focused:
All complaints are
managed in partnership
with the complainant
who is kept up to date
and encouraged to
remain in contact with
the Complaints, Concerns
and Compliments
Team throughout the
investigation
• Being open and
accountable: Patients are
encouraged to complain
to the CCG, with all
complaints provided with a
full response that explains
why issues occurred and
what is being done to
prevent matters from
recurring

• Acting fairly and
proportionately:
Complaints are subject to
thorough investigations
that involve input from
multiple departments
within the CCG as well
as our commissioned
providers, where
appropriate
• Putting things right: Where
failings are identified,
the CCG acknowledges
mistakes and apologises,
setting out the actions
it will take to rectify the
issue
• Seeking continuous
improvement: The
intelligence gathered from
complaints is regularly
drawn upon to improve
the design and delivery of
our services.
In the 2018/19 financial year,
the CCG received 82 complaints
from members of the public and
56 pieces of correspondence
related to issues raised by
Members of Parliament and
other elected officials acting on
behalf of constituents.
Of the correspondence
received, 19 complaints and
three pieces of MP/elected
official correspondence were
not formally investigated by
the CCG. This was due to
reasons such as not receiving
consent from the complainant
or because the response into
the issues raised needed to be
co-ordinated and managed
by an alternative healthcare
organisation, such as in cases
where the complainant was not
registered with an NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG GP Practice or
the complaint did not relate
to services that NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG commissioned.
Of the 116 complaints and MP/
elected official correspondence
received that have been subject
to a formal investigation,
the investigation has been
completed for 95 of these cases,
of which 49 were upheld or
partially upheld.
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The most common subject
of the complaints received
that have been investigated
concerned issues related to the
commissioning of healthcare
services by the CCG.
The second most common
subject of the complaints
received and investigated
related to patients’ experiences
of care when accessing
healthcare services from our
commissioned providers.
Where a complaint relates to
a patient’s experience of care,
the CCG asks for the provider
to investigate and provide
its comments on the issues
raised. The CCG then reviews
the provider’s response to
check that all issues have been
addressed and that remedial
actions have been put in place,
including any action required by
the CCG.
These complaints often involve
multiple providers. In 2018-19
the majority of these complaints
concerned Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust, with East Cheshire NHS
Trust the second most common
and GP practices the third.
The third most common subject
of complaints and MP/elected
official correspondence subject
to investigation related to
decisions and the processing of
requests of whether individuals
were either currently or
retrospectively eligible for NHS
Continuing Healthcare. The
majority of these complaints
related to the process for
retrospectively considering
whether individuals were eligible
to receive the funding in a past
period.
The fourth most common
subject of investigated
complaints and MP/elected
official correspondence related
to the proposals to make
changes to adults and older
people’s specialist mental
health services. The CCG
undertook two periods of
public consultation on this
subject during the 2018/19
financial year. The issues raised
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in these complaints and MP/
elected official correspondence
were considered as part of the
planning and response to the
periods of consultation, which
is a further example of the
CCG meeting its legal patient
and public participation duty.
The final theme of investigated
complaints related to Prescribing
Commissioning Policy.
To ensure that the Complaints,
Concerns and Compliments
Team are continuing to
provide high-quality service
to our patients, the CCG’s
management of complaints is
overseen by the Complaints and
Concerns Sub-Committee of
the CCG Clinical, Quality and
Performance Committee that
meets monthly and reviews
anonymised copies of all
complaint responses. Feedback
from Healthwatch Cheshire
East has also been shared and
discussed at the meeting to
enhance the Complaints and
Concerns Sub-Committee’s
insight into issues that are
affecting patients in the local
area.
To support the CCG’s ability
to capture and learn from
feedback, the CCG’s PALs
service has worked closely with
providers to address a number
of immediate concerns affecting
patient’s experiences of care. In
addition, the PALs service has
pro-actively notified patients
about service changes and
developments introduced by
the CCG, including the Referral
Assistance Service. The PALs
service also kept enquirers
and members of the public
updated about the response to
the inspection of SEND services
and activities related to the
public consultations regarding
the future of adult and older
people’s specialist mental health
services.
The CCG’s PALs service has
also been a valuable resource
to support the CCG to quickly
identify themes and trends
that are impacting on patient’s
experience of care. This included
identifying, escalating and

resolving issues concerning
difficulties patients were
experiencing in contacting
services to progress their care.

Freedom of
Information
The CCG is committed to being
open and transparent, treating
its statutory requirement to
respond under the Freedom
of Information (FOI) Act31 as a
core part of achieving this aim.
In 2018-19, the CCG received
254 Freedom of Information
requests. 100% of these
requests were responded to
within the statutory timescales.
Further evidence of the CCG’s
commitment to openness and
transparency is demonstrated
through its management
of Subject Access Requests.
The CCG has managed 31
requests for information from
individuals that have been
managed in accordance with
the statutory guidance set out
in the General Data Protection
Regulation and Access to Health
Records legislation. The CCG
has regularly met the NHS Best
Practice timescale of responding
to these requests within 21
calendar days.

Professional
Concerns
As part of our ongoing
commitment to gather
intelligence that can be utilised
to continuously improve
services, the CCG encourages
health and care professionals
to provide feedback about
quality and safety issues that
affect patients through the
Professional Concerns incidents
process.
In 2018-19, the CCG received
371 Professional Concern
incidents. Each incident is
reviewed by the CCG’s GP
Quality Lead and, where
applicable, shared with providers
to investigate and put in place
31 https://www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/
foi/

measures to prevent the issue
from recurring. The responses
received from providers are
then discussed and considered
by the CCG’s Complaints and
Concern’s Sub- Committee,
with themes or concerns
escalated to the Clinical, Quality
and Performance Committee.
Regular reporting about
incidents and other intelligence
regarding the emergency
ambulance service has also been
provided to the Clinical, Quality
and Performance Committee
throughout the year.
Alongside this internal
consideration, incidents related
to our commissioned providers
are also shared with the
relevant Contract Managers for
discussion at their upcoming
contract meetings. Scheduled
meetings also take place
with local providers to review
ongoing professional concerns
to identify themes and trends
as well as opportunities for
learning.
Notable changes that have
been implemented by providers
as a result of themes and
trends identified in Professional
Concerns, include the adoption
of a standardised form to notify
GP practices of test results
from the antenatal service
and changes to the local limits
for notifying GP practices
by telephone of abnormal
pathology results.

Serious Incidents
There have been no serious
untoward incidents in relation to
data losses.
The CCG has a well-developed
process for overseeing Serious
Incidents (including Never
Events) to comply with its
obligations under the 2015
‘Serious Incident Framework’
to quality assure the services it
commissions.
The Serious Incident Group
is a sub-committee of the
CCG’s Clinical, Quality and
Performance Committee (CQ
&P). The group meets monthly
to review reports and action
plans prepared by providers in

response to Serious Incidents
(including Never Events).
This group’s remit is to hold
providers to account for the
quality and timeliness of their
Serious Incident investigations
and accompanying action plans.
These meetings are attended
by representatives of the CCG’s
main providers (East Cheshire
NHS Trust and Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust) to allow for
direct feedback and discussion
with the group. Where
appropriate, the group invites
relevant experts from within the
CCG, including Safeguarding
and Clinical Leads, to ensure
that the CCG is undertaking
a fully informed scrutiny of
any report before signing it
off. The group also escalates
themes and relevant concerns
arising from these incidents
to the Clinical, Quality and
Performance Committee and
the QUAG (Quality Operational
Performance Group).
The Serious Incident Group has
overseen 94 Serious Incidents
(including Never Events) in the
2018-19 financial year. The
majority of these incidents
involve NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG’s patients, although the
group may oversee incidents
occurring in East Cheshire NHS
Trust that relate to patients
outside of our CCG boundary as
part of our Lead Commissioner
responsibility. A CCG
representative also attends the
East Cheshire NHS Trust Serious
Incident meeting (known as the
SIRI committee) in an observer
capacity.
To facilitate and support the
sharing of learning across the
local system, CCG staff regularly
attend the Cheshire and
Merseyside ‘Quality and Safety
Forum’ and participate in NHS
England learning events such as
Human Factors and Appreciative
Inquiry. The CCG has also been
represented at the Cheshire
and Merseyside Pressure Ulcer
Steering Group.

Employee
consultation
As a relatively small employer
based in one office, our
Governing Body and Senior
Managers have day to
day contact with all of our
employees. In addition
we systematically provide
information on matters of
concern to employees through:
• Chief Officer briefings
• weekly middle-of-theroom briefings
• fortnightly staff and
membership e-newsletter
• monthly whole “team
brief” meetings
• sharing of information
on CCG intranet and
via direct email on
matters relating to such
things as development
opportunities, fraud
awareness and
employment matters
• use of web based
engagement / survey
technologies, such
as SmartSurvey and
information sharing
platforms, such as Twitter,
that allows engagement
and consultation of CCG
staff and other staff within
partner organisations
• regular 1:1s between staff
and managers.
Where appropriate, employees’
views are canvassed prior to
key decisions being made and
all employees receive formal
letters of notification where any
matters influence employment
terms and conditions.
An intensive programme of staff
engagement has been instituted
to support the CCG’s proposed
merger with NHS South
Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal
CCG and NHS West Cheshire
CCG with effect from April
2020. The Working Together
Across Cheshire programme is
underpinned by a fortnightly
newsletter issued to employees
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of all four CCGs to inform them
of the progress being made
by all designated workstreams
in preparation for merger.
In addition, weekly briefings
are given by Executive Team
members in each CCG.
The CCGs have all held two
engagement events in which
staff had their say on which
functions should remain with
the merged CCG, which should
be transferred to the two
Integrated Care Partnerships
(ICPs) proposed for Cheshire,
and which should be held by the
CCG but devolved operationally
to the ICPs. The CCGs have
appointed the Advancing
Quality Alliance to deliver two
change management courses
to support staff through the
transformation process. One of
the courses is for all staff while
the other, focusing on leading
change, is for employees
working immediately below
director level.
The merger will require the
support of the GP membership
of each CCG, and will need the
formal assent of NHS England.

Emergency
preparedness,
resilience and
response
Under guidance issued by NHS
England and under the Civil
Contingencies Act (2004)32
CCGs are classed as Category
Two responders in emergencies.
This means that the CCG must
provide reasonable assistance
when requested to do so. The
CCG is also required to ensure
that day to day health services
are maintained by our providers
in the event of an emergency.
The CCG is also required to
maintain and test a business
continuity plan.
The CCG has ensured that
our contracts with providers
contain relevant emergency
preparedness, resilience and
response elements and seek
32 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
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assurance on those providers
fulfilling contractual obligations.
This is reported back on a
regular basis to NHS England.
The CCG liaises with
NHS England directly through
its area team to support it
in its role as co-ordinator of
the emergency preparedness,
resilience and response plan
through the Local Health
Resilience Partnership (LHRP)
of which the CCG is a member
and of its sub-committees. The
CCG also provides a point of
escalation for the LHRP should
a provider fail to maintain the
capacity required.
The CCG maintains a 24/7 365
day a year on-call rota.
The CCG takes part in the NHS
England annual Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and
Response Core Standards
Assurance process. In 2018-19
the CCG submitted a
compliance level of partial
compliance. The CCG has
received notification from NHS
England in confirming that it
met the expected timescales and
submission of documentation in
relation to the assurance process
and was signed off at Board
level by NHS England.
Our self-certification is included
in the accounting officer’s
statement in the performance
report.

Register of
Interests
The CCG maintains a register
of interest and publishes this
on its website. It is updated on
a quarterly basis. The Register
of Interests can be found at:
https://www.easterncheshireccg.
nhs.uk/Meetings/managingconflicts-of-interest.htm

Conflicts of Interest
Training
In 2018 NHS England launched
a new online training package
for Managing Conflicts of
Interest. The training package
has been developed in
collaboration with NHS Clinical
Commissioners and aims to

raise awareness of the risks of
conflicts of interest and how
to identify and manage them.
The training is available in three
modules, the first of which is
mandatory for all staff within
Eastern Cheshire CCG. The
initial target date to complete
the mandatory element of the
training was 31 May 2018 and
thereafter annually.

Personal data
related incidents
There has been one serious
untoward incident formally
reported to the Information
Commissioners Office. Following
a review no further action was
required.

Modern Slavery Act
“NHS Eastern Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning
Group believes there is
no room in our society for
modern slavery and human
trafficking, we have a zero
tolerance for modern slavery
and breaches in human
rights and will ensure this
is built into the processes
and business practices that
we, are partners and our
suppliers use”.

Statement of
Disclosure to
Auditors
Each individual who is a
member of the CCG at the
time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
• so far as the member is
aware, there is no relevant
audit information of
which the CCG’s auditor
is unaware that would be
relevant for the purposes
of their audit report
• the member has taken all
the steps that they ought
to have taken in order
to make him or herself
aware of any relevant
audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.

Statement of Accountable
Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act
200633 (as amended) states that
each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an
Accountable Officer and that
Officer shall be appointed by
the NHS Commissioning Board
(NHS England). NHS England
has appointed the Clare Watson
to be the Accountable Officer of
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG .
The responsibilities of an
Accountable Officer are set
out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and
in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter. They
include responsibilities for:
• the propriety and regularity of
the public finances for which
the Accountable Officer is
answerable
• for keeping proper
accounting records (which
disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the
financial position of the
Clinical Commissioning Group
and enable them to ensure
that the accounts comply
with the requirements of the
Accounts Direction)
• for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s
assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities)
• the relevant responsibilities
of accounting officers under
Managing Public Money
• ensuring the CCG exercises
its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically
(in accordance with Section
140 of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as
amended)) and with a view
33 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/pdfs/ukpga_20060041_en.pdf

to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of
services (in accordance with
Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended))
• ensuring that the CCG
complies with its financial
duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended).
Under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended),
NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group
to prepare for each financial
year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set
out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must
give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of
its income and expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position
and cash flows for the financial
year.
In preparing the accounts, the
Accountable Officer is required
to comply with the requirements
of the Government Financial
Reporting Manual and in
particular to:
• observe the Accounts
Direction issued by NHS
England, including the
relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and
apply suitable accounting
policies on a consistent basis
• make judgements and
estimates on a reasonable
basis
• state whether applicable
accounting standards as
set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual
have been followed, and
disclose and explain any
material departures in the
accounts; and

Clare Watson
Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
• prepare the accounts on a
going concern basis; and
• confirm that the Annual
Report and Accounts as a
whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take
personal responsibility for the
Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required
for determining that it is fair ,
balanced and understandable.
As the Accountable Officer, I
have taken all the steps that I
ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to
establish that NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information. So
far as I am aware , there is no
relevant audit information of
which the auditors are unaware.
Signed
CLARE WATSON
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Annual Governance Statement
Introduction and
context
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is
a body corporate established
by NHS England on 1 April
2013 under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning
group’s statutory functions
are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended). The CCG’s general
function is arranging the
provision of services for persons
for the purposes of the health
service in England. The CCG is,
in particular, required to arrange
for the provision of certain
health services to such extent as
it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of
its local population. As at 1 April
2018, the clinical commissioning
group is not subject to any
directions from NHS England
issued under Section 14Z21
of the National Health Service
Act 2006. Further detail about
Eastern Cheshire and NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG can
be found in the Performance
Report on page 7 of the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018-19.

Scope of
responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have
responsibility for maintaining a
sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement
of the clinical commissioning
group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding
the public funds and assets
for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my
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responsibilities as set out under
the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and
in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring
that the clinical commissioning
group is administered
prudently and economically
and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety
and regularity. I also have
responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system
of internal control within the
clinical commissioning group
as set out in this governance
statement.

Governance
arrangements and
effectiveness
The main function of the
Governing body is to ensure
that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for
ensuring that it exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently
and economically and complies
with such generally accepted
principles of good governance
as are relevant to it.
The CCG is a clinically led
membership organisation
made up of 23 practices. The
members of the CCG are
responsible for determining
the governing arrangements
for the organisation and are
represented on the Governing
Body by elected General
Practice Locality Peer Group
representatives.
The group demonstrates its
accountability to its members,
local people, stakeholders and
NHS England in a number of
ways, including:

• publishing its constitution
• appointing independent
lay members/persons and
non-GP clinicians to its
Governing Body
• holding meetings of its
Governing Body and its
Primary (General Medical)
Care Commissioning
Committee in public
• publishing a
commissioning
(Operational) plan
annually
• complying with local
authority health and
adult social care overview
and scrutiny committee
requirements
• meeting annually in public
to publish and present its
annual report
• producing externally
audited annual accounts
• by being a member of
the Cheshire East Health
and Wellbeing Board
and contributing to the
development of the local
Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment and local Joint
Health and Wellbeing Plan.
The CCG is accountable
for exercising the statutory
functions of the group and may
grant authority to act on its
behalf to:
• any of its 23 member
practices
• its Governing Body
• its employees
• a committee or subcommittee of NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG.
The extent of the authority to
act of the respective bodies
and individuals depends on the

power delegated to them by
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCGs
Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation and/or through the
Terms of Reference of the:
• Governing Body
• Governing Body
Committees
• Governing Body subcommittees
• Executive Committee
• Joint committees.
The CCG remains accountable
for all of its functions, including
those it has delegated. In
discharging the functions of the
CCG that have been delegated,
it’s Governing Body and its
committees, joint committees,
sub-committees and individuals:
• comply with NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCGs principle of
good governance

• operate in accordance with
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCGs
Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation
• comply with NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCGs Standing
Orders
• comply with NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCGs
arrangements for
discharging its statutory
duties
• where appropriate, ensure
the member practices have
had the opportunity to
contribute to NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCGs decision
making process.
In 2018-19 the CCG had the
following committees and
sub-committees which were

accountable to the
Governing Body:
• Governance and Audit
Committee
• Remuneration Committee
• Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee
• Primary (General Medical)
Care Commissioning
Committee
• Joint Commissioning
Committee of the Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning
Groups.
Details about each Committee,
including their Terms of
Reference can be found on the
CCG website at: https://www.
easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
About-Us/our-structure.htm

Figure Twenty-four: Governance structure of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
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Governance and
Audit Committee
The Governance and Audit
Committee’s key role is to
ensure that NHS Eastern
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group has appropriate
arrangements in place to
ensure it exercises its functions
effectively, efficiently and
economically and in accordance
with any generally accepted
principles of good governance
that are relevant to it. This
includes ensuring that effective
Internal and External audit
functions are in place and
reviewed on a regular basis.
Committees are generally
scheduled bi-monthly and an
indication of attendance is
given in Figure Twenty-five.
Attendance figures relate only
to voting members of the
Committee. Please note that
there were changes to the
membership of the committee
in year.

All meetings held have been
quorate in membership as
outlined within its Terms of
Reference.

Remuneration
Committee
Please see page 67 for the
Remuneration and Staff
Report for more details on the
remuneration committee and its
attendance record.

Clinical Quality
and Performance
Committee
The role of the committee is to
assure the CCG Governing Body
that there is effective scrutiny
relating to areas of concern
and achievement that affect
patient safety by reviewing the
following areas by provider
directly commissioned by the
CCG:
• patient experience

• patient safety incidents or
serious untoward incidents
• complaints, PALs and
professional concerns
trends
• mortality and morbidity
data
• progress against CQUIN
• key national targets
• Adult and Children’s
Safeguarding.
The committee also approves
the annual quality improvement
priorities, and objectives,
contained within the
Operational Plan and agrees key
information requirements to
monitor progress to meet these
objectives.
Meetings are scheduled monthly
and an indication of attendance
throughout the year is given in
Figure Twenty-six. Attendance
figures relate only to voting
members of the Committee.
Please note that there were
changes to the membership of
the committee in year.

Figure Twenty-five: Governance and Audit Committee member attendance 2018-19
2018
Member

2019

Apr

May

July

Sept

Dec

Feb

March

Jane Stephens

3

X

3

3

3

3

3

Robert Thorburn

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

Peter Munday

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

Figure Twenty-six: Clinical Quality and Performance Committee Membership attendance 2018-19
2018
Member

2019

May

July

Sept

Nov

Jan

Feb

Mar

Dr Jenny Lawn (Chair) 

3

3

3

3

3

3

X

Gill Boston

3

3

3

3

3

X

X

Dr Fahri Ahmad

3

3

3

3

3

3

X

Dr James Milligan

3

3

3

3

X

3

3

Sally Rogers

3

X

X

X

3

X

X

Sheila Hillhouse

X

3

3

3

3

X

X

Dr Julie Sin

3

X

X

X

3

3

3

3 In attendance

NM No meeting

Not in post/no longer in post

All meetings held have been quorate in membership as outlined within its Terms of Reference.
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Primary (General
Medical) Care
Commissioning
Committee

relating to the commissioning,
procurement and management
of primary general medical
services under section 83 of the
NHS Act except those relating
to the Reserved Functions of
NHS England.

The role of the Committee shall
be to carry out the functions

of attendance throughout the
year is given in Figure Twentyseven. Attendance figures
relate only to voting members
of the Committee. Please note
that there were changes to the
membership of the committee
in year

Meetings are held in public
and in camera and indication

Figure Twenty-seven: Primary (General Medical Care) Commissioning Committee Membership
attendance 2018-2019
2018
Member

April

July

2019
Oct

Nov

Jan

March

Gill Boston (Chair)

3

3

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

X

NM

Jane Stephens (Vice Chair)

X

X

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

Jerry Hawker

3

3

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM		

Neil Evans

3

3

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

Alex Mitchell

X

X

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

Fleur Blakeman

3

X

3

NM

3

NM

X

NM		 NM		

Sally Rogers

3

X

X

NM

X

NM

X

NM

X

NM

X

NM

Laura Beresford

3

3

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

Joanne Morton

3

3

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

NM

3

Dr Vicky Buckley

3

3

3

NM

X

NM

X

NM

X

NM

X

		

NM

Fiona Green													
3
NM
X
NM
(Deputising for Dr Buckley)
X
X
X
NM
X
NM
X
NM
Dr Jennifer Lawn

3

3

3

NM		NM

3

NM

3

NM

X

NM

Dr Daniel Harle

3

3

3

NM

X

NM

3

NM

X

NM

3

NM

													
3 In attendance

In Public

Not in post/no longer in post

In camera

NM No meeting

All meetings held have been quorate in membership as outlined within its Terms of Reference.

Joint
Commissioning
Committee of the
Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning
Groups
The Committee is responsible
for exercising the following
functions:
• delegated decision
making authority for
recommendations
made by NHS Cheshire

and Merseyside for
adoption across Cheshire,
as outlined with the
Committees Annual
Workplan and CCG Scheme
of Reservation and
Delegation
• strategic oversight
and development of
the workplan for the
establishment of unified
health commissioning
across Cheshire, providing
recommendations
for adoption to CCG
Governing Bodies and
endorsement by Health
and Wellbeing Boards

• delegated decision
making authority on
commissioning services
at scale, as outlined with
the Committees Annual
Workplan and CCG Scheme
of Reservation and
Delegation.
Meetings are held in public
and in camera and indication
of attendance throughout the
year is given in Figure Twenty
Eight. Attendance figures relate
only to voting members of the
Committee.
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In Public

Not in post/no longer in post

In camera

NM No meeting

All meetings held have been quorate in membership as outlined within its Terms of Reference.

3 In attendance

									
2018
Member
CCG
May
July
Sept
Nov
Dr Paul Bowen
Eastern Cheshire
3
3
X
X
3
3
3
Jerry Hawker (until Sept 2018)
Eastern Cheshire
3
3
3
3
X
Alex Mitchell (Sept 2018-March 2019)
Eastern Cheshire
3
3
3
Jane Stephens
Eastern Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
Fleur Blakeman (until Nov 2018)
Eastern Cheshire
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
Neil Evans (from Nov 2018)
Eastern Cheshire
X
X
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Daniel Harle
Eastern Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Andrew Wilson
South Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Clare Watson
South Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
John Clough
South Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Lynda Risk
South Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Andrew Spooner
South Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Jonathan Griffiths (Chair)
Vale Royal
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Clare Watson
Vale Royal
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Ann Gray
Vale Royal
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
Brian Roberts (on behalf of Ann Gray)
Vale Royal
3
3
Terry Savage (on behalf of Ann Gray)
Vale Royal
3
3
3
Tracey Cole
Vale Royal
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith
Vale Royal
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Dr Chris Ritchieson
West Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
Alison Lee (until Sept 2018)
West Cheshire
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
Gareth James (Sept 2018-March 2019)
West Cheshire
3
3
3
Pam Smith
West Cheshire
3
3
3
3
3
3
Alan Whittle (on behalf of Pam Smith)		
3
Paula Wedd
West Cheshire
3
3
X
X
3
3
3
Andrew McAlavey
West Cheshire
3
3
X
X
3
3
3
Sheila Hillhouse
Independent
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
Louise Barry
HealthWatch
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
Laura Marsh
West Cheshire
3
3
X
X
X
3
X
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
X
X

3
X
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
X
X

Jan
3
X
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
X
X

2019
X
X
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
X

March
X
X
3
X
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
X
3
3
3
3
X

Figure Twenty-eight: Joint Commissioning Committee membership Attendance 2018-19

Compliance with
the UK Corporate
Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to
comply with the UK Code of
Corporate Governance.
This Governance Statement
is intended to demonstrate
how we are seeking to comply
with good practice principles
set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

Discharge of
Statutory Functions
During establishment, the
arrangements put in place by
the CCG and explained within
the Corporate Governance
Framework were developed
with extensive expert external
legal input, to ensure
compliance with the all relevant
legislation. That legal advice also
informed the matters reserved
for Membership Body and
Governing Body decision and
the scheme of reservation and
delegation.
In light of recommendations
of the 1983 Harris Review,
the clinical commissioning
group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As
a result, I can confirm that the
clinical commissioning group
is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions
for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and
power has been clearly allocated
to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their
structures provide the necessary
capability and capacity to
undertake all of the clinical
commissioning group’s statutory
duties.

The Clinical
Commissioning
Group Risk
Management
Framework
The CCGs approach to risk
management is contained
within its Integrated Risk
Management Strategy and
Policy document, which
defines the risk management
process, responsibilities and the
identification and evaluation of
operational and strategic risks
as outlined within its Assurance
Framework reporting.
The identification of risks is
the responsibility of all staff
and these risks are captured
through the following points of
consolidation:
• through the work of
committees, where they
are standing agenda items
• Programme and Project
Boards, including public
facing programmes
• Governing Body and
Executive Committee
• external Providers and
Stakeholders
• complaint management
and serious untoward
incident logs (Including
Information Governance
breaches).
These risks are captured on the
corporate risk log and evaluated
by the Executive Committee,
on a monthly basis who take a
view on the appropriateness of
controls, scoring and actions to
mitigate the risks.
The Governing Body Assurance
Framework is a document which
contains a detailed view of risks
that may have a significant
impact on the achievement
of corporate objectives. This
document is published for
consideration by the Governing
Body each month and is
available via the CCG website,
prior to any meeting allowing it

to be reviewed and challenged
by the members of the public.
Responses to the Assurance
Framework by the Governing
Body are managed by the
Executive Committee who
monitor and report progress.
Risk management is at the
core of the commissioning
process along with equality
impact assessments and quality
impact assessments which are
considered as part of any new
business case development and
review and feature within all
Governing Body papers.
The CCG Governance and
Audit Committee is responsible
for maintaining oversight of
the risk management process
and reviews the Risk Log and
Assurance Framework on a
regular basis. This committee
is also responsible for gaining
assurances that adequate
arrangements are in place for
countering fraud and reviews
the outcomes of counter fraud
work. The CCG Executive
also has the responsibility of
reviewing and monitoring those
risks within the Governing
Body Assurance Framework
appropriate to the remit of
Committee, ensuring that any
identified risks allocated to
the Committee are actioned
appropriately and that
assurances are sought.

Capacity to
Handle Risk
The Governing Body is
responsible for the overall
governance of the organisation
and is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system
of internal control, including
systems and resources for
managing all types of risk. The
Governing Body has ratified
the various risk based policies
through the Governance and
Audit Committee. These include
Standards of Business Conduct,
Safeguarding Adults and
Children, Counter Fraud process
and Information Governance
policies as well as reviewing the
Integrated Risk Management
Strategy.

59

Mandatory staff training
includes Safeguarding, Counter
Fraud, Information Governance
as well as Safety Awareness
training. The CCG encourages
its staff to seek, be mindful
of and adopt best practice
guidance to minimise and
manage risk – both personal
and corporate.

Risk Assessment
The system of internal control
and governance within the CCG
is based on an on-going risk
management process that is
embedded in the organisation
and combines the following
elements:

• the CCG has a published
Integrated Risk
Management Strategy and
Policy document that is
available to all staff on the
CCGs Intranet. The purpose
of this policy is to ensure
that the CCG manages
risk in all areas using a
systematic and consistent
approach

• all risks are reviewed by
the Executive Committee
on a regular basis, thus
ensuring that the level
of risk reporting is in line
with expectations and
policy, as well as ensuring
that adequate and timely
mitigating actions are
being undertaken
• the Assurance
Framework is the key
risk identification tool
for the CCG and informs
its overall risk profile. It
contains the significant
risks to the achievement
of the organisation’s
objectives as identified
by the Governing Body,
Committees and staff
within the organisation.
The Assurance Framework
enables the Governing
Body to monitor
the effectiveness of
controls and governance
arrangements required to
minimise the principal risks
• the Governance and
Audit Committee has the
delegated responsibility
to keep the risk
management processes
and policies under
scrutiny. It discharges
this responsibility by
reviewing the corporate
risk log, the risk logs of
significant programmes,
the Governing Body
Assurance Framework and
the policies supporting risk
management.
The CCG is confident that it has
a robust Assurance Framework
process in place that enables

mitigating action plans to be
effectively monitored by risk
owners and the Governing
Body.
The Governing Body Assurance
Framework is a published
document available on the
public-facing CCG website.
Through the Governing
Body Assurance Framework,
significant strategic risks are
presented to the Governing
Body at each Governing Body
meeting with a list of actions
for review and comment and
to provide a level of assurance
to the CCG as a whole that
these risks are being addressed
appropriately. Each risk on the
Governing Body Assurance
Framework has an identified
risk owner, Executive/Director
level lead and designated CCG
Committee responsible for
oversight.
The Governing Body has a
Governing Body Assurance
Framework “deep dive”
process where individual risks
are examined in depth on
a rotational basis, with risk
owners required to present
a detailed explanation of the
risk, its background and the
actions being taken to mitigate
it. Figure Twenty-nine shows
the Governing Body Assurance
Framework ‘Deep Dive’ topics
delivered to and considered by
the Governing Body throughout
2018-19.
The significant risks that appear
on the Governing Body Assurance Framework at the end of
the 2018-19 financial year can
be seen in Figure Thirty.

Figure Twenty-nine: Governing Body Assurance Framework Deep Dive Topics 2018-19
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Month

Governing Body Assurance Framework Deep Dive Topic

April

GBAF 280 2017-18 QIPP Programme (Financial Recovery)

June

GBAF 371 Primary Care Support England

July

GBAF 506 Dermatology

October

GBAF 00023 Non Delivery of the NHS Constitutional A&E Four Hour

		

Figure Thirty: NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG Governing Body Assurance Framework
Significant Risks as of 31 March 2019
GBAF
GBAF Risk
Risk No		

Risk
rating

00109

The CCG has a lack of capability and capacity to deliver our statutory

12

00110

Failure to deliver an affordable commissioning plan to meet the needs		
of the population
12

00111

Failure to commission Integrated Services

16

00112

Failure to retain local needs based commissioning approach

8

00114

The CCG fails to commission services which deliver the expected levels of quality		
or performance
12

			
Very high risk
High risk

Throughout 2018-19 the following risks have been removed from the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (Figure Thirty-one):
Figure Thirty-one: NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG Governing Body Assurance
GBAF
Risk No

GBAF
Risk

Month
Removed

GBAF242 East Cheshire NHS Trust Underlying Financial Position

April

GBAF282 2017/18 Financial Deficit

April

GBAF245 Non Delivery of the NHS constitutional standard for A&E Waiting Time

April

Note:

Following a Governing Body Workshop in September a full revision of the		
Assurance Framework was undertaken, which resulted in the following risks
November
being removed and a revision to the numbering system.

00023

Non Delivery of the NHS Constitutional A&E Four Hour Standard

November

00025

Ambulance Response Programme

November

00026

Premises Lease Expiration

November

00027

Redesign of Adult Mental Health Services

November

00028

Dermatology

November

00029

Sustainability of Clinical Services at East Cheshire NHS Trust

November

00032

Mental Health Services Capacity – Children and Adolescents		
Mental Health (CAMHS)
November

00033

Non Urgent Patient Transport

November

00043

2018/19 QIPP Delivery

November

00058

Primary Care Support England

November

			
The Clinical Commissioning
Group assesses risk on a
continuous basis through
its committee functions,
which gather and review risk
information submitted to them
by staff, programme boards,
providers and internal and

external bodies involved in
the work of the CCG. Risks
that can be fully managed by
the receiving committee or
programme board are managed
within that structure, those
that may have an impact on
achieving CCG objectives will

be escalated to the Executive
Committee. Where appropriate
these risks will be added to
the Governing Body Assurance
Framework, ensuring that they
receive adequate exposure,
scrutiny and management at a
Governing Body level.
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Other sources of
assurance

The Clinical
Commissioning
Group Internal
Control
Framework
A system of internal control
is the set of processes and
procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group
to ensure it delivers its
policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and
prioritise the risks, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and
to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control
allows risk to be managed
to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it
can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
has established and maintains,
via the Governance and
Audit Committee, the Clinical
Quality and Performance
Committee and the Executive
Committee, continual reporting,
auditing and monitoring to
ensure standards are being
implemented, and therefore,
risk is controlled to the lowest
reasonably practicable levels.
Methods for identifying and
managing levels of risk would
include:
• Internal methods, such
as; Incidents, complaints,
claims and audits,
project risks based on
the achievement of
project objectives, patient
satisfaction surveys, risk
assessments, surveys
including staff surveys,
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whistle-blowing and
contract quality monitoring
of commissioned services
• External methods, such as;
media, national reports,
new legislation, NPSA
surveys, reports from
assessments/inspections by
external bodies, reviews of
partnership working.
All identified risks are recorded
and managed through the
organisational risk register and
risks identified which could
impact on the achievement of
the CCG’s strategic objectives
are recorded and managed
through the Governing Body
Assurance Framework.
All groups reporting to the
CCG Governing Body highlight
risks for inclusion within the
organisational risk register or
assurance framework.
Risk identification is also
obtained from member practices
through practice visits, GP
Members locality meetings,
patient engagement forums,
practice feedback forums and
practice managers meetings.

Information
Governance
The NHS Information
Governance Framework
sets the processes and
procedures by which the NHS
handles information about
patients and employees, in
particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS
Information Governance
Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit
and the annual submission
process provides assurances
to the clinical commissioning
group, other organisations and
to individuals that personal
information is dealt with
legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
The CCG completed and made
its Data Security and Protection
Toolkit submission in March

2019, with a compliance score
of 100%. Mersey Internal Audit
(MIAA) reported an overall
assessment of “Substantial
Assurance” relating to the
governance framework as
outlined in the Data Security
and Protection Toolkit Report
2018-19 for NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG.
We place high importance
on ensuring there are robust
information governance
systems and processes in place
to help protect patient and
corporate information. We
have established an information
governance management
framework and are developing/
have developed information
governance processes and
procedures in line with the
information governance toolkit.
We have ensured all staff
undertake annual information
governance training and have
implemented a staff information
governance handbook to
ensure staff are aware of their
information governance roles
and responsibilities.
There are processes in place
for incident reporting and
investigation of serious
incidents. We are developing
information risk assessment and
management procedures and a
programme will be established
to fully embed an information
risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified
risks.
There were no level 1 or 2
or near miss information
governance breaches reported
since April 2018 to the end
of the financial year. Some
minor incidents were reported
within year and logged by the
Caldicott Guardian and reported
to the Corporate Information
Governance team for
assessment and recommended
action. Most did not contain
any personal information
and as such were not
considered breaches, although
recommendations to improve
processes were actioned.

Control Issues
Control issue

Mitigating actions

00109
The CCG has a lack
of capability and
capacity to deliver
our statutory
duties

Use of interim staff to cover vacancies. Substantive staff maintaining controls
and taking on broader responsibilities.

00110
Failure to deliver
an affordable
commissioning
plan to meet the
needs of
the population

The CCG has in place a number of mitigating actions to support the
commissioning of services within its agreed financial control total.

Working with other Cheshire CCGs to share capacity and capability as well as
reducing duplication of effort on defined key operational work areas.
Working Together Across Cheshire work streams are developing plans as to how
the single management approach will be implemented.

2018/19 Financial Plan (including savings plan - QIPP and activity plan) Approved by the Governing Body Financial Recovery Plan - Approved by the
Governing Body and signed off by NHS England.
Agreed with NHS England a financial control total (deficit) for 2018/19 of £15m.
NHS England confirmed £15m available to ECCCG via the commissioner
sustainability fund. Contracts in place with each provider to monitor
performance / outcomes.
2018/19 - 2019/20 Strategic Priorities approved by Governing Body.
Mitigated the £3.5m of risks identified within the financial plan. Preparation
of monthly financial information that includes reporting of year to date
expenditure, progress against savings plans and predicted forecast out turn.

00111
Failure to
commission
Integrated
Services

Negotiate and agree with providers the adoption of the commissioning
specification.
Support the development and maturity of GP networks and Care Communities
via Cheshire East Partnership Board.
Development of a place strategy that outlines future landscape and required
funding. Work with regulators for additional funding to accelerate the
development of Care Communities.
Work with our providers to shift available resources from hospital based services
to care in the community.

00112
Failure to
retain local
needs based
commissioning
approach

Through the Commissioning Cycle the CCG identifies areas where the CCG
has greatest opportunity to improve the outcomes and services available to our
population; this informs development of our commissioning intentions.

00114
The CCG fails to
commission
services which
deliver the
expected levels of
quality or
performance

Improvement plans are in place with those providers not meeting the local and
national standards included in their contracts. This includes Mental Health access
standards in IAPT and CAMHS services, Elective Care (Referral to Treatment),
Cancer Services, Diagnostics, Ambulance Response Programme (ARP) and
delivery of the 4 hour A&E Standard.

Regular performance monitoring continues to take place through the quarterly
reports to the Governing Body, bi monthly reports to Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee and the Executive Committee. Development of a more
comprehensive JSNA is planned and will help identify the wider needs of our
population.

The Cheshire East Better Care Fund has developed health and social care
schemes to support improvements in access to urgent care services. This
supports delivery of improvements in compliance with the A&E 4 hour Standard.
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Business Critical
Models
The CCG has business critical
models for planning, forecasting
expenditure and commitments
and financial evaluation of
projects. Forecasting and
financial planning systems are
based on systems provided by
NHS England and therefore
are not subjected to specific
assurance processes by the
CCG. All business critical models
are considered as part of the
internal audit planning process
and assurance as needed is
gained through that process.

Third Party
Assurances
The CCG relies on the services
of many providers for its
administrative systems including
Shared Business Services for the
Accounting System, a shared
payment system developed
operated by Primary Care
Support England for payments
to General Practices, Midlands
and Lancashire CSU for the
provision of IT infrastructure
and St Helens and Knowsley
Hospitals NHS Trust for payroll
services.
The CCG receives assurance
reports, some of which are
addressed to other NHS
organisations, on the following:
• report on NHS Business
Services Authority:
Prescriptions Payments
Processes
• report on NHS Digital’s
Description of its Control
System for GP payments
to providers of General
Practice Service in England
• report on NHS Shared
Business Services Limited’s
Description of its Control
System for Finance and
Accounts Services and
on the Suitability of
Design and Operating
effectiveness of its controls
for the period 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2019.
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Review of
economy,
efficiency &
effectiveness of the
use of resources
The CCG has had a challenging
year and has incurred a
deficit of £14.9m which has
been offset by the receipt of
Commissioner Support Funding
(CSF) of £15m leading to a
surplus of £0.1M. This was an
improvement on the 2017-18
deficit of £18.5m.
We have delivered the business
rules as set by NHS England as
modified by the CSF funding
conditions.
The planned deficit for 201819 agreed by the Governing
Body of the CCG as part of
the 2018-19 Financial Plan was
supported by NHS England.
Progress against this plan has
been routinely reported to
the Governing Body through
the Finance and Performance
reports prepared by our
Chief Finance Officer which
have reported the continuing
financial pressure from
increased demand for services
combined with price increases
from commercial providers that
have not been matched by
increases in the CCGs spending
allocation.
We have successfully delivered
£8.4 of Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention
(QIPP) schemes for the CCG and
continue with the wider system
working via the Caring Together
programme with key partners
and NHS Regulators to identify
ways in which as many services
as possible can continue to be
provided locally. At the same
time, ensuring that services are
clinically sustainable, financially
viable and continue to offer
the highest possible quality
of care and treatment within
the resources available. The
CCG anticipates that 2019-20
will be the year in which the
care economy will be able to

progress plans to transform local
health and care services and the
way in which we commission
services.

Feedback from
delegation chains
regarding business,
use of resources
and responses
to risk
The CCG has a defined scheme
of reservation and delegation,
approved by its GP Membership
and Governing Body. This
identifies which functions are
reserved for the Governing
Body, its sub-committees,
committees of the CCG and
key individuals, and which
are delegated for discharge
across the CCG in line with
effective use of resources and
risk management processes.
In support of this the CCG has
financial procedures which
identify how the standing orders
should be applied by the CCG.
The Governing Body receives at
each of its monthly meetings
held in public assurance from
financial reporting of current
position versus budget and
minutes of those committees
with delegated functions are
presented to members from
the Chairs of the respective
Committees.

Counter fraud
arrangements
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (the
CCG) is committed to reducing
the level of fraud, corruption
and bribery within the NHS
to an absolute minimum
and keeping it at that level,
freeing up public resources
for better patient care. The
organisation policies relates to
all forms of fraud, bribery and
corruption and is intended to
provide direction and help to
employees, office holders and
all other staff who work for

and with the CCG who may
identify suspected fraud which
comply with NHS Counter
Fraud Authority Standards for
NHS Commissioners 2018-19 Fraud, bribery and corruption.
Our Counter Fraud Service is
provided by the Anti-Fraud
Service of the Mersey Internal
Audit Agency (MIAA). An
Accredited Counter Fraud
Specialist is contracted to
undertake counter fraud work
proportionate to identified risks.
We have in place an Anti–Fraud
Plan for 2019/20 agreed and
monitored by our Governance
and Audit Committee.
MIAA contracted as the CCG
lead for Counter Fraud and has
assessed itself as “green” in
terms of compliance with the
standards via the annual selfassessment. During January
2018, ECCCG were subject
to an external inspection
by the NHS Counter Fraud
Authority who quality assessed
our compliance against the
NHS Protect standards for
commissioners. The report
overall supported ECCCG selfassessment and made a limited
number of recommendations to
improve compliance which have
been actioned in 2018-19.
Our Anti-Fraud Plan includes
core work which takes
account of the NHS Counter
Fraud Authority’s (NHSCFA)
Organisational Strategy 20172020, risks identified through
applying the MIAA Fraud Risk
Assessment Tool (FRAT) and any
specific management requests.
MIAA Anti-Fraud insights,
including benchmarking,
briefings and anti-fraud related
events are integral to the plan
and will be part of the ongoing
programme of prevention and
detection exercises designed to
protect staff and ensure that
they are fully aware of the fraud
risks we face.
Our Governance and Audit
Committee receives regular

progress updates on the
delivery of the Anti-Fraud Plan
and an annual report that
summaries activity throughout
the year, including reporting
against each of the Standards
for Commissioning as
recommended by NHSCFA.
Our Chief Finance Officer
has the responsibility for
tackling fraud, bribery and
corruption and maintains
regular contact with our AntiFraud service to ensure any
actions and recommendations
are considered and executed
promptly and effectively. They
also report to the Governance
and Audit Committee on a
regular basis in conjunction
with the Anti- Fraud Service
and report to the Governing
Body, where issues of sufficient
moment arise. Appropriate
action is taken regarding any
NHS Protect quality assurance
recommendations as advised by
our Accredited Counter Fraud
Specialist.

Head of Internal
Audit Opinion
Following completion of the
planned audit work for the
financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the
Head of Internal Audit issued
an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the clinical
commissioning group’s
system of risk management,
governance and internal control.
The Head of Internal Audit
concluded that:

Substantial Assurance,
can be given that
there is a good system
of internal control
designed to meet
the organisation’s
objectives, and that
controls are generally
being applied
consistently.

Conflicts of Interest
As required by NHS England’s
Managing Conflicts of Interest:
Revised Statutory Guidance
for CCGs (June 2017), an
audit of conflicts of interest
was completed following the
prescribed framework issued
by NHS England. The following
compliance levels were assigned
to each scope area:
1. Governance Arrangements
Partially Compliant
2. Declarations of interests
and gifts and hospitality
Fully Compliant
3. Register of interests,
gifts and hospitality and
procurement decisions
Partially Compliant
4. Decision making processes
and contract monitoring
Partially Compliant
5. Reporting concerns and
identifying and managing
breaches / non compliance
Fully Compliant
During the year, Internal Audit
issued the following audit
reports:
6 substantial assurance
opinions:
• Financial Systems Key
Controls
• Better Care Fund
• Programme Management
Office Approach and Merger
Review
• Primary Care Commissioning
and Contracting: Governance
• CHC Follow Up
• Data Security & Protection
Toolkit
0 moderate assurance
opinions.
1 limited assurance opinions:
• Continuing Healthcare and
Complex Care: Financial
Controls
0 no assurance opinions.
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The internal auditor raised
no critical and 7 high risk
recommendations in respect
of the above assignments. The
high risk recommendations
were in relation to the review of
Continuing Healthcare Financial
controls.

Audit Committee. These include
Standards of Business Conduct,
Safeguarding Adults and
Children, Counter Fraud process
and Information Governance
policies as well as reviewing the
Integrated Risk Management
Strategy.

Continuing Healthcare is a
service which is hosted by NHS
South Cheshire CCG on behalf
of five CCGs and accordingly
the recommendations on
controls noted above included
some matters that affect the
service as a whole and some
matters that affect the CCG.

Mandatory staff training
includes Safeguarding, Counter
Fraud, Information Governance
as well as Safety Awareness
training. The CCG encourages it
staff to seek, be mindful of and
adopt best practice guidance to
minimise and manage risk- both
personal and corporate.

Accordingly, the CCGs that
use the service have agreed a
joint action plan to address the
recommendations made and are
working together to implement
those recommendations.

Review of
Effectiveness

Review of the
effectiveness of
governance, risk
management and
internal control
As Accountable Officer I have
responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of
internal control within NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG.

Capacity to
Handle Risk
The Governing Body is
responsible for the overall
governance of the organisation
and is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system
of internal control, including
systems and resources for
managing all types of risk. The
Governing Body has ratified
the various risk based policies
through the Governance and
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My review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control
is informed by the work of the
CCGs internal auditors MIAA
and the executive managers and
clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance
of the internal control
framework. I have drawn
on performance information
available to me. My review is
also informed by comments
made by external auditors in
their annual audit letter and
other reports.
The Governing Body assurance
framework provides me with
evidence that the effectiveness
of control that manage risks to
the CCG achieving its principle
objectives have been reviewed.

Conclusion
I would like to thank the role
of the Governance and Audit
Committee and both Internal
and External Audit in providing
assurance and advice around
our governance arrangements.
In conclusion I am confident
that the CCG is undertaking
the necessary actions to
address the issues raised by
our internal auditors regarding
our Governance arrangements
and I am happy to confirm that
no significant control issues
have been identified in the
preparation of the 2018 - 2019
Annual Report and Accounts.
Signed
CLARE WATSON
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration
Report for
2018-19
Introduction
Section 234B and Schedule
7A of the Companies Act,
as interpreted for the public
sector, requires NHS bodies
to prepare a Remuneration
Report containing information
about directors’ remuneration.
The report is in respect of the
Senior Managers of the NHS
body. ‘Senior Managers’ are
defined as: ‘those persons in
senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing
or controlling the major
activities of the NHS body. This
means those who influence
the decisions of the clinical
commissioning group as a

whole, rather than the decisions
of individual directorates or
departments. Such persons
will include advisory and lay
members.’
The Remuneration Committee
determines remuneration for the
CCG Governing Body members.

Remuneration
Committee
The terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee are
approved by the Governing
Body and contained within
the CCG Constitution.
The membership of the
Remuneration Committee
during the year and up to the
date of this report is:
Chair:
Peter Munday - Lay Member
for Governance and Audit

Other members:
Gill Boston – Lay Member for
Public and Patient Involvement
Jane Stephens – Lay
Member for Public and Patient
Involvement
Laura Beresford – General
Practice Locality Peer Group
Lead
In the absence of the Chair of
the committee a nominated
Governing Body member acts as
Chair. The Committee met on
five occasions during the year,
with attendance outlined in
Figure Thirty-two. Attendance
figures relate only to voting
members of the Committee.
Please note that there were
changes to the membership of
the committee in year.

Figure Thirty-two: CCG Remuneration Committee attendance 2018-19
02.05.18

05.09.18

19.09.18

22.11.18

13.03.19

Peter Munday

3

3

3

3

3

Jane Stephens

3

3

X

3

3

Laura Beresford

3

3

3

3

3

Gill Boston

X

X

3

X

X

						
3 In attendance

Biographies of the
members
Biographies of the voting
members of the Remuneration
Committee can be seen on
page 75. Details of the specific
job titles and membership of
committees is set out in the
members report.

Policy on the
remuneration of
senior managers
Salaries are determined
annually by the Remuneration
Committee. Remuneration for
the Chair, Chief Officer and

Chief Finance Officer were
determined based on NHS
England guidance: ‘Clinical
Commissioning Groups:
Remuneration guidance for
Chief Officers (where the senior
manager also undertakes the
Accountable Officer role) and
Chief Finance Officers for
CCGs. All contracts with senior
managers have a notice period
of three months.
Senior Manager performance is
monitored through the formal
appraisal process, based on
organisational and individual
objectives.
As required the committee has
access to professional advice
from a professionally qualified

HR manager from Midland
and Lancashire Commissioning
Support Unit and also the CCG
legal advisers Hill Dickinson LLP.
In setting policy for current and
future years, the committee has
access to guidance, best practice
and benchmarking information
from NHS Employers, NHS
England and comparative CCGs.
Account is also taken of the pay
and conditions of service that
apply to other employees in the
CCG.
Currently performance related
pay is not an element of Senior
Managers’ remuneration
package. The Committee is
considering options.
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Remuneration
of Very Senior
Managers

principles outlined above for
senior managers. The CCG
has benchmarked salaries and
Governing Body Remuneration
against peers and also against
the earnings that those with
Clinical Expertise would earn
in their usual clinical setting to
ensure that the remuneration is
reasonable.

Very senior managers’
remuneration is determined
in accordance with the

Senior Manager
Contracts
Senior Manager (officer)
contracts are subject to six
months’ notice. Governing Body
members have been appointed
to varied fixed terms of office,
details of which can be found in
Figure Thirty-three.

Figure Thirty-three: Senior manager remuneration 2018-2019
(including salary and pension entitlements) – audited
2018-19
(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
Name and Title

(b)*2
(c)
(d)
(e)*1
Expense performance Long term
All
payments
pay and
performance pension(taxable)
bonuses
pay and
related
the nearest
(bands of
bonuses
benefits
£100
£5,000)
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dr Paul Bowen

90 - 95

-

-

-

17.5 - 20

105 - 110

Dr Mike Clark

15 - 20

-

-

-

-

15 - 20

Jerry Hawker to 7 Sept 2018

50 - 55

2,700

-

-

2.5 - 5.0

55 - 60

Clare Watson from 1 Jan 2019 *3

5 - 10

-

-

-

5.0 - 7.5

15 - 20

Alex Mitchell *4

105 - 110

2,400

-

-

60 - 62.5

170 - 175

David Gilburt *5

25 - 30

-

-

-

-

25 - 30

Peter Munday

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Gill Boston

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Jane Stephens

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Dr Farhat Ahmad

25 - 30

-

-

-

-

25 - 30

Jennifer Lawn

30 - 35

-

-

-

-

30 - 35

Dr Robert Thorburn

20 - 25

-

-

-

-

20 - 25

Laura Beresford

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Sheila Hillhouse

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Janet Walls

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fiona Reynolds*6

*1 All pension related benefits are calculated by a formula that calculates the increase in the year by deducting the sum of
20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus lump sum entitlement at 31 March 2018 as adjusted
for inflation from the sum of 20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus the real increase in lump
sum entitlement at 31 March 2019. Employee contributions in the year towards these benefits are deducted.
*2 Benefits relate to the taxable benefit on the provision of cars.
*3 Clare Watson’s role is shared between four CCGs and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG paid its share of her remuneration
from her appointment on 1 January 2019 as disclosed in the table above. Clare Watson’s total remuneration for the
period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019 for the four CCGs was in the region £35k to £40k.
*4 During the period from September to 31 December, Alex Mitchell was Acting Chief Officer and Acting Accountable
Officer and the additional remuneration is included in these figures. The figures for pension related benefits are based on
the remuneration level at that time.
*5 David Gilburt acted as Chief Finance Officer from September to 31 December.
*6 Seconded from another body for £nil.
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Figure Thirty-four: Senior manager remuneration2017-2018
(including salary and pension entitlements) – audited
			
2017-18				
(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
Name and Title

(b)*2
(c)
(d)
(e)*1
Expense performance Long term
All
payments
pay and
performance pension(taxable)
bonuses
pay and
related
the nearest
(bands of
bonuses
benefits
£100
£5,000)
(bands of
(bands of
		
£5,000)
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dr Paul Bowen

85 - 90

-

-

-

22.5 -25

110 - 115

Dr Mike Clark

15 - 20

-

-

-

-

15 - 20

Jerry Hawker

120 - 125

2,600

-

-

27.5 - 30

150 - 155

Alex Mitchell

95 - 100

-

-

-

20 - 22.5

115 - 120

Duncan Matheson

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Gerry Gray to 31 Oct 2017

5 - 10

-

-

-

-

5 - 10

Peter Munday from 1 Nov 2017

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Gill Boston

15 - 20

-

-

-

-

15 - 20

Jane Stephens

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Dr Farhat Ahmad

20 - 25

-

-

-

-

20 - 25

Jennifer Lawn

30 - 35

-

-

-

-

30 - 35

Dr Robert Thorburn

20 - 25

-

-

-

7.5 - 10

30 - 35

Laura Beresford

10 - 15

-

-

-

-

10 - 15

Sally Rogers *4 to 30 April 2017

5 - 10

-

-

-

-

5 - 10

Sheila Hillhouse from 20 Nov 2017 5 - 10

-

-

-

-

5 - 10

Janet Walls from 5 February 2018

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Nil

-

-

-

-

Nil

Fiona Reynolds*3

							
*1 All pension related benefits are calculated by a formula that calculates the increase in the year by deducting the sum of
20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus lump sum entitlement at 31 March 2017 as adjusted
for inflation from the sum of 20 times the member’s pension entitlement at retirement age plus the real increase in lump
sum entitlement at 31 March 2018. Employee contributions in the year towards these benefits are deducted.
*2 Benefits relate to the taxable benefit on the provision of cars.
*3 Seconded from another body for £nil.
*4 Sally Rogers continued to be employed by the CCG in her substantive post as Quality and Safeguarding Director
following resignation from the Governing Body.
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Figure Thirty-five: Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 – audited

Name
and Title

(a)
Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at
31 March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum
at pension
age related
at accrued
pension at
31 March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2018

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

(f)
(g)
(h)
Real
Cash
Employers
increase in Equivalent contribution
Cash
Transfer
to
Equivalent
Value at partnership
Transfer
31 March
pension
Value
2019 		

£000

£000

£000

Dr Paul									
Bowen
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
15 - 20
30 - 35
195
52
251
Chairman
Jerry Hawker*3									
20 - 25
45 - 50
350
67
424
Chief Officer 0 - 2.5
to 7-09-2018
Clare Watson*1									
0 - 2.5
40 - 45
95 - 100
535
181
725
Chief Officer 0 - 2.5
from 1-1-2019
Alex Mitchell*2									
Chief Finance 2.5 - 5.0 7.5 - 10
35 - 40
90 - 95
536
152
697
Officer
									

*1 For Clare Watson, the figures in columns (a) and (b) reflect the CCGs estimated share of these increases for the period
from 1 January 2019. For the year these increases were in the range £7,500 to £10,000 for column (a) and £7,500 to
£10,000 for column (b).
*2 Alex Mitchell acted as Chief Officer for part of the year. The scheme is a final salary scheme and scheme benefits are
estimated using salaries. Therefore temporary changes in salaries can impact estimates of accrued pension.
*3. Jerry Hawker is on secondment to Morecambe Bay CCG where he acts as Chief Officer since September 2018 but
remains on the payroll of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG. The above pension benefits in columns (a), (b) and (f) relate to the
full year and the accrued pension figures in columns (c), (d), (e) and (g) in the position at 31 March.

Figure Thirty-six: Pension benefits as at 31 March 2018 – audited

Name
and Title

(a)
Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at
31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum
at pension
age related
at accrued
pension at
31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

(f)
(g)
(h)
Real
Cash
Employers
increase in Equivalent contribution
Cash
Transfer
to
Equivalent
Value at partnership
Transfer
31 March
pension
Value
2018 		

£000

£000

£000

Dr Paul									
Bowen
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
15 - 20
30 - 35
172
18
195
Nil
Chairman
Jerry Hawker
Chief Officer

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

15 - 20

45 - 50

304

37

350

Nil

Alex Mitchell									
Chief Finance 0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
30 - 35
80 - 85
483
38
536
Nil
Officer
Dr Robert									
Thorburn
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
15 - 20
40 - 45
61
10
73
Nil
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Cash equivalent
transfer values

Real increase in
CETV

A cash equivalent transfer value
(CETV) is the actuarially assessed
capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a
member at a particular point in
time. The benefits valued are
the member’s accrued benefits
and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s)
pension payable from the
scheme.

This reflects the increase in
CETV that is funded by the
employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension
due to inflation or contributions
paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits
transferred from another
scheme or arrangement).

A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme or arrangement
to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member
leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued
in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual
has accrued as a consequence
of their total membership of the
pension scheme, not just their
service in a senior capacity to
which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the
other pension details include
the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme
or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They
also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the
member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme
at their own cost. CETVs are
calculated within the guidelines
and framework prescribed by
the Institute and Faculty of
Actuaries.

Compensation on
early retirement or
for loss of office
There are no special contractual
compensation provisions for the
early termination of Governing
Body members’ contracts.
Early termination by reason of
redundancy or, ‘in the interests
of the efficiency of the service’ is
subject to the provisions of the
Agenda for Change NHS Terms
and Conditions Handbook.
Employees above the minimum
retirement age who themselves
request termination by reason
of early retirement, are subject
to the normal provisions of the
NHS Pension Scheme.

Payments to past
members of the
Governing Body
Sally Rogers continued to be
employed by the CCG in her
substantive post as Quality and
Safeguarding Director following
resignation from the Governing
Body in April 2017. There were
no other payments of this
nature.

Fair Pay Disclosure
(Pay multiples) Audited
Reporting bodies are required
to disclose the relationship
between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/
Member in their organisation
and the median remuneration of
the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the
highest paid director/Member
in NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
in the financial year 2018-19
was in the band £180k-£185k
(2017-18: £175k-£180k). This
was 4.9 times (2017-18: 5
times) the median remuneration
of the workforce, which was
£36,547 (2017-18: £35,577).
No employee received
remuneration in excess of the
highest-paid director/Member in
2018- 19. Staff remuneration,
including Governing Body
Members, on a full time
equivalent basis ranged from
£Nil to £180-£185k (2017-18:
£10-15k to £175- £180k).
Total remuneration includes
salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay,
benefits-inkind, but not
severance payments. It does
not include employer pension
contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of
pensions. It is pro rata the
contracted hours and not
the actual amounts paid. The
workforce comprises executive
directors and staff excluding
non-executives.
There is no significant variance
in the year on year multiples.

71

Staff Report
Number of senior managers
Figure Thirty-seven summarises the number of senior managers at 31 March 2019 by band. For the
purpose of this disclosure, senior managers exclude executive board members whose remuneration is
disclosed in Figure Thirty-nine.
Figure Thirty-seven:
2018-19

2017-18

Very senior managers

1

2

Band 8D

2

2

Band 8C

2

2

Band 8B

5

6

Band 8A

6

5

Total

16

17

The above table excludes staff on secondment out of the CCG			
			

Staff numbers and costs - audited
The average number of staff employed by the CCG, excluding members of the Governing Body, during
the year on a full time equivalent basis is outlined in Figure Thirty-eight.
Figure Thirty-eight: Staff Numbers - audited
2018-19

2017-18

Administration and estates

52

54

Nursing staff

3

4

Total

55

58

Staff costs are set out in note 4 to the Financial Statements			
Figure Thirty-nine: Employee Benefits 2018-19
		
Total
Administration
Programme
Permanent			
Permanent			
Permanent
		
Total Employees
Other
Total Employees
Other
Total Employees
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

Other
£’000

Salaries and wages

3,363

3,245

118

2,684

2,566

118

679

679

-

Social security costs

279

279

-

267

267

-

12

12

-

Employer									
Contributions to
NHS Pension scheme
329
329
308
308
21
21
Employee benefits									
expenditure
3,971
3,853
118
3,259
3,141
118
712
712
Recoveries in									
respect of
employee benefits
(575)
(575)
(537)
(537)
(38)
(38)
Net employee									
benefits
expenditure
3,396
3,278
118 2,722 2,604
118
674
674
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Figure Forty: Employee Benefits 2017-18
		
Total
Administration
Programme
Permanent			
Permanent			
Permanent
		
Total Employees
Other
Total Employees
Other
Total Employees
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

Other
£’000

Salaries and wages

3,107

3,061

46

2,517

2,452

65

590

609

(19)

Social security costs

272

272

-

260

2,601

-

12

12

-

Employer									
Contributions to
NHS Pension scheme
330
330
317
317
13
13
Employee benefits									
expenditure
3,709
3,663
46
3,094
3,029
65
615
634
(19)
Recoveries in									
respect of
employee benefits
(340)
(340)		
(340)
(340)
Net employee									
benefits
expenditure
3,369
3,323
46 2,754 2,689
65
615
634
(19)
									

Board and Staff composition

The gender of the Governing Body and staff of the CCG at 31 March 2019 is outlined in Figure Forty-one.
Figure Forty-one:
Male

Female

Total

Governing Body members

5

9

14

Senior managers and very senior managers

5

11

16

Other employees

10

28

38

Total

20

48
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Sickness absence data
Sickness absence data is set out in note 4.3 to the financial statements. The sickness absence data
indicates that there has been an increase in absence levels for 2018-19 when compared to 2017-18,
principally due to treatments for long term conditions that required longer rehabilitation periods.
Figure Forty-two:
2018-19 Number

2017-18 Number

Total days lost

445

438

Total staff years

59

61

Average working days lost

4.6

7.18

			

Staff policies
applied during the
financial year
As an employer we are
committed to ensuring that we
have a diverse workforce by

providing fair and equal access
to all NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG jobs, including access to
career development and training
opportunities for existing and
future staff. To do this we aim to
recruit the best talent that we can
and remove any barriers to ensure
that we have the widest possible

pool of talent to draw from.
The CCG has approved policies
where reasonable adjustments to
an employee working conditions
due to an identified disability can
be approved following agreement
between employee and manager.

73

As an employer we are also
committed to ensuring that
our staff have access to and
undertake training around
our Public Sector Duty with
regards equality and diversity.
We have also ensured that we
have robust arrangements in
place for staff to report any
occasions where they or their
colleagues have been subject to
any intentional or unintentional
discrimination in the workplace
or when undertaking their
duties when representing
the CCG.

Expenditure on
consultancy
Note five to the accounts shows
that expenditure on consultancy
has reduced from £93,000
to £53,000. Consultancy
services are used to provide
professional insight into plans
to improve services and to
assist with shaping potential
transformation of services in
the future.

Off-payroll
engagements
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group did
not have any off-payroll
engagements as at 31 March
2018 for more than £245 per
day and that last longer than six
months.
There were no new off-payroll
engagements between 1 April
2018 and 31 March 2019, for
more than £245 per day and
that last longer than six months.
There were no off-payroll
engagements of Board members
/ senior officials with significant
financial responsibility between
1 April 2018 and 31 March
2019.
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Off-payroll
engagements
/ senior official
engagements

The CCG had no relevant
union officials during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and
consequently the CCG can
confirm

Number of off-payroll
engagements of board
members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial
responsibility, during the
financial year (1)

• The percentage time spent
on facility time was Nil

Nil
Total no. of individuals on
payroll and off-payroll that
have been deemed “board
members, and/or, senior officials
with significant financial
responsibility”, during the
financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and offpayroll engagements. (2)
16

Exit packages,
including special
(non-contractual)
payments
There were no exit packages,
redundancies or special
(non-contractual) payments
between 1 April 2018 and
31 March 2019.

The Trade Union
(Facility Time
Publication
Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Under regulations that
came into force on 1 April
2017, certain public sector
organisations are required to
report information in relation
to Trade Union activities and
the cost of any facility time in
connection with these activities.

• There were no employees
who were relevant union
officials

• The percentage of the
paybill spent on facility
time was Nil
• No hours were spent on
paid Trade Union activities
by relevant officials in the
period.

Parliamentary
Accountability
and Audit
Report
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability
and Audit Report but has opted
to include disclosures on remote
contingent liabilities, losses
and special payments, gifts,
and fees and charges in this
Accountability Report in the
Financial Statements at note 22.
An audit certificate and report
is also included in this Annual
Report at page 82.
Signed
CLARE WATSON
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

Biographies
Biographies of the members of NHS Eastern Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body and its committees

Dr Paul Bowen
CCG Clinical Chair, Chair of
the Governing Body
Governing Body Member,
Member of the Joint
Commissioning Committee of
the Cheshire CCGs

Jerry Hawker
Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
(until 01 Sept 2018)
Governing Body Member
Member of the Joint
Commissioning Committee of
the Cheshire CCGs

Dr Paul Bowen trained at
Nottingham University, and
completed his hospital and
general practice training in
Lincolnshire. He moved to
Cheshire in 2004 where he
worked as a GP in Macclesfield,
before becoming a partner at
McIlvride Medical Practice in
Poynton in 2006. His special
interests are in diabetes, elderly
care and mental health.

Paul became involved in
commissioning in 2007 where
he became chair of the local
practice based commissioning
group, and then a member and
chair of the PCTs commissioning
executive (formally PEC). Paul
has a passion for patient
centred care, through integrated
working across health and social
sectors. His interests also lie in
the use of technology and IT to
bring patients and professionals
closer together, through
improved communication and
collaboration.

Jerry joined the NHS in 2005
through the Department of
Health Gateway to Leadership
scheme and held a number
of executive roles in Central &
Eastern Cheshire PCT before
joining the CCG.

He is a strong advocate for
using patients, carers and
families experiences of the care
system as a driver for change
and helping create a culture
of continuous improvement.
Peoples experience of the
care system also underpins his
belief in the need for change
and creation of new system
leadership, shifting the focus
from organisations to a high
performing, high quality
integrated care system.

Prior to joining the NHS, he
spent 15 years working in the
specialty chemical industry
and latterly running his own
business consultancy company.
He graduated as a Polymer
Scientist and holds a corporate
MBA from Babson College USA.

Jerry left NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG at the end of August
2018.
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Clare Watson
Chief Executive Officer
(from January 2019)
Governing Body Member
Clare Watson started her role as
Accountable Officer for the four
Cheshire CCGs on 1st January
2019.
Working in the NHS for
over 25 years, Clare has a
clear focus on integration

and partnership working.
Bringing her experience of
transformation in Greater
Manchester to commissioning
in Cheshire, Clare has a passion
for commissioning based on
holistic health and wellbeing,
making a real difference to local
populations.
Since Clare’s appointment as
interim Accountable Officer
of NHS South Cheshire CCG
and NHS Vale Royal CCG
in September 2017 she has
worked with GP Members
and other partners to
support primary care at scale,
enabling general practice to
thrive and transform. Her
leadership of both CCGs
delivered organisational
and financial turnaround,

Alex started his finance career in
1988 with Marks and Spencer’s
and having developed an
interest in this area, applied for
a role within the NHS in 1991.

Alex Mitchell
Chief Finance Officer
Interim Chief Executive Officer
(from Sept 2018 – Jan 2019)

He has worked in Acute
Hospitals, Community Providers,
Primary Care Trusts as well as
Clinical Commissioning Groups,
all of which have provided him
with a variety of experience and
opportunities.

leading the organisations out
of special measures moving
from inadequate to requires
improvement IAF ratings in
the first six months of her
leadership.
Clare brings her experience
and passion for delivering place
based integrated care and
sustainability to her new role as
Accountable Officer for the four
Cheshire CCGs. She will support
the improvement of outcomes
through developing Integrated
Care Partnerships as well as
leading the Working Together
across Cheshire programme in
order to make a real difference
to the patients and public of
Cheshire.

Alex is a member and fellow of
the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and feels
that, by working within the
NHS, he is applying his skills and
energy on behalf of the public.

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
(from January 2019)

Member of: Eastern Cheshire
Primary (General Medical)
Care Services Commissioning
Committee

Laura Beresford
General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Bollington,
Disley and Poynton
Governing Body Member
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Laura joined the NHS in 2002 as
a pharmacy technician and has
special interests in medicines
management and clinical
research. She has since worked

in a variety of roles including
practice management and
leadership development.
She is currently the Systems &
Research Manager at Bollington
Medical Centre.

Gill is a qualified social worker
and holds an Honours degree
in Social Studies and an MA in
Community Care.

Gill Boston
Lay Member for Public and
Patient Involvement
Governing Body Member
Member of: Remuneration
Committee, Clinical and
Quality Performance
Committee and Chair of the
Eastern Cheshire Primary
(General Medical) Care
Services Commissioning
Committee

Before retiring in 2017, Gill
worked for The National
Care Forum and Voluntary
Organisations Disability
Group on the Department
of Health funded Voluntary
Sector Strategic Partnership
Programme.
Gill has worked in various
management and monitoring
roles for the Local Authority
before moving in to higher
education where she spent
13 years as a senior lecturer in
health and social care at the
University of Salford.

Jane is a chartered engineer
and has worked in both
technical and project roles in
ICI and AstraZeneca at various
sites across the UK. She now
works part-time in business
improvement.

Jane Stephens
Lay Member for Public and
Patient Involvement
Governing Body Member
Member of:
Remuneration Committee,
Governance and Audit
Committee, Vice Chair of the
Eastern Cheshire Primary
(General Medical) Care
Services Commissioning
Committee, member of
the Joint Commissioning
Committee of the
Cheshire CCGs

Jane is a member of the
Association for Project
Management and has
experience of delivering
sustainable change
programmes; helping teams
to work together to deliver
costeffective services that give
customers what they need.
She is also a LEAN Six Sigma
Black Belt and this approach
to continuous improvement is
based on understanding what is
important to the customer. Jane
believes that this experience
will help her to ensure that the
needs of patients are heard
and built in to new integrated
healthcare services.

As a GB member Gill is
particularly interested in
commissioning partnerships
with the Voluntary and
Community Sector and how
CCGs can engage with and
commission for people who are
vulnerable, marginalised and
whose voices are seldom heard.
As well as championing the
views of the public and patients
on the Governing Body and its
sub-committees, Gill also takes
the Governing Body lead on
Equality and Diversity and is
Chair of the Eastern Cheshire
Primary (General Medical)
Care Services Commissioning
Committee.

Jane is also a trustee/director at
East Cheshire Hospice (where
she is the lay member on
the Patient Care and Clinical
Governance Committee) and
as a school governor with
10 years’ experience at both
primary and secondary level.
She is Chair of the Governing
Board at Tytherington School,
Macclesfield.
Jane has huge respect for the
NHS and all those who work in
it to provide such good care and
support. She is looking forward
to playing her part in the CCG
at this challenging and crucial
time when clinicians, managers
and social care staff are working
hard to join up expert teams
to create truly patient-centred
services, which are greater than
the sum of their parts, and are
ultimately less frustrating and
more satisfying for staff.
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Sheila Hillhouse
Clinical Member
- Registered Nurse
Governing Body Member
Chair of the Quality and
Performance Committee

Dr Janet Walls
Clinical member
- Secondary Care Doctor
Governing Body Member

Sheila is a Registered Nurse and
Midwife. She has worked in
many operational and strategic
roles during her career and has
a wealth of experience in the
provision and commissioning of
health services. She was Deputy
Director of Nursing and Quality
across Cheshire, Warrington
and Wirral before her retirement
in 2013. Since then she has
held the post of Nurse Board
member for North Manchester
CCG until April 2017.
With a background in Nursing
and Midwifery she has worked
in a range of organisations,
including community services
and the local authority in
Wirral. In 2009 She worked as

Janet spent her early career
training to be a surgeon in
India, Italy, the Channel Islands,
and the North of England. As
a Consultant Surgeon at North
Manchester General Hospital,
she had a special interest in
Transgender and Oncoplastic
Surgery. Janet has travelled
across Europe, America and the
Far East, sharing research and
technical papers with a wide
audience.
Engagement by the Royal
College of Surgeons of England
(Opportunities in Surgery,
Flexible Training, the Senate,
and Women in Surgery), and
at the Academy & COPMeD,
Governing Body Member
Member of: Clinical Quality
& Performance Committee
Performance Committee

Dr Farhat Ahmad
General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead - Alderley Edge,
Chelford, Handforth and
Wilmslow
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Dr Farhat Ahmad (MBBS Lond.)
studied medicine at Guys
and St. Thomas’s hospitals in
London before undertaking her
GP training in the North West.
She has been a salaried GP in
Chelford for over 10 years and
also works as a GP appraiser.

Associate Director of Nursing
and Community Care at the
Northwest Strategic Health
Authority and was the policy
and improvement lead for
healthcare acquired infections.
She also worked as Associate
Director of Nursing at Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership Trust as
the professional nurse lead for
community services.
Sheila is passionate about
nursing and ensuring the
delivery of safe effective quality
healthcare and the involvement
of the patient, their family and
carers in the decision-making
process. She holds a BA (Hons)
in Health Studies, MSc in
Healthcare Management, and
M.A. in Health Law.
meant she was involved in
national work-force planning &
recruitment, and the dilemma
of trying to maintain standards
with diminishing resources. As
the North-West representative
for ABS at BASO, she worked
to maintain & develop QA &
national audit standards, NICE
guidelines, and new surgical
developments.
Janet hopes the experience she
has of many different health
systems from a secondary
healthcare point of view,
including NHS Scotland,
will provide helpful insights,
and contribute to the wider
aspirations, of the CCG.

Dr Mike Clark MB ChB MRCS
MRCGP graduated from
Manchester University in 1995.

Dr Mike Clark
General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Macclesfield
Governing Body Member,
Assistant CCG Clinical Chair
Assistant CCG Clinical Chair,
Governing Body GP Advisor
to Executive Team

Peter Munday
Lay Member for
Governance and Audit
Governing Body Member –
Lay Member Deputy Chair
Member of:
Chair of Governance
and Audit Committee,
Chair of Remuneration
Committee

Mike has been a GP Partner at
High Street Surgery, Macclesfield
since 2005, and is the practice
prescribing lead. Alongside
his work in practice Mike is a
GP with a specialist interest in
Urology, vasectomy and minor
surgery.

Peter is a qualified accountant
living in Macclesfield. He works
as a management consultant,
coach and lecturer/trainer,
predominantly in the healthcare
sector. He has 25 years of
working with NHS organisations
and has experience of the
healthcare systems in Ireland
and the United States.
He operates mainly in service
development and change
roles, with a particular interest
in health economics and
new capital investment. He
has extensive experience of
delivering business cases for
new schemes in primary,
community and acute care,
including mental health. He
also has a strong interest in
leadership and management
development.

He is a strong advocate of
shifting the focus of care
towards the individual and
facilitating patients being able
to take responsibility for their
own care.

Peter is fully committed to the
aims and values of the NHS
and recognises the enormous
effort made by its dedicated
and professional staff. Given
the huge challenges faced by
the NHS, he is also committed
to helping ensure that the
people of Eastern Cheshire have
continued access to first-class
healthcare services.
Peter also teaches part-time at
Lymm High School, as part of a
Manchester University outreach
scheme. He is active in the
local community, as Welfare
Officer at Tytherington Juniors
Football Club and as a coach at
Macclesfield Boys Boxing Club.
He is married with four children.
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Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance and
Audit Committee

Dr Robert
Thorburn
General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Congleton and
Holmes Chapel

Dr Robert Thorburn BM BCh
MA MRCP did his pre-clinical
training at Cambridge University
and completed his clinical
training at Oxford University
graduating in 1990. He trained
in general medicine and general
practice at North Staffordshire
Hospital and became GP Partner
at Holmes Chapel Health Centre
in 1997.

Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee
and Eastern Cheshire Primary
(General Medical) Care
Services Commissioning
Committee

Dr Jennifer Lawn
General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Knutsford
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee,

Dr Jennifer Lawn MB ChB
Manchester has over 20 years’
experience as a partner at Toft
Road Surgery, Knutsford caring
for a representative cross section
of the local population.

Fiona Reynolds joined Cheshire
East Council in April 2017 as
Director of Public Health, from
Cheshire West and Chester
where she was Interim Director
of Public Health for two and a
half years.

Fiona Reynolds
Director of Public Health,
Cheshire East Council
Governing Body Member
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Fiona’s background in public
health includes ten years
working in Greater Manchester
- five of them as a Consultant

He was a member of NHS
Eastern Cheshire Primary Care
Trusts Professional Executive
Committee from 2002 – 2004
and was clinical lead for
cardiovascular disease.

She has been Practice Lead
attending locality meetings
for many years and has been
involved in the evolution of
the CCG. She is enthusiastic
about improving healthcare
in the local community whilst
ensuring efficient use of limited
resources.

in Public Health in Salford with
the Primary Care Trust and City
Council and prior to this Fiona
worked in Burnley Pendle and
Rossendale as a Teenage Health
Coordinator.
Fiona started her career in the
NHS as a Health Promotion
Specialist in Hull and East
Riding.

Members of the Governing body without a vote
Member of: Eastern Cheshire
Primary (General Medical)
Care Services Commissioning
Committee

Neil Evans
Commissioning Director
Governing Body Member –
no voting rights

Fleur Blakeman
Director of Strategy and
Transformation
(until end of Nov 2018)
Governing Body Member –
no voting rights
Member of: Eastern Cheshire
Primary (General Medical)
Care Services Commissioning
Committee, Member of
the Joint Commissioning
Committee of the
Cheshire CCGs

Neil joined the NHS in 2008
having previously worked in a
variety of operational, planning
and change roles in Financial
Services.
Neil was recruited to the NHS
through a national leadership

Fleur qualified as a Registered
General Nurse at Nottingham
School of Nursing in 1991,
completing a Return to Nursing
Practice course at Chester
University in 2013. Having
qualified as a nurse, Fleur
attended Leeds Metropolitan
University to complete a degree
in Health Sciences.
Fleur has gone on to obtain
a number of post graduate
qualifications including a
Masters in Health Services
Management at Manchester
University and the Advanced
Management Programme at
Ashridge Business School.

development programme and
initially worked in the Acute
Sector in both Operational
and Project Management roles
before moving to Central and
Eastern Primary Care Trust in
August 2009.
Neil has been involved in
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
since its inception.

Fleur has performed a number
of roles in private healthcare
and the NHS and has worked
in commissioning organisations
including North Staffordshire
Health Authority, St Helens and
Knowsley Health Authority,
Kirby PCG, Ashton, Wigan and
Leigh PCT and Warwickshire
CCG. She has also worked in a
number of hospitals including
Nottingham University Hospitals
NHS Trust, BUPA hospitals
(various), Countess of Chester
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust,
Royal National Orthopaedic
Hospital NHS Trust and Mersey
Care NHS Trust.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of the Governing Body of
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial
statements of NHS Eastern
Cheshire (the ‘CCG’) for the
year ended 31 March 2019,
which comprise the Statement
of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, Statement
of Changes in Taxpayers
Equity, the Statement of
Cash Flows and notes to the
financial statements, including
a summary of significant
accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law
and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and
adapted by the Department of
Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2018-19.
In our opinion, the financial
statements:
• give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the
CCG as at 31 March 2019
and of its expenditure and
income for the year then
ended; and
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• have been properly
prepared in accordance
with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the Department
of Health and Social Care
Group Accounting Manual
2018-19; and
• have been prepared in
accordance with the
requirements of the Health
and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in
accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described
in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our
report. We are independent of
the CCG in accordance with
the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating
to going concern
We have nothing to report in
respect of the following matters
in relation to which the ISAs
(UK) require us to report to you
where:
• the Accountable Officer’s use
of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or
• the Accountable Officer has
not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified
material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt
about the CCG’s ability to
continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve
months from the date when
the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Other information
The Accountable Officer is
responsible for the other
information. The other
information comprises the
information included in the
Annual Report, other than
the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the
other information and, except
to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit
of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether
the other information is
materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement
in the financial statements or
a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on
the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of the
other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Other information we
are required to report
on by exception
under the Code of
Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit
Practice published by the
National Audit Office on
behalf of the Comptroller and
Auditor General (the Code
of Audit Practice) we are
required to consider whether
the Governance Statement
does not comply with the
guidance issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board or is
misleading or inconsistent with
the information of which we
are aware from our audit. We
are not required to consider
whether the Governance
Statement addresses all risks
and controls or that risks are
satisfactorily addressed by
internal controls.
We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Opinion on other
matters required by
the Code of Audit
Practice
In our opinion:
• the parts of the Remuneration
and Staff Report to be
audited have been properly
prepared in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union, as
interpreted and adapted by
the Department of Health and

Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2018-19 and the
requirements of the Health
and Social Care Act 2012;
and
• based on the work
undertaken in the course
of the audit of the financial
statements and our
knowledge of the CCG gained
through our work in relation
to the CCG’s arrangements
for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources, the
other information published
together with the financial
statements in the Annual
Report for the financial
year for which the financial
statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial
statements.

Opinion on regularity
required by the Code
of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material
respects the expenditure and
income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied
to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial
statements conform to the
authorities which govern them.
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Matters on which we
are required to report
by exception
Under the Code of Audit
Practice, we are required to
report to you if:
• we issue a report in the
public interest under Section
24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014
in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit; or
• we refer a matter to the
Secretary of State under
Section 30 of the Local
Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 because we have
reason to believe that the
CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or
has made, a decision which
involves or would involve
the body incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is about to
take, or has begun to take
a course of action which, if
followed to its conclusion,
would be unlawful and likely
to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
• we make a written
recommendation to the CCG
under Section 24 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in
respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the
Accountable Officer
and Those Charged
with Governance
for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the
Statement of Accountable
Officer’s responsibilities
set out on pages 71 to 72,
the Accountable Officer, is
responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in
the form and on the basis set
out in the Accounts Directions,
for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the
Accountable Officer determines
is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial
statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial
statements, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for
assessing the CCG’s ability to
continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and
using the going concern basis
of accounting unless they have
been informed by the relevant
national body of the intention
to dissolve the CCG without
the transfer of its services to
another public sector entity.
The Accountable Officer is
responsible for ensuring the
regularity of expenditure
and income in the financial
statements.
The Governing Body is Those
Charged with Governance.
Those charged with governance
are responsible for overseeing
the CCG’s financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities for the
audit of the financial
statements
Our objectives are to obtain
reasonable assurance about
whether the financial
statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be
expected to influence the
economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of
our responsibilities for
the audit of the financial
statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s
website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for
giving an opinion on the
regularity of expenditure
and income in the financial
statements in accordance with
the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion
on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we
are required to report
by exception - CCG’s
arrangements for
securing economy,
efficiency and
effectiveness in its use
of resources
Under the Code of Audit
Practice, we are required to
report to you if, in our opinion
we have not been able to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31
March 2019.
We have nothing to report in
respect of the above matter.

Responsibilities of the
Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance
Statement, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for putting
in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in the use of
the CCG’s resources.

Auditor’s
responsibilities for the
review of the CCG’s
arrangements for
securing economy,
efficiency and
effectiveness in its use
of resources
We are required under Section
21(1)(c) and Schedule 13
paragraph 10(a) of the Local
Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 to be satisfied that
the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing

economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of
resources and to report where
we have not been able to
satisfy ourselves that it has
done so. We are not required
to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use
of resources are operating
effectively.
We have undertaken our
review in accordance with the
Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the
specified criterion issued by
the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2017,
as to whether in all significant
respects, the CCG had proper
arrangements to ensure it took
properly informed decisions
and deployed resources to
achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and
local people. The Comptroller
and Auditor General determined
this criterion as that necessary
for us to consider under the
Code of Audit Practice in
satisfying ourselves whether
the CCG put in place proper
arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended
31 March 2019, and to report
by exception where we are not
satisfied.
We planned our work in
accordance with the Code of
Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook
such work as we considered
necessary to be satisfied that
the CCG has put in place
proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources.

Report on
other legal
and regulatory
requirements –
Certificate
We certify that we have
completed the audit of
the financial statements of
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014
and the Code of Audit Practice.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to
the members of the Governing
Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the
Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we
might state to the members of
the Governing Body of the CCG
those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone
other than the CCG and the
members of the Governing
Body of the CCG, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have
formed.
ROBIN BAKER
Director
for and on behalf of
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
28 May 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
for the year ended 31 March 2019
			

Note		

2018-19 		
£’000		

2017-18
£’000

					
Income from sale of goods and services

2		

(1,054)		

(34)

Other operating income

2 		

- 		

(340)

Total operating income		

(1,054)
3,971		

(374)

Staff costs

4		

3,709

Purchase of goods and services

5 		

298,538 		

298,479

Depreciation and impairment charges

5 		

67 		

58

Provision expense

5 		

168 		

-

Other Operating Expenditure

5 		

287 		

254

Total operating expenditure		

303,032

302,500

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year			

301,978		

302,126

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 		

301,978

302,126

		
The notes on pages 92 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 March 2019
			
Note		

2018-19		
£’000		

2017-18
£’000

					
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment

11

184 		

251

Total non-current assets		
184
251
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables

12 		

1,599 		

6,167

Cash and cash equivalents

13 		

115 		

143

Total current assets		

1,714

6,310

Total assets		

1,898

6,561

		
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14 		

(22,263) 		

(24,246)

Provisions

15 		

(168) 		

-

Total current liabilities			

(22,431)

(24,246)

Assets less Liabilities		
(20,533)
(17,685)

		
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund			

(20,533)		

(17,685)

Total taxpayers’ equity:		
(20,533)
(17,685)

		
The financial statements on pages 88 to 113 were approved and authorised for issue by
the Governing Body on 25 May 2019 and signed on its behalf
CLARE WATSON
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
The notes on pages 92 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2019
			General fund		 Total reserves
			
£’000		
£’000
					
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018 			
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances 			
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year			

(17,685) 		

(17,685)

(2) 		

(2)

(17,687) 		

(17,687)

(301,978)		

(301,978)

		
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year			

(301,978)		

(301,978)

Net funding			

299,132		

299,132

Balance at 31 March 2019		

(20,533)

(20,533)

		

			General fund		 Total reserves
			
£’000		
£’000
					
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017 			

(13,076) 		

(13,076)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year			

(302,126)		

(302,126)

		
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year			

(302,126)		

(302,126)

Net funding			

297,517 		

297,517

Balance at 31 March 2018		

(17,685)

(17,685)

		
The notes on pages 92 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cashflows
for the year ended 31 March 2019
			
Note		

2018-19		
£’000		

2017-18
£’000

					
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year 			

(301,978) 		

(302,126)

5 		

67 		

58

Non-cash movements arising on application
of new accounting standards 			

(2) 		

0

Depreciation and amortisation

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

12 		

4,569 		

(2,927)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

14 		

(1,956) 		

7,613

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

15 		

168 		

0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities		

(299,132)

(297,381)

					
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment			

(27)		

(60)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities		

(27)

(60)

					
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing			

(299,159)		

(297,441)

					
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received			

299,132 		

297,516

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities		

299,132

297,516

					
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

(27)

76

		
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year		

143 		

67

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts)		
at the End of the Financial Year			

115 		

143

		
The notes on pages 92 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019
1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that
the financial statements of
clinical commissioning groups
shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by
the Department of Health and
Social Care. Consequently, the
following financial statements
have been prepared in
accordance with the Group
Accounting Manual 2018-19
issued by the Department of
Health and Social Care. The
accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards
to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate
to clinical commissioning
groups, as determined by
HM Treasury, which is advised
by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the
Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting
policy, the accounting policy
which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical
commissioning group for the
purpose of giving a true and
fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted
by the clinical commissioning
group are described below. They
have been applied consistently
in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been
prepared on the going concern
basis. The CCG planned to
exceed its target revenue
resources use by £15m but was
eligible to receive Commissioner
Sustainability Funding of £15m.
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Following the receipt of this
additional allocation, the CCG
delivered a £70k surplus as
detailed in note 23. The CCG
has forecast that it will continue
to exceed its spending targets
in 2019-20 and it is eligible
to receive a further £10.8m
Commissioner Sustainability
Funding in 2019-20 to achieve
a forecast breakeven position.
This has been built into plans
submitted to NHS England.
The CCG continues to adopt
the going concern basis for the
reason outlined below.
Public sector bodies are
assumed to be going concerns
where the continuation of
the provision of a service in
the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of
financial provision for that
service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning
group ceases to exist, it
considers whether or not its
services will continue to be
provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether
to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of
financial statements. If services
will continue to be provided
the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern
basis.

1.2 Accounting
Convention
These accounts have been
prepared under the historical
cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.

1.3 Movement of
Assets within the
Department of Health
and Social Care Group
Transfers as part of
reorganisation fall to be
accounted for by use of
absorption accounting in line
with the Government Financial
Reporting Manual, issued by
HM Treasury. The Government
Financial Reporting Manual
does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year
transactions (which have been
accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been
restated. Absorption accounting
requires that entities account for
their transactions in the period
in which they took place, with
no restatement of performance
required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer,
the gain or loss resulting is
recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and
liabilities within the Department
of Health and Social Care Group
are accounted for in line with
IAS 20 and similarly give rise to
income and expenditure entries.

1.4 Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning
group has entered into a pooled
budget arrangement with
Cheshire East Council and NHS
South Cheshire Commissioning
Group in accordance with
section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.
Under the arrangement, funds
are pooled for the Cheshire East
Better Care Fund and note 35
provides details of the income
and expenditure. The pool is
hosted by Cheshire East Council.
The clinical commissioning

group accounts for its share of
the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the
activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with
the pooled budget agreement.

1.5 Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has
been completed in accordance
with paragraph C3 (b) of the
Standard, applying the Standard
retrospectively recognising the
cumulative effects at the date of
initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a
number of practical expedients
offered in the Standard have
been employed. These are as
follows:
• As per paragraph 121 of
the Standard the clinical
commissioning group will
not disclose information
regarding performance
obligations part of a contract
that has an original expected
duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning
group is to similarly not
disclose information where
revenue is recognised in line
with the practical expedient
offered in paragraph B16 of
the Standard where the right
to consideration corresponds
directly with value of the
performance completed to
date.
• The FReM has mandated
the exercise of the practical
expedient offered in C7(a) of
the Standard that requires the
clinical commissioning group
to reflect the aggregate effect
of all contracts modified
before the date of initial
application.
Revenue in respect of services
provided is recognised when
(or as) performance obligations
are satisfied by transferring
promised services to the
customer, and is measured at
the amount of the transaction
price allocated to that
performance obligation. Where
income is received for a specific
performance obligation that is
to be satisfied in the following

year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard
reflecting cross government
principles.

scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting
period.

The value of the benefit received
when the clinical commissioning
group accesses funds from the
Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income
in accordance with IAS 20,
Accounting for Government
Grants. Where these funds are
paid directly to an accredited
training provider, non-cash
income and a corresponding
non-cash training expense are
recognised, both equal to the
cost of the training funded.

For early retirements other
than those due to ill health the
additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The
full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged
to expenditure at the time the
clinical commissioning group
commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of
payment.

1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term Employee
Benefits
Salaries, wages and
employment-related payments,
including payments arising
from the apprenticeship levy,
are recognised in the period in
which the service is received
from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet
taken.
The cost of leave earned but
not taken by employees at the
end of the period is recognised
in the financial statements to
the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave
into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement
Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are
covered by the provisions of the
NHS Pensions Schemes. These
schemes are unfunded, defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS
employers, General Practices
and other bodies allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of
State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be
run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their
share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore,
the schemes are accounted for
as though they were defined
contribution schemes: the cost
to the clinical commissioning
group of participating in a

The schemes are subject to a
full actuarial valuation every
four years and an accounting
valuation every year.

1.7 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses
are recognised when, and to
the extent that, the goods or
services have been received.
They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration
payable.

1.8 Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not
intended to be directly related
to activity undertaken by a grant
recipient in a specific period, the
clinical commissioning group
recognises the expenditure in
the period in which the grant
is paid. All other grants are
accounted for on an accruals
basis.

1.9 Property, Plant &
Equipment
1.9.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is
capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering
services or for administrative
purposes;
• It is probable that future
economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential will
be supplied to the clinical
commissioning group;
• It is expected to be used for
more than one financial year;
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• The cost of the item can be
measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least
£5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of
items have a cost of at least
£5,000 and individually
have a cost of more than
£250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent,
they had broadly
simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single
managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial
equipping and setting-up
cost of a new building, ward
or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
• Where a large asset, for
example a building, includes a
number of components with
significantly different asset
lives, the components are
treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own
useful economic lives.

1.9.2 Measurement
All property, plant and
equipment is measured initially
at cost, representing the cost
directly attributable to acquiring
or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location
and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by
management. Assets that are
held for their service potential
and are in use are measured
subsequently at their current
value in existing use. Assets that
were most recently held for their
service potential but are surplus
are measured at fair value
where there are no restrictions
preventing access to the market
at the reporting date.
Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure
that carrying amounts are not
materially different from those
that would be determined at
the end of the reporting period.
Current values in existing use
are determined as follows:
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• Land and non-specialised
buildings – market value for
existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings –
depreciated replacement cost.
IT equipment, transport
equipment, furniture and
fittings, and plant and
machinery that are held for
operational use are valued at
depreciated historic cost where
these assets have short useful
economic lives or low values or
both, as this is not considered
to be materially different from
current value in existing use.
An increase arising on
revaluation is taken to the
revaluation reserve except
when it reverses an impairment
for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in
which case it is credited to
expenditure to the extent of
the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease
that does not result from a
loss of economic value or
service potential is recognised
as an impairment charged to
the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance
on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Gains and losses
recognised in the revaluation
reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the
Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure.

1.9.3 Subsequent
Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure
enhances an asset beyond
its original specification, the
directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset
to its original specification, the
expenditure is capitalised and
any existing carrying value of
the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating
expenses.

1.10 Depreciation,
Amortisation &
Impairments
Freehold land, properties under
construction, and assets held
for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and
amortisation are charged
to write off the costs or
valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual
value, over their estimated
useful lives, in a manner that
reflects the consumption of
economic benefits or service
potential of the assets. The
estimated useful life of an asset
is the period over which the
clinical commissioning group
expects to obtain economic
benefits or service potential
from the asset. This is specific
to the clinical commissioning
group and may be shorter than
the physical life of the asset
itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed
each year end, with the effect
of any changes recognised
on a prospective basis. Assets
held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated
useful lives.
At each reporting period end,
the clinical commissioning
group checks whether there is
any indication that any of its
property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If there is
indication of an impairment loss,
the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine
whether there has been a loss
and, if so, its amount. Intangible
assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment
annually.
A revaluation decrease that
does not result from a loss
of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance
on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise

from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken
to expenditure. Where an
impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of the
recoverable amount but capped
at the amount that would have
been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss.
The reversal of the impairment
loss is credited to expenditure
to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and
thereafter to the revaluation
reserve.

1.11 Government
Grant Funded Assets
Government grant funded
assets are capitalised at current
value in existing use, if they
will be held for their service
potential, or otherwise at
fair value on receipt, with a
matching credit to income.
Deferred income is recognised
only where conditions attached
to the grant preclude immediate
recognition of the gain.

1.12 Leases
Leases are classified as finance
leases when substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

1.12.1 The Clinical
Commissioning Group
as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment
held under finance leases are
initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair
value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching
liability for the lease obligation
to the lessor. Lease payments
are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction
of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate
on interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised
in calculating the clinical

commissioning group’s surplus/
deficit.
Operating lease payments are
recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability
and subsequently as a reduction
of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are
recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and
buildings, the land and building
components are separated
and individually assessed as to
whether they are operating or
finance leases.

1.13 Cash & Cash
Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and
deposits with any financial
institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts
of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows,
cash and cash equivalents are
shown net of bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand
and that form an integral part
of the clinical commissioning
group’s cash management.

1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when
the clinical commissioning
group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, it
is probable that the clinical
commissioning group will be
required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of
the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation
at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the

risks and uncertainties. Where
a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to
settle the obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value
of those cash flows using HM
Treasury’s discount rate as
follows:
All general provisions are subject
to four separate discount rates
according to the expected
timing of cashflows from the
Statement of Financial Position
date:
• A nominal short-term
rate of 0.76% (2017-18:
negative 2.42% in real
terms) for inflation adjusted
expected cash flows up
to and including 5 years
from Statement of Financial
Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate
of 1.14% (2017-18: negative
1.85% in real terms) for
inflation adjusted expected
cash flows over 5 years up to
and including 10 years from
the Statement of Financial
Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of
1.99% (2017-18: negative
1.56% in real terms) for
inflation adjusted expected
cash flows over 10 years
and up to and including 40
years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate
of 1.99% (2017-18: negative
1.56% in real terms) for
inflation adjusted expected
cash flows exceeding 40
years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
All 2018-19 percentages are
expressed in nominal terms with
2017-18 being the last financial
year that HM Treasury provided
real general provision discount
rates.
When some or all of the
economic benefits required
to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered
from a third party, the
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receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursements will be
received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured
reliably. A restructuring provision
is recognised when the clinical
commissioning group has
developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation
in those affected that it will
carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan
or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the
direct expenditures arising from
the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated
with on-going activities of the
entity.

1.15 Clinical
Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk
pooling scheme under which
the clinical commissioning group
pays an annual contribution to
NHS Resolution, which in return
settles all clinical negligence
claims. The contribution
is charged to expenditure.
Although NHS Resolution is
administratively responsible for
all clinical negligence cases,
the legal liability remains with
clinical commissioning group.

1.16 Non-clinical Risk
Pooling
The clinical commissioning
group participates in the
Property Expenses Scheme and
the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the
clinical commissioning group
pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Resolution and,
in return, receives assistance
with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they
become due.
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1.17 Contingent
liabilities and
Contingent Assets
A contingent liability is a
possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the
clinical commissioning group,
or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not
probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured sufficiently
reliably. A contingent liability is
disclosed unless the possibility
of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible
asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will
be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control
of the clinical commissioning
group. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money
is material, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets are
disclosed at their present value.

1.18 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised
when the clinical commissioning
group becomes party to the
financial instrument contract or,
in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services
have been delivered. Financial
assets are derecognised when
the contractual rights have
expired or the asset has been
transferred.
Financial assets are classified
into the following categories:
• Financial assets at amortised
cost;
• Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income and ;

• Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss.
The classification is determined
by the cash flow and business
model characteristics of the
financial assets, as set out in
IFRS 9, and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.

1.18.1 Financial Assets at
Amortised cost
Financial assets measured
at amortised cost are those
held within a business model
whose objective is achieved
by collecting contractual cash
flows and where the cash flows
are solely payments of principal
and interest. This includes
most trade receivables and
other simple debt instruments.
After initial recognition these
financial assets are measured
at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less
any impairment. The effective
interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
life of the financial asset to the
gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.

1.18.2 Financial Assets at
Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income
Financial assets held at fair value
through other comprehensive
income are those held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets and
where the cash flows are solely
payments of principal and
interest.

1.18.3 Financial Assets at
Fair Value Through Profit
and Loss
Financial assets measure at fair
value through profit and loss
are those that are not otherwise
measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This
includes derivatives and financial
assets acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the
short term.

1.18.4 Impairment
For all financial assets
measured at amortised cost
or at fair value through other
comprehensive income (except
equity instruments designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income), lease
receivables and contract assets,
the clinical commissioning group
recognises a loss allowance
representing the expected credit
losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning
group adopts the simplified
approach to impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9, and
measures the loss allowance
for trade receivables, lease
receivables and contract
assets at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit
losses. For other financial
assets, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk on
the financial instrument has
increased significantly since
initial recognition (stage 2)
and otherwise at an amount
equal to 12 month expected
credit losses (stage 1). HM
Treasury has ruled that central
government bodies may not
recognise stage 1 or stage 2
impairments against other
government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank
of England, Exchequer Funds
and Exchequer Funds assets
where repayment is ensured
by primary legislation. The
clinical commissioning group
therefore does not recognise
loss allowances for stage 1 or
stage 2 impairments against
these bodies. Additionally
DHSC provides a guarantee of
last resort against the debts of
its arm’s lengths bodies and
NHS bodies and the clinical
commissioning group does not
recognise allowances for stage 1
or stage 2 impairments against
these bodies.

For financial assets that have
become credit impaired since
initial recognition (stage 3),
expected credit losses at the
reporting date are measured
as the difference between the
asset’s gross carrying amount
and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective
interest rate. Any adjustment is
recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

1.19 Financial
Liabilities
Financial liabilities are
recognised on the statement
of financial position when
the clinical commissioning
group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the
case of trade payables, when
the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are
de-recognised when the liability
has been discharged, that is,
the liability has been paid or has
expired.

1.19.1 Financial Guarantee
Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are subsequently
measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or
imputed) for entering into
the guarantee less cumulative
amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation
under the contract, as
determined in accordance
with IAS 37: Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

1.19.2 Financial Liabilities at
Fair Value Through Profit
and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have
different risks and characteristics
to their host contracts, and
contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate

value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit
and loss. They are held at
fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the
clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit. The net gain or
loss incorporates any interest
payable on the financial liability.

1.19.3 Other Financial
Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other
financial liabilities are measured
at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, except
for loans from Department of
Health and Social Care, which
are carried at historic cost. The
effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through
the life of the asset, to the net
carrying amount of the financial
liability. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest
method.

1.20 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the
clinical commissioning group
are outside the scope of VAT
and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged
to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output
tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.

1.21 Losses & Special
Payments
Losses and special payments
are items that Parliament would
not have contemplated when
it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By
their nature they are items that
ideally should not arise. They
are therefore subject to special
control procedures compared
with the generality of payments.
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They are divided into different
categories, which govern the
way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments
are charged to the relevant
functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which
would have been made good
through insurance cover had
the clinical commissioning
group not been bearing its own
risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal
revenue expenditure).

1.22 Critical
Accounting
Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
In the application of the
clinical commissioning
group’s accounting policies,
management is required to
make various judgements,
estimates and assumptions.
These are regularly reviewed.

1.22.1 Critical Accounting
Judgements in Applying
Accounting Policies
The following are the
judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that
management has made in
the process of applying the
clinical commissioning group’s
accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements.
• ensuring that appropriate
estimates are made for areas
of estimation uncertainty as
set out below,
• ensuring that appropriate
policies are in place for
recognising contractual
liabilities,
• ensuring that appropriate
policies are in place for
considering any claims legal
or for continuing health care.
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1.22.2 Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
The following are assumptions
about the future and other
major sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a
significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next
financial year.
• Claims for continuing health
care from 1 April 2013 are
provided to the extent that
a reasonable estimate can
be made for the amount of
the claim and the potential
success of any claim. As
NHS England has assumed
responsibility for claims
received prior to 31 March
2013, the CCG is responsible
only for claims received since
that date. The estimated
amount in respect of
previously unassessed periods
of care is of such claims at the
year end is £75,000 (2017-18
- £165,000).
• Data in respect of prescribing
costs are usually received
two months in arrears and it
is necessary to estimate the
amount that will be payable
for the last two months of the
year. This estimate is based
on a prescribing spend profile
issued by NHS England. The
amount estimated at the year
end is £5,142,000 (2017-18 £5,438,000).
• Partially completed spells are
periods of care for which the
provider of those services
has not billed their costs.
The providers provide an
estimate of the costs that
need to be billed and this
estimate is checked to ensure
it is reasonable in the light of
data in relation to stays. The
amount is agreed between
the provider and the CCG.
The total amount accrued at
the year end is £1,031,000
(2017-18 - £1,245,000).

1.23 Accounting
Standards That Have
Been Issued But
Have Not Yet Been
Adopted
The DHSC GAM does not
require the following IFRS
Standards and Interpretations
to be applied in 2018-19.
These Standards are still
subject to HM Treasury FReM
adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2019-20, and
the government implementation
date for IFRS 17 still subject to
HM Treasury consideration.
• IFRS 16 Leases – Application
required for accounting
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore
permitted.
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
– Application required for
accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021,
but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not
therefore permitted.
• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments –
Application required for
accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019.
The application of the Standards
as revised would not have a
material impact on the accounts
for 2018-19 were they applied
in that year.

2 Other Operating Revenue
		 2018-19		 2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18		
		
Admin		Programme		
Total		
Total
		£’000		£’000		£’000		
£’000
Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research		

-		

25		

25		

30

Non-patient care services to other bodies 		

- 		

454 		

454 		

4

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

537

38

575

340

Total Operating Income

537

517

1,054

374

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits is in respect of employees seconded to other organisations.
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or
healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into
the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

3 Revenue
		
		
Non-patient care		
Recoveries in
		
Education, training		
services to other		 respect of employee
		
and research		
bodies		
benefits
		£’000		£’000		£’000
NHS 		
Non NHS
Total

25 		

- 		

575

-

454

-

25

454

575

Revenue is totally from the supply of services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4 Employee benefits and staff numbers
				
Permanent		
4.1.1 Employee benefits 2018-19				
Employees 		
				
£’000		

Other		
£’000		

Total
£’000

Employee Benefits								
Salaries and wages 				

3,246 		

118 		

3,364

Social security costs 				

279 		

- 		

279

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 				

329 		

- 		

329

Gross employee benefits expenditure 			

3,853

			
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 			
(575) 		
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs
3,278
			
Less: Employee costs capitalised				
- 		
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs		
3,278
			
				
Permanent		
4.1.1 Employee benefits 2017-18				
Employees 		
				
£’000		

118

3,971

- 		
118

(575)
3,396

- 		
118

3,396

Other		
£’000		

Total
£’000

Employee Benefits								
Salaries and wages				
3,062 		
46 		
Social security costs 				
272 		
- 		
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme				
330		
-		
Gross employee benefits expenditure			
3,664
46
			
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 			
(340) 		
- 		
Total - Net admin employee benefits
including capitalised costs			
3,323
46
			
Less: Employee costs capitalised				
- 		
- 		
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs		
3,323
46
			

3,107
272
330
3,709
(340)
3,369
3,369

						 2018-19		 2017-18
4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of		
Permanent		
employee benefits		employees		
Other		
Total		
Total
		
£’000		
£’000		
£’000		
£’000
Employee Benefits - Revenue								
Salaries and wages 		
(575) 		
- 		
(575)
Total recoveries in respect of
employee benefits
(575)
(575)

(340)
(340)

4.2 Average number of people employed

		
			 2018-19						 2017-18		
Permanently						
Permanently
employed		
Other		
Total		 employed		 Other		
Total
Number		 Number		 Number		 Number		 Number		 Number
											
Total

57.31

2.27

No employee costs were capitalised in the year.

100

59.58

58.00

2.00

60.00

4.3 Exit packages
agreed in the
financial year
There were no exit packages
in the financial year (2017-18 None)

4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are
covered by the provisions of
the two NHS Pension Schemes.
Details of the benefits payable
and rules of the Schemes can
be found on the NHS Pensions
website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
These schemes are unfunded,
defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies
allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. These schemes are
not designed to be run in a way
that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and
liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are
accounted for as though they
were defined contribution
schemes: the cost to the
clinical commissioning group
of participating in a scheme
is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting
period.
The schemes are subject to a
full actuarial valuation every
four years and an accounting
valuation every year.

4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability
is carried out annually by the
scheme actuary (currently
the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of
the reporting period. This utilises
an actuarial assessment for the

previous accounting period
in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data
for the current reporting period,
and is accepted as providing
suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes.
The valuation of the scheme
liability as at 31 March 2019,
is based on valuation data
as 31 March 2018, updated
to 31 March 2019 with
summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking
this actuarial assessment,
the methodology prescribed
in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount
rate prescribed by HM Treasury
have also been used.
The latest assessment of the
liabilities of the scheme is
contained in the report of the
scheme actuary, which forms
part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These
accounts can be viewed on
the NHS Pensions website and
are published annually. Copies
can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full actuarial
(funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation
is to assess the level of liability
in respect of the benefits due
under the schemes (taking into
account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend
contribution rates payable by
employees and employers.
The last published actuarial
valuation undertaken for the
NHS Pension Scheme was
completed for the year ending
31 March 2012. The Scheme
Regulations allow for the
level of contribution rates to
be changed by the Secretary
of State for Health, with the
consent of HM Treasury, and

consideration of the advice
of the Scheme Actuary and
employee and employer
representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation
is to be carried out as at 31
March 2016 and is currently
being prepared. The direction
assumptions are published by
HM Treasury which are used
to complete the valuation
calculations, from which the
final valuation report can be
signed off by the scheme
actuary. This will set the
employer contribution rate
payable from April 2019 and
will consider the cost of the
Scheme relative to the employer
cost cap. There are provisions in
the Public Service Pension Act
2013 to adjust member benefits
or contribution rates if the cost
of the Scheme changes by more
than 2% of pay. Subject to this
‘employer cost cap’ assessment,
any required revisions to
member benefits or contribution
rates will be determined by the
Secretary of State for Health
after consultation with the
relevant stakeholders.
For 2018-19, employers’
contributions of £329,000
were payable to the NHS
Pensions Scheme (2017-18:
£330,000) were payable to the
NHS Pension Scheme at the
rate of 14.38% of pensionable
pay. The scheme’s actuary
reviews employer contributions,
usually every four years and
now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full
scheme valuation. The latest
review used data from 31 March
2012 and was published on the
Government website on 9 June
2012. These costs are included
in the NHS pension line of note
4.1.1.
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5 Operating expenses
		 2018-19		 2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18
		
Admin		Programme		
Total		
Total
		£’000		£’000		£’000		
£’000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England		
Services from foundation trusts 		
Services from other NHS trusts 		
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 		
Purchase of social care 		
Prescribing costs 		
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 		
Supplies and services – clinical 		
Supplies and services – general 		
Consultancy services 		
Establishment 		
Transport 		
Premises 		
Audit fees		
Other non statutory audit expenditure
Other services		
Other professional fees 		
Legal fees 		
Education, training and conferences 		
Total Purchase of goods and services

410		
999		
1,409		
1,409
- 		
67,968 		
67,968 		
67,543
- 		 111,643 		 111,643 		 108,912
- 		
52,443 		
52,443 		
55,163
- 		
4,078 		
4,078 		
3,952
- 		
30,300 		
30,300 		
32,385
- 		
27,780 		
27,780 		
26,595
- 		
397 		
397 		
36 		
16 		
52 		
52
81 		
92 		
173 		
53
102		
665 		
767 		
1,029
11 		
1 		
12 		
8
174 		
614 		
787 		
717
38		
-		
38		
46
10		
212 		
14 		
30 		
1,118

-		
74 		
119 		
231 		
297,420

10		
286 		
133 		
262 		
298,538

185
42
387
298,479

								
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation 		
13 		
54 		
67 		
58
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
13
54
67
58
Provision expense
Provisions 		
Total Provision expense

168 		
168

- 		
-

168 		
168

-

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 		
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 		
Expected credit loss on receivables 		
Total Other Operating Expenditure

286 		
- 		
(0) 		
286

- 		
1 		
- 		
1

286 		
1 		
(0) 		
287

251
3
254

Total operating expenditure

1,585

297,475

299,060

298,791

External audit fees for the year were £46,000 (2017-18 £46,000) inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.
The auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2018-19 is limited to £2M.
Other non statutory audit expenditure includes accrued costs of £10,000 (2017-18 Nil) in respect of the Mental
Health Investment Standard audit.
Other professional fees include internal audit fees of £38,000 (2017-18 £38,000) provided by an NHS
organisation.
Chair and Non Executive Members costs in 2018-19 include employer’s pension and national insurance costs of
£24,000 (2017-18 £22,000 included within staff costs).
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance		 2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18		 2017-18
		 Number		
£’000		 Number 		
£’000
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 		

9,390 		

93,254 		

8,991 		

85,327

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 		

9,314 		

92,741 		

8,844 		

84,763

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices
paid within target		99.19%		99.45%		98.37%		99.34%
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 		

2,744 		

182,260 		

2,651 		

180,002

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 		

2,723 		

181,952 		

2,588 		

179,815

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices
paid within target 		

99.23% 		

99.83% 		

97.62%		

99.90%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
No payments were made under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998.

7 Income Generation Activities
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not undertake any income generation activities.			

8 Finance costs
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any finance costs in the year.				

9 Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
There were no gains or losses arising on transfer of assets by absorption.					
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10 Operating Leases
10.1 As lessee
10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
		2018-19		2018-19		2018-19		2017-18		
2017-18		
2017-18
		Buildings 		 Other 		 Total 		Buildings 		 Other 		 Total
		£’000 		£’000 		£’000 		£’000 		£’000		£’000
Payments recognised
as an expense
Minimum lease payments

759

5

765

690

6

696

Total

759

5

765

690

6

696

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases,
rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed . Consequently this note does not include future
minimum lease payments for these arrangements.

11 Property, plant and equipment
			 Information		
2018-19			 technology		
			
£’000		
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018			
Additions purchased
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2019 		

326		
326

Total
£’000
326
326

Depreciation 1 April 2018 			
74 		
74
Charged during the year		
67
67
Depreciation at 31 March 2019		
142
142
		
Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 		
184
184

Purchased		
184
184
Total at 31 March 2019 		
184
184

Asset financing:
Owned		
184
184
Total at 31 March 2019 		
184
184
Asset lives			Minimum Life		 Minimum Life
			
(years)		
(years)
Information technology		
3
5
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12 Trade and other receivables
		 Current		
Non-current		
Current		Non-current
		
2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18		 2017-18
		
£’000 		
£’000 		£’000		£’000
NHS receivables: Revenue 		
NHS prepayments 		
NHS accrued income 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables:
Revenue 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 		
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables 		
VAT 		
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

594 		
599 		
40 		

- 		
- 		
- 		

3,792 		
787 		
74 		

-

25 		
323 		
- 		
(2) 		
20 		
1,599

- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
-

1,134 		
316 		
60 		
- 		
- 		
4
6,167

-

Total current and non current

1,599

6,167

12.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
		2018-19 		
2018-19 		
2017-18 		
2017-18
		
		
Non				
Non
		DHSC Group		DHSC Group		 DHSC Group		 DHSC Group
		
Bodies		
Bodies		
Bodies		
Bodies
		
£’000 		
£’000 		£’000		£’000
By up to three months		

27 		

- 		

- 		

44

By three to six months 		

3 		

3 		

- 		

-

By more than six months

9

14

17

-

39

17

17

44

Total

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding
to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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12.2 Accounting Standard IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
In 2018-19 the NHS clinical commissioning group adopted the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
The NHS clinical commissioning group has identified the lifetime expected credit losses on all Non DHSC
receivables as follows:
Trade		
Trade and other		
Trade				
		 and other		 receivables -		 and other		
Other		
		 receivables -		 other DHSC		 receivables -		
financial		
		 NHSE bodies		 group bodies		
external		
assets		
Total
		£000s 		£000s 		£000s 		£000s		£000s
Loss allowance under IFRS 9
as at 1st April 2018		

		

		

		

Financial Assets measured
at amortised cost

-

-

(2)

-

(2)

Total at 1st April 2018

-

-

(2)

-

(2)

Change in loss allowance arising
from application of IFRS 9

-

-

(2)

-

(2)

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding
to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

13 Cash and cash equivalents
						
						

2018-19		
£’000		

2017-18
£’000

Balance at 01 April 2018						
Net change in year					
Balance at 31 March 2019					

143 		
(27)
115

67
76
143

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service					
115
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position		
115
					

143
143

Balance at 31 March 2019					

143

The CCG does not hold Patient’s money.
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14 Trade and other payables
		 Current		
Non-current		
Current		Non-current
		
2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18		 2017-18
		
£’000 		
£’000 		£’000		£’000
NHS payables: Revenue		
2,006		
- 		
2,228		
NHS accruals 		
2,760 		
- 		
1,128 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
3,819		
- 		
2,422 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
- 		
- 		
27 		
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 		
12,980 		
- 		
17,790 		
Social security costs 		
38 		
- 		
37 		
VAT 		
- 		
- 		
37 		
Tax 		
46 		
- 		
37 		
Other payables and accruals 		
614 		
- 		
540 		
Total Trade & Other Payables
22,263
24,246
								
			
		
Total current and non-current
22,263 			
24,246

-

Other payables include £461,000 (2017-18 - £395,000) for outstanding pension contributions including
pensions for General Practitioners

15 Provisions
		 Current		
Non-current		
Current		Non-current
		
2018-19		 2018-19		 2017-18		 2017-18
		
£’000 		
£’000 		£’000		£’000
Redundancy 		
Total
Total current and non-current

168 		
- 		
168
			
168 			

- 		
		
-

-

		Redundancy		
Total		 		
		
£’000 		
£’000 		
		
Balance at 01 April 2018 		

- 		

Arising during the year		
Total

168		
168

168
168

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year		
Balance at 31 March 2019

168		
168

168
168

- 		

		

			

During the year the CCG agreed to restructure its Executive Team so that it has a Joint Executive Team
working across four CCGs, which are NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS Western Cheshire CCG, NHS
South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG. As a consequence detailed plans have been put in place
to recruit a new Joint Executive team from the existing pool of Executives of the four CCGs and certain
posts have also been advertised nationally. As a result it is considered possible that there will be a cost
to this restructuring including potential payment of some exit packages. There is an agreement that any
restructuring costs will be shared across the partner CCGs on the basis of weighted population. ECCCG’s
share of this cost is estimated to be £168,000.
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16 Commitments
				
16.1 Capital
commitments

16.2 Other financial
commitments

The Clinical Commissioning
Group had no capital
commitments at 31 March
2019.

The Clinical Commissioning
Group has not entered into
other non-cancellable contracts.
Under the Accounts Direction
issued by NHS England on 12
February 2014, NHS England
is responsible for accounting
for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims

relating to periods of care
before establishment of the
Clinical Commissioning Group.
However, the legal liability
remains with the CCG. The total
value of legacy NHS Continuing
Healthcare provisions accounted
for by NHS England on behalf
of this CCG at 31 March 2019
is £Nil (2017-18 £Nil) and
contingent liabilities amount to
£Nil (2017-18 £Nil).

17 Financial instruments
				
17.1 Financial risk
management
Financial reporting standard
IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the
role that financial instruments
have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks
a body faces in undertaking its
activities.
Because the NHS clinical
commissioning group is
financed through parliamentary
funding, it is not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial
instruments play a much more
limited role in creating or
changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The
clinical commissioning group
has limited powers to borrow
or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities
are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather
than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical
commissioning group in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management
operations are carried out
by the finance department,
within parameters defined
formally within the NHS
clinical commissioning group
standing financial instructions
and policies agreed by the

108

Governing Body. Treasury
activity is subject to review by
the NHS clinical commissioning
group and internal auditors.

17.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning
group is principally a domestic
organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK
and sterling based. The NHS
clinical commissioning group
has no overseas operations.
The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low
exposure to currency rate
fluctuations.

17.1.2 Interest rate risk
The NHS clinical commissioning
group borrows from
government for capital
expenditure, subject to
affordability as confirmed by
NHS England. The borrowings
are for 1 to 25 years, in line with
the life of the associated assets,
and interest is charged at the
National Loans Fund rate, fixed
for the life of the loan. The NHS
clinical commissioning group
therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.

17.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the
NHS clinical commissioning
group and revenue comes
parliamentary funding, NHS
clinical commissioning group

has low exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposures as at
the end of the financial year are
in receivables from customers,
as disclosed in the trade and
other receivables note.

17.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning
group is required to operate
within revenue and capital
resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS
clinical commissioning group
draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises.
The NHS clinical commissioning
group is not, therefore, exposed
to significant liquidity risks.

17.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of
NHS England are met through
the Estimate process, financial
instruments play a more limited
role in creating and managing
risk than would apply to a
nonpublic sector body. The
majority of financial instruments
relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS
England’s expected purchase
and usage requirements and
NHS England is therefore
exposed to little credit, liquidity
or market risk.

17.2 Financial assets
		 Financial Assets		Equity Instruments		
		
measured at		
designated at		
		 amortised cost		
FVOCI		
Total
		2018-19		2018-19		2018-19
		£’000		£’000		£’000
						
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
586 		
- 		
586
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
47 		
- 		
47
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
25 		
- 		
25
Cash and cash equivalents
115 		
- 		
115
Total at 31 March 2019
774
774
		

17.3 Financial liabilities
		Financial Liabilities		
		
		
measured at		
		
		 amortised cost		
Other		
Total
		2018-19		2018-19		2018-19
		£’000		£’000		£’000
						
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 		
1,206 		
- 		
1,206
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
9,043 		
- 		
9,043
Trade and other payables with external bodies
11,315 		
- 		
11,315
Other financial liabilities 		
614 		
- 		
614
Total at 31 March 2019
22,178
22,178
		

18 Operating segments								
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
All income, expenditure, assets and liability relate to that segment.

19 Joint arrangements – interests in joint arrangements		
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has entered into a Better Care Fund (BCF) joint arrangement with
NHS South Cheshire CCG and Cheshire East Council. The table below shows expenditure for
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG:
Description of principal activities 		 Assets 		 Liabilities 		 Income 		Expenditure 		
		
£’000 		
£’000 		
£’000 		
£’000 		
Community Equipment Store 		
- 		
- 		
- 		 394 		
ECCCG Contribution to BCF 		
- 		
- 		
- 		 3,684 		
Contribution to Carers 		
- 		
- 		
- 		 114 		
BCF Home First Schemes 		
- 		
- 		
- 		 8,539 		
Total at 31 March 2019
- 12,731

Assets 		 Liabilities 		 Income 		Expenditure
£’000 		
£’000 		
£’000 		
£’000
- 		
- 		
-		 337
- 		
- 		
- 		 3,615
- 		
- 		
- 		 112
- 		
- 		
- 		 8,380
- 12,444
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20 Related party transactions							
The CCG makes payments to practices for services provided under clinical schemes agreed by the
Governing Body. The following represents the gross costs of those services paid to practices and other
organisations where a member of the Governing Body or a close family member exerts significant control
over that practice or organisation:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
2018-19		£’000		£’000		£’000		£’000
McIlvride Medical Practice
- Dr Paul Bowen - Partner at McIlvride Medical Practice 		

110

942 		

- 		

45 		

-

Cumberland House Surgery
- Dr Paul Bowen - Spouse is Partner at Cumberland House Surgery

2,336 		

- 		

10 		

-

Bollington Medical Centre
- Laura Beresford - Clinical Quality and Research Manager
at Bollington Medical Centre 		

1,510 		

- 		

74 		

-

High Street Surgery
- Dr Mike Clark - Partner at High Street Surgery 		

1,200 		

- 		

13 		

-

Toft Road Surgery - Dr Jennifer Lawn
- Partner at Toft Road Surgery 		

1,417 		

- 		

72 		

-

Annandale Medical Centre
- Dr Jennifer Lawn - Spouse is Partner at Annandale Medical Centre 1,256 		

- 		

60 		

-

Holmes Chapel Health Centre
- Dr Robert Thorburn - Partner at Holmes Chapel Health Centre

2,530 		

- 		

125 		

-

Chelford Surgery
- Dr Farhat Ahmed - Employee of Chelford Surgery 		

1,317 		

- 		

59 		

-

Wilmslow Health Centre
- Dr Farhat Ahmed - Spouse is a Partner at Wilmslow Health Centre 1,737 		

- 		

83 		

-

Readesmoor Medical Centre
- Dr Victoria Buckley - Partner at Readesmoor Medical Centre

1,980 		

- 		
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-

Broken Cross Surgery
- Dr Daniel Harle - Partner at Broken Cross Surgery 		

767 		

- 		

13 		

-

East Cheshire Hospice
- Jane Stephens - Trustee at East Cheshire Hospice 		

596 		

- 		

- 		

-

Just Drop In
- Jane Stephens - Spouse is a Trustee at Just Drop In 		

82 		

- 		

- 		

-

Vernova Healthcare
- Joint Venture of Member Practices 		

3,268 		

- 		

230 		

-

Handforth Health Centre
- Dr James Milligan - Partner at Handforth Health Centre 		

1,488 		

- 		

68 		

-

Kenmore Medical Practice
- Dr Julia Huddard - Partner at Kenmore Medical Practice 		

1,762 		

- 		
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For the year ended 31 March 2018, related party transactions were as follows::
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
2017-18		£’000		£’000		£’000		£’000
McIlvride Medical Practice
- Dr Paul Bowen (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

819 		

- 		

6 		

-

Bollington Medical Centre
- Laura Beresford - Clinical Quality and Research Manager 1,540 		 - 		135 		 High Street Surgery
- Dr Mike Clark (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

1,194 		

- 		

38 		

-

Toft Road Surgery
- Dr Jennifer Lawn (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

1,354 		

- 		

87 		

-

Holmes Chapel Health Centre
- Dr Robert Thorburn (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

2,496 		

- 		

129 		

-

Cumberland House
- Spouse of Dr Bowen (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

2,478 		

- 		

154 		

-

Annandale Medical Centre
- Spouse of Dr Lawn (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

1,188 		

- 		

83 		

-

Wilmslow Health Centre
- Spouse of Dr Ahmad (Governing Body) is a Partner 		

1,541 		

- 		

71 		

-

Readesmoor Medical Group Practice
- Dr V Buckley (Primary (General Medical) Care Commissioning
Committee) is a Partner 		

2,076 		

- 		

168 		

-

Broken Cross Surgery
- Dr D Harle (Primary (General Medical) Care Commissioning
Committee) is a Partner 		

591 		

- 		

38 		

-

East Cheshire Hospice
- Jane Stephens (Governing Body) is a Trustee 		

591 		

- 		

38 		

-

Just Drop In
- Spouse of Jane Stephens (Governing Body) is a Trustee 		

23 		

- 		

- 		

-

- 		

385 		

-

Vernova Healthcare
- Joint Venture of Member Practices 		

2,720
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The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning
Group had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is
regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;

• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

In addition, the CCG works closely with other NHS Organisations such as NHS Midlands and
Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Support Unit which provides many of our services and Vale Royal CCG
which hosts our medicines management team.

NHS Organisations where the CCG has had significant transactions above £5m or where we worked
closely with those organisations were:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
2018-19		£000		£000		£000		£000
NHS England 		
- 		
East Cheshire NHS Trust 		 101,389 		
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 15,587 		
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust 		
19,958 		
Stockport NHS Fundation Trust 		
13,240 		
North West Ambulance Service 		
6,818 		
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust 		
8,626 		
NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU 		
1,395 		

302,048 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
47 		
- 		

- 		
1,898 		
151 		
96 		
- 		
- 		
80 		
356 		

365
155
3
47
-

For the year ended 31 March 2018, NHS Organisations where the CCG has had significant transactions
above £5m or where we worked closely with those organisations were:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
		£000		£000		£000		£000
NHS England 		
East Cheshire NHS Trust 		
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust 		
Stockport NHS Fundation Trust 		
North West Ambulance Service 		
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust 		
NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU 		
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- 		
98,671 		
15,515 		
19,432 		
13,796 		
6,808 		
8,838 		
972 		

283,626 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
- 		

- 		
1,917 		
91 		
132		
- 		
219 		
- 		
4 		

346
97
23
43
88
7

21 Events after the end of the reporting period			
During 2018-19, ECCCG agreed to restructure its Executive Team so that it has a Joint Executive Team
working across four CCGs, which are NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS Western Cheshire CCG, NHS
South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG. As detailed in note 15, ECCCG’s share of the restructuring
costs is estimated to be £168,000 and a provision has been included within the 2018-19 accounts. During
2019-20, the members of the four CCGs intend to vote on a formal merger into one CCG. At this stage
the CCG does not expect this event to have any further significant financial impact and has therefore not
provided for any additional costs.

22 Losses and special payments							

					
The Clinical Commissioning Group made no ex-gratia payments in the year (2017-18 - £Nil).
There were no other losses or special payments in the year.

23 Financial performance targets							

						
Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2018-19
Target

2018-19
Performance

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Performance

303,102

303,032

284,059

302,559

67

67

58

58

302,048

301,978

283,626

302,126

-

-

-

-

26,434

26,103

26,144

25,561

4,356

4,302

4,395

4,304

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on
revenue and capital in the financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum
revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year
(whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
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This publication is available
on request in large print, braille,
as a talking book and
in languages other than English.

Follow us at:
@NHSECCCG

facebook.com/NHSECCCG

linkedin.com/eastern-cheshire-CCG

EasternCheshireCCG

NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
1st Floor West Wing, New Alderley Building
Macclesfield District General Hospital, Victoria Road,
Macclesfield, Cheshire SK10 3BL
T: 01625 663477
F: 01625 663285
Email: ecccg.generalenquiries@nhs.net

